## **Practical and Rich User Digitization**

Karan Ahuja

CMU-HCII-23-103 August 2023

1148450 2020

Human-Computer Interaction Institute School of Computer Science Carnegie Mellon University Pittsburgh, PA 15213

#### **Thesis Committee:**

Dr. Chris Harrison, Co-Chair, CMU Dr. Mayank Goel, Co-Chair, CMU Dr. Nikolas Martelaro, CMU Dr. Andrew D. Wilson, Microsoft Research

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Copyright © 2023 Karan Ahuja

**Keywords:** Motion capture, Pose, Mobile, Context-awareness, Activity recognition, Sensing, Smartphones, Extended Reality, Privacy, Human Digital Twin, Digital Representation

#### Abstract

A long-standing vision in computer science has been to evolve computing devices into proactive assistants that enhance our productivity, health and wellness, and many other facets of our lives. User digitization is crucial in achieving this vision as it allows computers to intimately understand their users, capturing activity, pose, routine, and behavior. Today's consumer devices - like smartphones and smartwatches – provide a glimpse of this potential, offering coarse digital representations of users with metrics such as step count, heart rate, and a handful of human activities like running and biking. Even these very low-dimensional representations are already bringing value to millions of people's lives, but there is significant potential for improvement. On the other end, professional, high-fidelity comprehensive user digitization systems exist. For example, motion capture suits and multi-camera rigs that digitize our full body and appearance, and scanning machines such as MRI capture our detailed anatomy. However, these carry significant user practicality burdens, such as financial, privacy, ergonomic, aesthetic, and instrumentation considerations, that preclude consumer use. In general, the higher the fidelity of capture, the lower the user's practicality. Most conventional approaches strike a balance between user practicality and digitization fidelity.

My research aims to break this trend, developing sensing systems that increase user digitization fidelity to create new and powerful computing experiences while retaining or even improving user practicality and accessibility, allowing such technologies to have a societal impact. Armed with such knowledge, our future devices could offer longitudinal health tracking, more productive work environments, fullbody avatars in extended reality, and embodied telepresence experiences, to name just a few domains.

#### Acknowledgments

At the culmination of this challenging and rewarding journey, I am profoundly grateful to the individuals who have been my pillars of strength. To my parents, Reshma and Deepak Ahuja, your unwavering support fueled my determination. My achievements are a reflection of the values you instilled in me. To my grandparents, your wisdom and stories have been a guiding light, shaping my path with resilience and curiosity.

My heartfelt appreciation extends to my friends and collaborators, your collective enthusiasm has enriched my academic journey. To my advisors and thesis committee members, thanks for your constant support, encouragement, mentorship and insights that have elevated my work.

# Contents

I	Introduction	1
1	User Digitization1.1Defining User Digitization1.2Spectrum of User Digitization1.3Glossary1.4Organization of Thesis	<b>3</b> 3 6 7
2		<b>9</b> 9 11
II	Improving Digitization Richness while maintaining Practicality	13
3		<b>15</b> 15 20
4	4.2 Preliminary Work	<b>23</b> 23 24 25
5	<ul> <li>Head and Eye-Gaze Estimation via Mobile Devices</li></ul>	<ul> <li>33</li> <li>33</li> <li>35</li> <li>42</li> <li>50</li> <li>62</li> </ul>

## III Improving User Practicality while maintaining Digitization Rich-73

ne	SS	/3
6	Overview	75

	6.1	Privacy and Invasiveness	75
	6.2	Passive and Longitudinal Sensing	76
7	Priva	acy-Aware User Digitization	77
	7.1	Introduction	77
	7.2	Related Work	79
	7.3	Possible Training Data Sources	80
	7.4	Implementation	81
	7.5	Training Data	84
	7.6	User Study	84
	7.7	Limitations	87
	7.8	Discussion on Privacy and Invasiveness	88
	7.9	Conclusion	
8	Pass	ive and Longitudinal User Digitization On-the-Go	91
	8.1	Introduction	91
	8.2	Possible Device Combinations	
	8.3	Implementation	95
	8.4	Evaluation	
	8.5	Results	
	8.6	Active Device Tracking	
	8.7	Real-Time Implementation	
	8.8	Open Source	
	8.9	Limitations	
	8.10	Conclusion	107
9	Sum	mary	109
	9.1	Key Takeaways	110
	9.2	Vision for the Future	
Bi	bliogr	aphy	113

# **List of Figures**

1.1	Digitization richness	4
1.2	Digitization richness vs. user practicality	6
3.1	Direction-of-Voice Estimation for addressability	17
3.2	EduSense Featurization Pipeline	18
3.3	EduSense Gaze and Classroom Topology	20
4.1	Ubicoustics for plug-and-play acoustic activity recognition	23
4.2	GymCam system overview	26
4.3	GymCam system architecture	27
4.4	GymCam Exercise Recognition Accuracy	31
5.1	My application for gaze data collection. (a) The target (red dot) moves around the screen. (b) The screen is divided by 35 fixed locations (illustrated here, but hidden from users) and the target moves from one to another. (c) Participants are	
5.2	able to stop by tapping the screen and "undo" a trial by pressing the button Overview of my multimodal deep learning architecture. Input is the RGB and depth image of the user's face, with the 2D gaze location on the screen as out- put. The spatial attention maps of the corresponding RGB and depth maps are	37
5.3	visualized in red heatmaps (darker color intensity denotes higher attention value). Overall accuracy of my approach across different data input modalities (RGB and depth) and use contexts (sitting, standing, walking and lying). The error bars are standard error.	38 39
5.4	Example images where my RGBD Gaze model had high error. Euclidean error	
	is noted below each image.	40
5.5	TouchPose sample predictions	43
5.6	TouchPose multi-task CNN Architecture	45
5.7	TouchPose demonstrative applications	48
5.8	Pose-on-the-Go tracking a user's arm pose and eye gaze	51
5.9	Pose-on-the-Go tracking a user's leg pose and locomotion	55
5.10	Pose-on-the-Go Example Application: Gaming	59
	Pose-on-the-Go Example Application: Social Avatars and Health	61
	BodySLAM running on smartphones	62
	BodySLAM system overview	63
5.14	BodySLAM Simulation Study Accuracy	70

7.1 7.2 7.3	Vid2Doppler Pipeline Overview	81 83 85
8.1	Using whatever mobile devices a user has with them, IMUPoser estimates full- body pose. In the best case, a user can have a smartphone, smartwatch and earbuds (pose from 3 devices). Of course, the number of devices will vary over time, e.g., earbud use is intermittent and not everyone wears a smartwatch. This means IMUPoser must track what devices are present, where they are located, and use whatever IMU data is available. Abbreviation key: L-Left, R-Right,	
8.2	H-Hand, and P-Pocket	92
	R-Right, H-Hand, and P-Pocket.	92
8.3	The 24 possible device-location combinations I support and investigate	94
8.4	Overview of IMUPoser's real-time system architecture	95
8.5	IMUPoser data collection setup. Participants wore 2 smartwatches, kept 2 smart- phones in their front pockets, and wore wireless earbuds. 41 retroreflective mo- tion capture markers were also placed around the body to track ground truth body	
	pose	97
8.6	Accuracy across different device combinations. Error is Mean Per Joint Vertex Error (MPJVE) in cm. Note how error decreases as the number of devices increases.	
8.7	Sample SMPL mesh predictions for different device placements and combina- tions. The red color indicates the per vertex error in meters (ranging from 0 to 1	70
	m)	100
8.8	Summarized accuracy results across different body regions evaluated on the DIP-	
	IMU and IMUPoser datasets.	102
8.9	Device combinations tested as part of our active device tracking study. Blue	
	denotes presence in the set.	105
8.10	Active device tracking across different device combinations. Active devices are	
	highlighted with a white circle for illustration and the foreground laptop shows	105
	the live tracking result.	103
9.1	Design Space	110
9.2	Future Vision	111

# **List of Tables**

5.1	Comparison of my system with prior gaze tracking work. Grey-colored rows denote systems benchmarked using my dataset. Unconstrained studies are those where the distance and/or angle between the capturing device and user was not
	static.
5.2	TouchPose accuracy across evaluation metrics
7.1	External sensing solutions for Human Activity Recognition
7.2	Dataset across sensing modalities
8.1	Comparison of worn-IMU, full-body pose estimation systems. MPJVE is calculated on the DIP-IMU dataset [103]
8.2	Comparison of IMUPoser to key prior work, all evaluated on the DIP-IMU
	Dataset [103]

# Part I

# Introduction

# Chapter 1

## **User Digitization**

### **1.1 Defining User Digitization**

The desire to digitize the human body to glean insights about the various aspects of the user dates back to 1780 when Abraham-Louis Perrelet created the first mechanical pedometer to measure the steps and distance while walking. Since then, digitization technologies have matured to capture a user's every motion and facial expression to create their digital replicas for movies, drive avatars in games or create doppelgangers for holograms. In the modern era of computing, with the growing proliferation of smart devices, each and everyone of us is surrounded by technologies that digitize our bodies.

"User digitization" refers to the process of creating a digital representation of an individual. It can encompass various aspects of their identity, attributes, behaviors, and interactions. This can include personal information, preferences, activities, and even physiological or biometric data. User digitization often involves the sensing, collection, analysis, and storage of data to create a comprehensive digital model of a person, which can be used for various purposes such as personalization, health monitoring, improved productivity, virtual avatars, and embodied telepresence experiences, to name just a few domains.

### **1.2 Spectrum of User Digitization**

User Digitization technologies can span across a wide spectrum of granularity. It can be something as simple as a touchscreen that can capture the position of our fingertips. Or a wearable like a smartwatch that can estimate metrics such as heart rate, step count, and a handful of activities such as running or biking. Even these low-dimensional representations are already immensely popular. Millions of people around the world use such devices for tracking their productivity, health, and fitness. On the other end of the spectrum, we have specialized Motion Capture systems that capture a high-fidelity digital representation of the user comprising of their full-body pose and mesh. These have made them very popular to drive life-like avatars in movies and



Figure 1.1: Spectrum of user digitization richness going from lower-order user digitization (on the left) to higher order digitization (on the right).

games, and many human-computer interaction tasks. Further, motion capture technology is at the cutting-edge of clinical movement research, from helping stroke and cerebral palsy patients with rehabilitation, to understanding how to better treat those with Parkinson's and Arthritis. Looking at these technologies, it is evident that user digitization is a continuum. Let's look at this schematically by focusing on two very important dimensions of user digitization.

#### **1.2.1** Digitization Richness

The first dimension is Digitization Richness or Fidelity, which encapsulates the degree of capturing an exact and faithful representation of our physical selves. Figure 1.1 conveys the richness of different technologies on the user digitization spectrum. We have low-order digitization such as step counts on one end to higher-order digitization such as full-body pose and mesh on the other end.

#### **1.2.2** User Practicality

The second dimension is User Practicality. Importantly, practicality is not one thing, it is multifaceted. A practical system would have the following characteristics:

· Low invasiveness: A minimally invasive system would require practically zero bootstrap-

ping from the user. It would have no calibration or initialization steps, and would have a form factor that is not discomforting to the user.

- **Privacy-aware**: The digitization paradigm should be designed with privacy as one of its core tenets. An ideal system would be one that captures no user privacy compromising data, processes data on edge devices and denatures any collected features.
- **Minimal instrumentation**: We want systems to have as few points of instrumentation as possible (ideally no instrumentation at all).
- Works on-the-go: Typically, a lot of the sensing systems work in highly constrained, lab conditions. Ideally, we want these to work when people are mobile and outside of controlled settings.
- Low hardware cost: We ideally want approaches that have a low hardware cost something that can be a consumer product in the near future.

#### **1.2.3** Relationship between Digitization Richness and User Practicality

Both richness and practicality are key dimensions of user digitization. Usually, as the richness of the sensing system increases, so does the number of dimensions it can capture and the more aspects of our life it can support. Ideally, we want these rich user digitization systems without commensurate practicality trade-offs. Unfortunately, in general, human sensing practicality decreases in lockstep (Figure 1.2, diagonal line), to the point where they have limited consumer adoption. For example, the gold standard of full-body user digitization such as Vicon and Opti-Track are generally associated with blockbuster films and games, using expensive multi-camera rigs and special suits with markers. On the other end of the spectrum, we have technologies such as the pedometer which can only track steps but are non-invasive and can be easily implemented on ubiquitous devices such as smartphones and smartwatches.

We can plot these two dimensions – digitization richness vs. user practicality – as a high-level design space (Figure 1.2). At a high level, we see an inversely proportional trend that the higher you go in richness, the less practical it is for users. The dashed line denotes this conventional axis occupied by conventional approaches (Figure 1.2 red dots), balancing user practicality and digitization richness. But what we ideally want are systems that are practical and rich. Such techniques would lie above the conventional approaches diagonal line and occupy the upper left quadrant of our design space (Figure 1, green region). In this thesis, I will describe my efforts of such sensing systems that start to pull away from the line and towards this idealized domain.

This would enable consumer devices to calculate a continuous comprehensive representation of the user. Such a digital representation can go beyond a simple step count and capture a user's gait cycle, dexterity, balance, posture, and active range of motions of joints, providing contextualized behavior and pose insights in every day practical scenarios that even a once a day visit to a Motion Capture studio would fail to provide. Using this holistic continuous information, a user can get fine-grained wellness data and even enable doctors to remotely monitor their



Figure 1.2: A design space plotting digitization richness vs. user practicality. Most approaches lie along the diagonal, where practicality decreases as richness increases. Ideally, we want systems that offer higher richness without commensurate practicality trade-offs.

patients, for example, tracking a user's recovery after surgery, and even chances of injury and relapse. It will also be able to inform the design of future consumer devices that enable fullbody avatars for telepresence, interactions in extended reality and to create more productive and collaborative work environments.

## 1.3 Glossary

In order to enhance the clarity and comprehension of this document, a glossary of key terms and their definitions has been included. This glossary serves as a reference guide to assist readers in understanding the terminology and concepts discussed within the text.

- User Digitization: The process of creating a digital representation of an individual, encompassing various aspects of activity, intent, behavior, and interactions.
- **Motion Capture:** Technology to record and translate human movements into digital data for applications like films, games, and simulations.
- Virtual Reality (VR): Immersive technology creating computer-generated virtual environments for users to interact with.
- Augmented Reality (AR): Technology overlaying digital information onto the real world data modalities.
- Extended Reality (XR): Encompasses VR and AR, blending physical and virtual envi-

ronments.

- **Inertial Measurement Unit (IMU):** A device that combines multiple sensors to measure orientation, angular velocity, and acceleration.
- Avatar: Digital representation of a user or character in virtual or digital environments.
- **Human Digital Twin:** A virtual replica of a person, capturing physiological and behavioral aspects for analysis.
- Activity Recognition: Identifying and categorizing activities performed by users.
- Pose: Position and orientation of a body or body parts.
- **Design Space:** A conceptual framework that visualizes relationships and trade-offs between dimensions, such as digitization richness and user practicality, to guide system design and innovation.
- **Telepresence:** The technology enabling a user to feel present or interact in a remote location as if they were physically there, often involving avatars or digital representations.
- **Digitization Richness:** A dimension that measures the degree of capturing a faithful representation of physical attributes and behaviors in user digitization technologies.
- User Practicality: The multidimensional characteristic of a user digitization system, encompassing but not limited to factors such as non-invasiveness, privacy awareness, minimal instrumentation, mobility, and low hardware cost.

### **1.4 Organization of Thesis**

In this thesis, I will focus on my research towards making rich and practical user digitization solutions. Chapter 2 provides an overview of the literature and prior work domains that intersect with my thesis work.

In Part II, I describe my works that improve the digitization richness of user digitization systems while maintaining user practicality. I start by exploring techniques that advance activity recognition to create a vocabulary to digitize and express a users behavior routine. I then delve into pose sensing, focusing on head pose, eye-gaze, hands and finally full-body pose capture systems that are mobile and provide a holistic representation of the user on-the-go. A common thread across all these works is that they make use of existing ubiquitous devices (such as smartphones) and require no additional hardware while enriching user digitization capabilities.

Part III even further advances the field, with the focus on user digitization systems that further improve upon the user practicality while retaining or even advancing digitization richness, for instance by making them less invasive or more privacy aware. Finally, I summarize my key insights, takeaways and contributions.

# Chapter 2

# Background

My work on user digitization intersects with many diverse areas of human-computer interaction research, including activity detection, touch sensing, context-aware computing, pose estimation, computer vision, wearables and ubiquitous computing. Here I focus on the most highly related work that was influential.

### 2.1 Human Activity Recognition

There has been extensive research done in detecting human activities from sensors such as microphones [112, 141, 142], IMUs [33, 134, 138, 139, 243], cameras [248], powerline sensors [94], pressure-sensors [86] and other multimodal sensing approaches [140, 195]. Refer to [60, 93, 228] for a detailed survey. In this section, I focus on video, audio, motion and multimodal methods, that most closely resemble my efforts.

#### 2.1.1 Camera-Based Human Activity Recognition

Computing devices equipped with cameras are becoming increasingly prevalent in our daily lives. The high fidelity afforded by them make them a powerful sensor for activity recognition. Researchers have explored different motion and temporal feature representations of videos learned by 3D Convolutional Neural Networks (CNNs) [55, 105, 255]. In addition to CNNs, long short-term memory (LSTM) models are popular, taking advantage of dependencies across video frames [76, 149, 210, 274].

Instead of using raw visual information, researchers have also explored the idea of relying on high-level semantic representations for human activity. For example, using body pose [35, 77, 115, 250, 263, 292], motion of semantic keypoints [70], and joint representations [78, 101, 157, 209, 221].

#### 2.1.2 Audio-Based Human Activity Recognition

Researchers have leveraged the ubiquity of microphones to build numerous audio based human activity recognition systems. In the past, these systems were designed to recognize a limited set of activities. For instance, in SoundSense [160], Lu et al. made use of a smartphone microphone and a scalable classification architecture to classify between speech, music and ambient sound. Thomaz et al. [237] showed that eating activities could be effectively detected using wrist worn acoustic sensing. Along similar lines, BodyScope [270] trained a support vector machine with data collected from a wearable acoustic sensor which recorded throat sounds, in order to distinguish between user activities such as eating, drinking, speaking, laughing and coughing.

Recently, with the advent of more advanced machine learning techniques, there has been widespread success in building more general purpose human activity recognition systems. Stork et al. [227] used non-markovian ensemble voting on Mel-frequency cepstral coefficients to classify activities performed in the bathroom and kitchen contexts, such as using a blender, microwave, hairdryer or a toothbrush. DeepEar [136] proposed a deep learning based approach to acoustic sensing, supporting tasks such as ambient scene analysis, stress detection, emotion recognition and speaker identification. Laput et al. [141] further built a plug and play acoustic activity recognition system to detect thirty different daily activities, employing a convolutional neural network trained with augmented data from sound effect libraries. Liang et al. [152] and Wu et al. [261] further build upon these techniques to improve robustness.

#### 2.1.3 IMU-Based Human Activity Recognition

A large number of activity recognition systems rely on inertial sensors such as accelerometers, gyroscopes and magnetometers present in smartphones, smartwatches and other wearables to detect human activity. Similar to acoustic activity recognition, in the past, motion based activity recognition systems were generally constrained to detect coarse human activities, such as walking, running and biking [134, 243]. Refer to [93, 224] for a detailed survey. With the recent widespread adoption of wearables, especially wrist-worn smartwatches, researchers have developed more general purpose activity [135, 170] and gesture recognition [139] systems.

These include multi-device systems such as that of Shoaib et al. [213] that use the accelerometer from a smartphone in conjunction with one from a smartwatch to detect 13 activities such as smoking and drinking coffee. Single wearable approaches have also seen renewed interest with the advent of deep learning. For instance, by using a wrist-worn smartwatch accelerometer sampled at 4 kHz, Laput et al. [138] detected fine grained hand activities.

#### 2.1.4 Multimodal Human Activity Recognition

Multimodal deep learning systems have seen widespread adoption in other communities for tasks such as image captioning [18, 76, 120, 162], pose estimation [9, 200] and autonomous driving

[45, 51]. While this field is much more nascent for human activity recognition, a number of systems have adopted similar techniques.

Synthetic Sensors [140] used a sensor board containing 9 different sensors (such as an accelerometer, magnetometer, microphone, etc.) to create sensory abstractions that could be combined together to create context-sensitive applications. In [195], Radu et al. presented a case study of different challenges and approaches to multimodal deep learning for human activity recognition. GestEar [39] proposes the use of sound and motion from a smartwatch for gesture classification (e.g. snapping, knocking, clapping).

### 2.2 Body Pose Capture

Full-body motion capture has a long history, dating back to at least 1878 with Muybridge's "The Horse in Motion" [79]. This film is widely regarded as the start of chronophotography, a photographic technique for the scientific study of movement and especially locomotion. Later pioneers, such as Max Fleischer, used rotoscoping as a way to capture and then transform complex movements, such as locomotion, for use in early 20th century animated films. Today, digital technologies have enabled a wide variety of highly-automated and precise techniques for human motion capture. I now review this literature, paying particular attention to systems that capture continuous full-body pose, as opposed to techniques for tracking just fingers or hands in free space.

#### 2.2.1 External Body Pose Capture

There have been significant strides in capturing the user's pose with external sensors. Commercial systems such as Vicon [244] and OptiTrack [179] make use of retroreflective markers tracked by high-speed external infrared cameras. These systems are considered the golden standard and have been extensively used for character animation, games and movies as they provide low-latency and accurate motion capture (MoCap).

In recent years, with the advent of deep learning, computer vision based pose estimation systems have become increasingly popular. These include systems that make use of RGB cameras [16, 53, 188], depth sensors such as Kinect, OpenNI [187] and Intel RealSense [109], and systems that combine the RGB and depth [167, 291]. Researchers have also considered non-optical tracking systems, utilizing modalities such as RF [283], capacitive sensing [214, 280], magnetic fields [182, 193], mechanical linkages [230] and sound-based sensing approaches [7] among others. These systems have limited range and precision when compared to their visual modality counterparts.

In VR settings, the use of outside-in tracking (i.e., an external sensor looking at the user) has been explored in many systems such as the HTC Vive [246], Oculus Rift S [198] and PlayStation VR [222]. These systems typically track the headset and two-handheld controllers, and can

roughly estimate the remainder of the joints with inverse kinematics [189, 204]. More faithful full-body tracking can be achieved by placing extra sensors on the limbs, such as HTC VIVE trackers, or bolstering capture with external cameras such as the Kinect.

#### 2.2.2 Worn Body Pose Capture

Worn body capture systems generally offer greater ease-of-use and mobility to users, allowing for body digitization on-the-go and with less setup. While there are innumerable specialized systems that focus on digitizing the hands [91, 125, 279] and face [5, 111, 236], more related to my work are worn, self-contained approaches that attempt whole-body pose estimation. A wide variety of sensing techniques have been explored for whole-body, ranging from exoskeletons [166], magnetic trackers [62] to ultrasonic beacons [247]. Distributed sensor based approaches are also prevalent that instrument multiple points of the body with the same sensor. IMU's [13, 103, 264], cameras [212] and RFID's [118] have been explored for these purposes.

Researchers have also explored instrumenting various body parts with cameras, for instance, Back-Hand-Pose [260] makes use of a wrist-worn fisheye camera for hand pose estimation. [32] instruments the shoe with a depth sensor for hand gesture recognition. Similar camera arrangements have also been explored in a pendant [226] and ring [58, 178, 269] form factor for hand and finger tracking.

In terms of body tracking, there are handful of self-contained, worn systems able to capture full body pose. The first is EgoCap [197], which used a pair of downward-facing fisheye cameras cantilevered from the head, proving a sufficient view for a computer vision pose model to extract a body skeleton. Mo2Cap2 [268] is virtually identical, except it uses just a single fisheye camera. Instead of requiring extra cameras, MeCap [6] shows that the rear camera of a smartphone placed into a low-cost VR headset can capture full body pose with a clip-on mirror accessory. Finally, and perhaps most practical, are [12, 239], which demonstrate that the wide-angle RGB cameras contained in VR devices could be used to capture a wearer's body skeleton. Equally practical is [68], which uses a smartphone's user-facing camera and IMU for 3-DOF localization of the device with respect to the user's body for around body interaction. Later, [124] extended this idea and added a depth camera to improve tracking accuracy and capture the user's shoulders. Finally, [31] uses two smartphones in a 3D printed case to provide tracking of a user's hand holding the device, along with the user's head position, relative to a distant display using inside-out tracking.

# Part II

# Improving Digitization Richness while maintaining Practicality

# Chapter 3

# Overview

### **3.1** Utility of Higher-order User Digitization

The advancement of digital representations that can faithfully mirror the intricate nuances of human behavior, from minute gestures to complex movements, has led to a plethora of innovative technologies. The traditional way to improve digitization richness has been to add more points of instrumentation either on the user or in the environment. Along these lines, the gold standard of user digitization still remains motion capture techniques such as Vicon and OptiTrak that make use of multiple cameras, markers, and specialized suits. While they have been instrumental in capturing high-fidelity data, they are however cumbersome, restrictive, and resource-intensive.

Thus, the pursuit of improving digitization richness has always been met with a critical challenge: the delicate balance between improving fidelity and ensuring user practicality. My research shows that full-body pose is not exclusive to the realm of specialized and external devices, but can now be enabled on mobile consumer devices. This affords my approach with superior practicality and wide applicability to work in unconstrained settings in the wild, over methods that require special hardware or external instrumentation. To achieve this I add layers of intelligence to increase the fidelity of existing practical and ubiquitous sensing platforms.

I further note that higher-order digitization have a trickle down effect to other lower-order digitization representations. For example, if I know the pose of a person, I can use that information to improve the precision of fall detection systems. Similarly, I can also inform new insights, rather than just predicting whether the user has fallen, I can detect what led to the fall, estimate the severity of it and also track how the user will recover from such an injury. Let's take a look at the following three scenarios wherein modeling a higher-order digitization unlocks new new applications and uplifts other lower-order representations.

#### 3.1.1 Objective Measurement of Hyperactivity in Children

Globally, Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) affects approximately 5% children and adolescents [80, 220]. ADHD is a neurodevelopmental syndrome that often leads to in-

creased inattentiveness, impulsivity, and hyperactivity. Children with ADHD start showing these signs as early as four years of age. In school-age children, 55% of all ADHD cases show hyperactivity symptoms [256]. The current standard of measurement of hyperactivity in children depends on subjective reports via questionnaires from parents or teachers. These questionnaires are convenient as they save time, money, and effort. However, research has also shown very low inter-rater reliability for these surveys between parents and teachers ( $\kappa = 0.11$ ) [258]. The inherent subjectivity of these tests and physicians' lack of contextual awareness often lead to misdiagnosis. This is problematic as overdiagnosis leads to unnecessary treatment, and underdiagnosis can lead to delayed treatment. Thus, there is a need to add some objectivity to the diagnosis and measurement of hyperactivity.

Researchers have used commodity sensors to measure the amount of body motion and correlate it with hyperactivity. For example, Lin et al. [154] tracked children's arm movement using smartwatches, comparing children with and without hyperactivity. They found a significant difference in the measured acceleration signals between the two conditions. Several other works have developed similar machine-learning (ML) models to detect hyperactivity in children from passively sensed acceleration data. However, these works assumed the measurements happened while children were in specific activities, such as a 1-hour session at a clinic [186] or taking a test [90]. Finding such settings for children is often not practical, especially given that the condition is chronic and requires frequent measurement and management. Moreover, a clinical examination does not cover a full spectrum of a child's behavior and condition during a typical day or how their behavior changes on different days (e.g., weekends *vs.* school days).

While all prior approaches only looked at acceleration data of the wearers arm (a very low-level digitization of user), adding activity context enabled me to identify hyperactivity symptoms in children without putting any behavioral constraints on children. For this, I ran a preliminary study [27], wherein we gave smartwatches to 61 children out of which 25 had a hyperactivity diagnosis. Analyzing this pilot data across participants, showcased that hyperactivity is dependent on the activity context. In particular, the different in hyperactivity between ADHD and control group manifests itself only in certain activity classes throughout the day. Our ML pipeline to estimate the risk of hyperactivity achieves a detection accuracy of 85.2% (F1-score = 81.6%) when using sensor data from activity moments labeled as "quiet" or "sitting". Without such contextualization, the model accuracy drops to 67.2% (F1-score = 63.0%). Further clinicians stressed the need to contextualize hyperactivity. Here, the use of a higher-order digitization (activity context) augmented the capabilities of a lower-order digitization (average motion), wherein both were sensed from the same acceleration sensor. Further, as the activity context limits the search space, we need to collect less data for training, which is great as collecting medical data is very challenging.



Figure 3.1: Future smart homes and offices are envisioned to contain many "smart" devices able to respond to voice commands. However, without device-specific wakewords, multiple devices may try to respond to generic queries (left). Ideally, users would be able to face and speak to a device, more akin to human-human interaction (center and right). Thus, there is a need for Speaker Head-Pose estimation approaches, especially those than can run locally on self-contained devices, without having to install extra sensors in the environment or rely on multi-device interoperability, which does not appear to be forthcoming in the near future.

#### **3.1.2** Speaker Head-Pose Estimation for Augmenting Speech Interaction

Where a person is looking is an important social cue in human-human interaction, allowing someone to address a particular person in conversation or denote an area of interest. For several decades, human-computer interaction researchers have looked at using gaze data to ease and enhance interactions with computing systems, ranging from social robots to smart environments. However, to capture gaze direction, special sensors must either be worn on the head (unlikely for consumer adoption) or external cameras are used (which can be privacy invasive).

In this research, I explored a practical approach - utilizing speech as a directional communication channel. In addition to receiving and processing spoken content, I propose that devices also infer the Direction of Voice (DoV) with is akin to modeling the user's head pose with respect to the target device of interaction. Note this is different from Direction of Arrival (DoA) algorithms, which calculate from where a voice originated. In contrast, DoV calculates the direction along which a voice was projected.

This helps devices with microphones not only infer the activity of the user but also infer their head orientation to the device. Such estimation innately enables voice commands with address-ability (Figure 3.1), in a similar way to gaze, but without the need for cameras. This allows users to easily and naturally interact with diverse ecosystems of voice-enabled devices, whereas today's voice interactions suffer from multi-device confusion. With DoV estimation providing a disambiguation mechanism, a user can speak to a particular device and have it respond; e.g., a user could ask their smartphone for the time, laptop to play music , smartspeaker for the weather, and TV to play a show. Another benefit of DoV estimation is the potential to dispense with wakewords (e.g., "Hey Siri", "OK Google") if devices are confident that they are the intended target for a command. This would also enable general commands – e.g., "up" – to be innately device-context specific (e.g., window blinds, thermostat, television).



Figure 3.2: Video and audio from classroom cameras first flows into a scene parsing layer which captures the user's pose, before being featurized by a series of specialized modules.

DoV's approach relies on fundamental acoustic properties of both human speech and multipath effects in human environments. The machine learning model leverages features derived from these phenomena to predict both angular direction of voice, and more coarsely, if a user is facing or not facing a device. The software is lightweight, able to run on a wide variety of consumer devices without having to send audio to the cloud for processing (thus helping to preserve privacy). Thus, modeling the speaker's head-pose unlocks new capabilities in current smart speakers and smart devices equiped with microphone arrays.

#### 3.1.3 Pose-driven Activity Recognition for Practical Classroom Sensing

Here I showcase how modeling the pose of a user unlocks new insights for lower-order representations such as discrete activity modeling. I explore this through the lens of classroom sensing by modeling the pose of instructors and students in the classroom.

Providing university teachers with high-quality opportunities for professional development cannot happen without data about the classroom environment. Currently, the most effective mechanism is for an expert to observe one or more lectures and provide personalized formative feedback to the instructor. Of course, this is expensive and unscalable, and perhaps most critically, precludes a continuous learning feedback loop for the instructor. Here, I present EduSense, a comprehensive sensing system that produces a plethora of theoretically-motivated visual and audio features derived from a user's pose. They are correlated with effective instruction, which could feed professional development tools in much the same way as a Fitbit sensor reports step count to an end user app.

#### **Augmenting Activity Recognition**

Pose can be used to derive insights for lower-order representations such as activities and posture. Here, I showcase how the user's pose can be used for such tasks.

- Sit vs. Stand Detection: This featurization module uses body pose keypoints to predict if a person is sitting or standing. It requires seven keypoints to make an accurate prediction: neck (1), hips (2), knees (2), and feet (2). The relative geometry of these points is encoded by computing direction unit vectors between all pairs of these keypoints. To this feature vector, I also add the ratio of distances between the chest and foot, and chest and knee for both legs. This combined feature vector is passed to an MLP classifier.
- Hand Raise Detection: In addition to occlusion, hand raise detection is even more challenging due to the variation in the way students participate. This module ingests eight body keypoints per body: neck (1), chest (1), shoulder (2), elbow (2), and wrist (2). I compute direction unit vectors between all pairs of these points. I also compute the distance between all pairs of points, normalized by the distance between the nose and neck points. Note these features are essentially scale invariant to both body distance from camera and physical body size. These values are used as input to an MLP classifier, which predicts either hand raised or not.
- Upper Body Posture: Body posture can be indicative of student affective and attentional state. To explore the feasibility of sensing similar attributes, but in a non-invasive computer-vision driven manner, I trained an upper body posture classifier. For this module, I utilize the same eight upper body keypoints we found to be successful in the hand raise detection module. As before, I compute direction unit vectors between all pairs of points, and distance between all pairs of points, normalized by the distance between the nose and neck points. These values are used as input to a multiclass MLP model (sklearn, default hyper parameters), which was trained during development to predict three proof-of-concept classes: arms at rest, arms closed (e.g., crossed), and hands on face.
- Smile Detection: As a proof-of-concept of class-scale facial affect analysis, I built a module that detects smiles. For this, I use ten mouth landmarks on the outer lip and ten landmarks on the inner lip. I compute direction unit vectors from the left lip corner to all other points and use a SVM (sklearn, poly kernel with degree 3, default parameters) for binary classification.
- Mouth State Detection: Audio based speaker identification is challenging especially when multiple speakers are present. As a potential, future way to identify speakers, I developed a module that estimates if a mouth is open, the confidence of which could be tracked over many frames (per person) to produce a talking confidence. I use a binary SVM (sklearn, linear kernel, default parameters) and two highly descriptive features: the height of the mouth to the left and right of center, divided by the width of the mouth.

#### New applications based on Pose

Apart from augmenting lower-order digitization, the pose itself can enable of a multitude of new features. Here are some listed below.



Figure 3.3: EduSense Gaze and Classroom Topology. Left: Percentage of student gaze across various classroom foci (whiteboards, projector screens, lectern) at the end of a class session. Center: Heatmaps of students gaze across the same foci. Right: Heatmap of the instructor gaze aggregated across a class session.

- Head and Gaze Estimation: Head orientation can be used as a coarse proxy for gaze attention; e.g., toward the instructor and other classroom foci. Using a custom CNN [10] that inputs the face and its landmarks, EduSense produces the 3D orientation of the head for each body. Once found, head orientations for individuals can be aggregated into a classroom histogram of foci, or even a combined mean gaze vector.
- **Body Position and Classroom Topology:** The gaze estimation module not only predicts the 3D orientation for each head, but also an estimated 3D position in real world coordinates (Figure 3.3). This can be used to reveal the classroom topologies (i.e., student layout), and in the future, help illuminate spatial patterns in the class (e.g., fewer hand raises in the back of class or where the instructor spends the most time).
- Synthetic Accelerometer: Worn accelerometers have been used previously to infer student engagement and affect. To achieve a similar result, but without the need for worn sensors, I simply track the motion of bodies across frames. Similar to the previous module, I use the 3D head position produced during scene parsing, and calculate a delta X/Y/Z normalized by the elapsed time since the previous frame. This affords a 3D motion and acceleration vector in real world units (e.g., m/s).

### 3.2 Organization

In this part, I showcase my research projects that pave the path towards improving user digitization richness while maintaining user practicality. I work my way up the user digitization richness spectrum (Figure 1.1) focusing on techniques that digitize a particular aspect of a user.

My interest in user digitization was informed and shaped by my initial explorations into activity recognition. Thus, I start with activity sensing 4 as a way to digitize and express a users behavior routine. I start off by exploring the topic of acoustic activity recognition. I then expand my focus towards camera-based sensing systems that can detect activities across multiple people simultaneously and also profile them over time.

I then delve into pose sensing 5, as it offers a continuous and more comprehensive representation of the user over discrete and pre-defined activities. I start with approaches that model individual body parts such as head-pose, eye-gaze, hands and upper body, building up to approaches that capture a holistic full-body representation of the user. A common theme that unites all these pose-sensing approaches is that they make use of commodity and ubiquitous consumer devices such as smartphones so that the advances in user digitization can be practical and accessible to all.

# **Chapter 4**

# Advancing Activity Recognition in Unconstrained Settings

## 4.1 Introduction

Activity recognition is an important cornerstone of user digitization. It not only helps glean insights about what the user is doing, but also contextualizes it with respect to the environment. It can enable a plethora of applications ranging from health sensing, informatics, smart assistants and assisted living to name a few.

Thus, a user's activities are the basic building blocks for digitizing and expressing their behavior routine. We are already seeing a glimpse of this in consumer devices. Take the Apple Watch for example - it is one of the best commercial devices available, already selling by the millions for its fitness and health features. At the time of writing this thesis (2023) it can automatically detect only a handful of exercises such as swimming, walking, running, and cycling. However, there are many many more activities of interest, that are more than just exercises, which occur in our daily lives, that these consumer devices around us are oblivious to.



Figure 4.1: Ubicoustics enables real-time activity recognition across diverse hardware platforms, including smart speakers (A), smartwatches (B), tablets (C), phones (D), IoT sensors (E) and laptops (F).

### 4.2 Preliminary Work

Microphones are the most common sensor found in consumer electronics today, from smart speakers and phones to tablets and televisions. Despite sound being an incredibly rich information source, offering powerful insights about physical and social context, modern computing devices do not utilize their microphones to understand what is going on around them. For example, a smart speaker sitting on a kitchen counter-top cannot figure out if it is in a kitchen, let alone know what a user is doing in a kitchen. Likewise, a smartwatch worn on the wrist is oblivious to its user cooking or cleaning. This inability for "smart" devices to recognize what is happening around them in the physical world is a major impediment to them truly augmenting human activities.

Real-time, sound-based classification of activities and context is not new. There have been many previous application-specific efforts that focus on a constrained set of recognized classes. I sought to build a more general-purpose and flexible sound recognition pipeline – one that could be deployed to an existing device as a software update and work immediately, requiring no end-user or in situ data collection (i.e., no training or calibration). Such a system should be "plug-and-play" – e.g., plug in your Alexa, and it can immediately discern all of your kitchen appliances by sound. This is a challenging task, and very few sound-based recognition systems achieve usable end-user accuracies, despite offering pre-trained models that are meant to be integrated into applications.

Ubicoustics is a novel approach that brings the vision of plug-and-play activity recognition closer to reality across a myriad of practical form factors (Figure 4.1). The process starts by taking an existing, state-of-the-art sound labeling model and tuning it with high-quality data from professional sound effect libraries for specific contexts (e.g., a kitchen and its appliances). I found professional sound effect libraries to be a particularly rich source of high-quality, well-segmented, and accurately-labeled data for everyday events. These large databases are employed in the entertainment industry for post-production sound design (and to a lesser extent in live broadcast and digital games).

Sound effects can also be easily transformed into hundreds of realistic variations (synthetically growing our dataset, as opposed to finding or recording more data) by adjusting key audio properties such as amplitude and persistence, as well mixing sounds with various background tracks. I show that models tuned on sound effects can achieve superior accuracy to those trained on internet-mined data alone. I also evaluate the robustness of our approach across different physical contexts and device categories. Results show that Ubicoustics can achieve human-level performance, both in terms of recognition accuracy and false positive rejection.

Thus, Ubicoustics showcases the power of acoustic activity sensing across a myriad of smart devices. However, it is limited in its fidelity as it cannot detect simultaneous activities across a multitude of people in the environment. Camera-based activity recognition approaches can overcome this due to their wider field-of-view and thus ability to track multiple people. Further, they can provide a continuous capture of these activities and provide temporal insights.
# 4.3 Modeling Continuous and Temporal Activities

# 4.3.1 Introduction

Detecting, recognizing and tracking simultaneous activities in unconstrained scenes is a challenging task. As an exemplar to showcase the utility of activity recognition I pick gyms as a setting to monitor exercises of multitudes of people. To this end, I present *GymCam* (Figure 4.2), a vision-based system that uses off-the-shelf cameras to automate exercise tracking and provide high-fidelity activity analytics, such as repetition count, without any user- or environmentspecific training or intervention. Instead of requiring each user in the gym to wear a sensor on their body, *GymCam* is an external single-point sensing solution, *i.e.*, a single camera placed in a gym can track **all** people and exercises simultaneously.

While using cameras enables accurate exercise tracking that is not limited to certain kinds of motion, it of course also raises privacy concerns. These are important to address in order to attain rich digitization system which are also practical to the user. Thus, to mitigate these privacy concerns, the first step of the classification pipeline converts the raw video into optical flow trajectories. With this processed signal, GymCam can detect exercises, but sensitive user information is not easily recoverable. Indeed, with on-camera compute power, this could be the only data transmitted from the device, or perhaps the entire classification pipeline could be run locally.

To develop and evaluate the machine learning algorithms, I collected data in the university's gym for five days. In total, I recorded 42 hours of video and annotated 597 different exercises. I did not record the number of gym users because the protocol required immediate anonymization of the data (*i.e.*, faces blurred). Users of the gym were informed that a research team was recording video, but there was no other interaction with participants, minimizing observer effects (*e.g.*, intentional or unintentional changes to their routine). I note this problem often affects research studies where users are aware they are part of an exercise tracking research study, and the evaluation setting is constrained [173]. I believe GymCam presents the first truly unconstrained evaluation of exercise tracking.

The overall process of GymCam is as follows:

- 1. Detect all exercise activities in the scene (acc. = 99.6%), then
- 2. Disambiguate between simultaneous exercises (acc. = 84.6%), then
- 3. Estimate repetition counts ( $\pm$  1.7 counts)
- 4. Recognize common exercise types (acc. = 93.6% for 5 most common exercise types).

# 4.3.2 Theory of Operation

I now discuss the underlying premise behind GymCam that allows it to: (1) detect motion, (2) cluster motions into separate exercises, and (3) identify and track individual exercises.



Figure 4.2: GymCam uses a camera to track exercises. Top: Optical flow tracking motion trajectories. Bottom Left: Exercises clustered. Bottom Right: Exercise Recognition.

GymCam leverages the insight that almost all repetitive motion in a gym represents some form of exercise. Even if a camera cannot see an entire person, it is still often able to see a small part of the body exhibiting repetitive motion, and can track that body part, linking it to an exercise later. However, when multiple users are exercising and potentially overlap in a video, it can be hard for camera-based systems to delineate the exact boundaries between the exercises – an issue worn sensors do not have to handle. Fortunately, I found it is extremely rare for two users to perform their exercises at exactly same time, speed, and phase. Thus, by calculating features that capture these dimensions, GymCam is able to differentiate between simultaneous exercises without any supervised training data.

Apart from distinguishing different users, there are other challenges when relying solely on repetitive motion tracking. Foremost, periodicity can be exhibited by a user's gait or warm up before starting an exercise. Secondly, when placed in an unconstrained environment, users tends to be less deliberate with between-exercise moments (*e.g.* fidgeting, stretching, walking). These interludes can be quite periodic, and thus indistinct from exercises. Moreover, in the unconstrained environment of a gym, users may challenge themselves (*e.g.* lift challenging weights). Morris *et al.* [173] observed that "*self-similarity* [or periodicity] may break down in intensive strength-training scenarios. For this reason, more validation of intensive weightlifting is important future work." I believe that the only viable approach to solve the problem of variations in exercise and noisy human behavior, is to collect extensive training data in the user's actual workout environment without significant observer effect.



Figure 4.3: GymCam system architecture.

# 4.3.3 Algorithm

The goal of the work is to detect, identify, and track exercises, including when people are only partially visible. In fact, the real test of the approach is when the user is *barely* visible, but the camera can merely see a weight or a handlebar moving. Thus, GymCam starts by identifying all movements, and classifying them as repetitive or not. There could be several movements in a video that belong to the same exercise (*e.g.*, movement of different limbs, weights, and handlebar), so I combine similar repetitive exercise movements into exercise clusters. Next, for all motion trajectories in each identified cluster, I derive a combined trajectory to recognize the exercise type and estimate repetition count for that exercise (cluster). I will now describe the pipeline (Figure 4.3) in detail.

#### **Detecting Exercise Trajectories**

To detect movement, I start by extracting optical flow trajectories from the video. I initially investigated OpenCV's implementation of Lucas-Kanade sparse optical flow [46]. However, the algorithm failed to track large, sudden movements and I switched to Wang *et al.*'s [251] dense optical trajectory extraction method to process all motion captured by the camera. For every video frame, the algorithm generates new keypoints, which are tracked continuously across frames to produce a motion trajectory. I found a keypoint max lifespan of 11 seconds was ideal for capturing several exercise repetitions, while also managing the processing time needed to track thousands of points in a video stream.

These motion trajectories are then converted into features and passed to a classifier. To limit the number of data points, I trim motion trajectories by removing stationary points (*i.e.*, any keypoint that moved less than 4-pixels between frames). I then normalize motion trajectories by their maximum translation and calculate a feature vector over an (empirically determined) sliding window of five seconds, with a stride of one second. The feature vector consists of 27 features, a subset of which have also been used in prior work (see [41, 173]).

- **Frequency-based features:** The working principle is that exercises are more periodic than non-exercises. I use frequency-based features to encode this property:
  - Number of zero crossings: I calculate the number of zero crossings of the keypoint

motion trajectory, only in the x-axis, and only in the y-axis.

- Variance in zero crossings: Exercises will be more periodic and have a lower variance in zero crossings than non-exercises.
- **Dominant Frequency:** The dominant frequency of the signal calculated by frequency transformation.
- Autocorrelation: Autocorrelation characterizes the periodicity of a signal.
- Maximum autocorrelation peak: Higher value indicates higher periodicity.
- **Frequency via autocorrelation:** The dominant frequency of signal determined via autocorrelation.
- Number of autocorrelation peaks: Unusually high number of peaks indicate noisy signals, which are more likely to be non-exercises.
- Number of prominent peaks: Represents the number of peaks higher than their neighboring peaks by a threshold (25%). A greater number of prominent peaks indicates higher periodicity.
- Number of weak peaks: Similarly, I calculate the number of peaks smaller than their neighboring peaks by a threshold (25%). A greater number of weak peaks represents noisy and less periodic motion.
- Height of first autocorrelation peak after first zero crossing. The height of the first peak after a zerolag provides an estimate of the signal's periodicity.
- **Non-frequency-based features:** Apart from the frequency-based features, I also calculate some non-frequency based features:
  - **RMS:** The root-mean-square amplitude of the signal.
  - **Span:** The span of the motion helps to characterize the intensity of the motion. I use overall span, and span in both *x* and *y*-axes as features.
  - **Displacement Vector:** Displacement helps us distinguish between exercises and other periodic motions such as walking. Non-exercise motions (such as walking) often have a higher displacement than exercise motions. I use the coefficients of the overall displacement vector, and displacement in both *x* and *y*-axes, for a total of 9 features.
  - **Decay:** Decay signifies the loss of intensity over time, a characteristic of exercise motions. I fit a line to the observed trajectory and use its coefficients as features.

I filter motion trajectories to bias the classifier to minimize false positives, at the cost of lower precision. This is because when an person is exercising, not all body parts may be involved in the motion. For example, legs do not move during a bicep curl, so a keypoint on a person's leg may be inside the bounding box created by an annotator, but would not be periodic. Similarly, improper form may cause a point to move while performing an exercise. Thus, not every motion

trajectory inside an "exercise" bounding box is indicative of actual exercise motion. To protect the classifier from inaccurate training data, I filter motion trajectories with aggressive thresholds on frequency-based features. By filtering, I only provide the strongest and most representative examples of exercise trajectories to train the classifier. However, I do not perform any such filtering while validating the algorithm.

I use a multilayer perceptron (Scikit-Learn implementation with default hyperparameters) to classify every 5 second window segment of each keypoint trajectory as an exercise or not. The neural network optimizes the log-loss function using stochastic gradient descent. To smooth the output, I take a majority vote of three consecutive classifications and assign that as the output for each of those three classifications. Finally, I combine all consecutive *positive* classifications to construct a motion trajectory that was predicted as an exercise.

#### **Clustering Points for Each Exercise**

Exercises are often captured by many keypoint motion trajectories. Thus, the next step is to cluster keypoint motion trajectories into exercise groups. I perform clustering in two steps: (1) use spatio-temporal distribution of motion trajectories, and (2) use phase-differences between motion trajectories.

Given an exercise, the motion trajectories of its encapsulating keypoints will likely be close to one another in space *and* time. For space, I bootstrap the clustering algorithm by drawing bounding boxes next to each workout machine and station. Note, this only needs to happen once at the start of the system deployment (assuming machine and stations do not move). These boxes are non-overlapping and are representative of the exercise areas of the gym.

Apart from spatial distribution, I also investigated the temporal separation between exercises. The exercise keypoints that overlap temporally as well as spatially are assigned to the same cluster. However, there is still a chance that exercises that are close to one another and occur together will be wrongly combined. To separate such clusters, I also use phase information. For each cluster, I compute a phase-based similarity score between each trajectory-pair. For a pair of points that are not temporally co-located, the similarity is set to zero, and for others, the similarity is equal to the phase difference. I then threshold the phase difference (15 degrees) to assign a binary similarity score. In the end, I have a complete  $N \times N$  adjacency matrix, where N denotes the number of motion trajectory points classified as an exercise. Given such a matrix, I calculate all connected graphs. Each graph denotes one exercise cluster associated with the nearest bounding box.

At the end of clustering, I combine the trajectories of all keypoints within a cluster to create a representative, average trajectory for further analysis. More specifically, I take the average of all the points within the cluster, accounting for the duration of each point, and smoothing it with a Hann window (size=1 second). This trajectory is used in the next process: exercise recognition and repetition count.

#### **Repetition Count**

Once a representative, average trajectory for each cluster is obtained from the previous step, I calculate the repetition count. To objectively disambiguate actual exercises from warm ups, I disregard any exercises that have less than five repetitions in the ground truth annotations. I train a multilayer perceptron regressor (Scikit-Learn; default hyperparameters) that uses the frequency-based features for each combined trajectory (as detailed in section 4.3.3), and outputs an estimate for the repetition count.

#### **Exercise Recognition**

Similar to repetition count, I leverage the cluster-average trajectory to infer the exercise type. I first quantize the trajectory into fixed-length segments as input to the classifier. I then run a sliding window (length five seconds, stride of one second) over this motion trajectory. Each window is passed to a multi-layer perceptron classifier (Scikit-Learn; default hyperparameters) to predict the exercise label, and I take a probability-based majority vote over all windows in the trajectory.

# 4.3.4 Results

#### **Detecting Exercise Trajectories**

I first report the results for distinguishing keypoint motion trajectories as *exercise* or *non-exercise*. For this, I performed a leave-one-day-out-cross-validation, which yielded a per-day, mean cross-validation exercise detection accuracy of 99.86%, with a mean false positive rate of 0.001% and precision of 23%. Again, I optimized the algorithm to reduce false positives at the expense of precision.

#### **Clustering Points for Each Exercise**

There are 597 distinct exercises in the ground truth annotated data. GymCam was able to accurately track 84.6% of these exercises. It also had a false positive rate of 13.5%, with most errors due to miscellaneous cyclic non-exercise motion such as warm-ups, rocking while seated, and walking.

### **Repetition Count**

Repetition count accuracy helps in objective assessment of the time overlap between a predicted cluster and its corresponding ground truth match. I used 5-minute folds for cross-validation and achieved an accuracy of  $\pm 1.7$  for counting repetitions with a standard deviation of 2.64.



Figure 4.4: Plot showing the accuracy of exercise recognition vs. number of exercise types

#### **Exercise Recognition**

As discussed previously, the data was collected in an uncontrolled environment where participants were not instructed to perform a specific set of exercises, and so the distribution of exercise types was not uniform. Participants performed numerous atypical exercises and curating a balanced training set of conventional exercises from the data was challenging. I identified 18 common gym exercises and annotated their instances in the dataset. I decided to disregard warm-up exercises because the annotator labeled many different exercises as "warm-up". The remaining 17 exercise types were classified with an accuracy of 80.6% with cross-validation across 5-minutes folds. The five most frequently performed exercise types constituted roughly 69% of the data. I noticed that a lack of training data caused the less frequently seen exercises to be misclassified. Thus, if I only focus on the most frequent exercises, GymCam recognition accuracy increases to 93.6%.

Figure 4.4 shows the average identification accuracy as the number of recognized exercise types increase. This result indicates that the approach has the potential to differentiate between exercises based on the feature set, but a larger annotated dataset is needed.

# 4.3.5 Conclusion

*GymCam* showcases the power of detecting, recognizing and tracking simultaneous activities in unconstrained scenes. It is a system that leverages a single camera to track a multitude of simultaneous exercises. GymCam relies on tracking motion and assumes that most repetitive motion in a gym are exercises in progress. To develop and evaluate the machine-learning algorithms, I collected data in a varsity gym for five days. I segmented *all* concurrently occurring exercises from other activities in the video with an accuracy of 84.6%; recognized the type of exercise (acc.=92.6%) and counted the number of repetitions ( $\pm$  1.7 counts). GymCam advances the field of real-time exercise tracking by filling some crucial gaps, such as tracking whole body motion, handling occlusion, and enabling single-point sensing for a multitude of users. The efficacy of GymCam showcases the use of only motion trajectories for activity recognition. This helps preserve the high fidelity afforded by cameras while decreasing their invasiveness.

# Chapter 5

# **Towards Full-Body Pose Capture from Ubiquitous Consumer Devices**

# 5.1 Introduction

Delving into the intricate details of human activities yields substantial insights, but these endeavors remain constrained by their predetermined and discrete nature. In contrast, the concept of "pose" offers a continuous and all-encompassing portrayal of an individual's physical orientation and alignment. This holistic viewpoint not only opens the door to novel applications but also enhances the capabilities of existing ones. Consider its application in the context of physical therapy. Instead of being confined to predetermined exercises, a comprehensive understanding of a patient's pose allows for tailored rehabilitation programs. By precisely capturing their posture and movements, therapists can design interventions that dynamically adjust to the patient's progress, offering more effective and personalized recovery journeys. This demonstrates the transformative impact of higher-order pose-based representations, which consequently permeate and uplift lower-level representations like activity classifications.

However, the prevailing pose capture landscape predominantly features commercial systems focused on capturing full-body pose through specialized suits or elaborate camera arrays and depth-sensing technology integrated into the environment. Estimating full-body pose from ubiquitous consumer devices remains a challenging task. Let's start by understanding the key overarching challenges in achieving this.

# 5.1.1 Key Challenges

First, estimating full-body pose from ubiquitous consumer devices such as smartphones is a very under-constrained problem. Such devices don't have that many specialized sensors designed for the purpose of pose capture. Realistically speaking, you can only expect to have the sensors already in consumer devices. Second, these few sensors that these devices do have are not very

good. Consumer-grade sensors tend to be pretty noisy, low frame rate, and are at sub-optimal locations.

Second, we are not likely to convince users to wear more sensors or adopt new devices. Further, users want high-resolution output, like fine-grained health data, but they don't want to input high fidelity data, like continuous camera or microphone data that is privacy invasiveness. Thus, we don't have many sensors, can't add more and the ones that are there are pretty lowfidelity. However, there are a few key insights that I developed through my research that can help unlock the potential of ubiquitous devices for modeling the full-body pose.

# 5.1.2 Key Insights

The first key insight is that user digitization is application dependent. Thus, if we understand the trade-off space between the applications and the estimation accuracy, we can get away with approximates rather than precise tracking. For example, if a user waves in VR, the digitization framework need not get radial velocity of the users hand perfectly, it just needs to show that the user is waving to correctly communicate their intentions. While the final goal of any system should be to maximize tracking accuracy and precision, understanding where estimates are useful is a great tool to unlocking pose based applications on ubiquitous devices.

The second insight is that the human body, which are trying to model, is hierarchical. We know that our hands are connected to our elbows, and our elbows to our shoulder. There are physical limits to how far our joints can rotate, and many other spatial kinematic constraints that we can use as structural priors. Further, in addition to modeling a spatial kinematic skeletal tree, we can also account for temporal motion and behavior correspondences.

Lastly, we can leverage the power of different modalities and device locations afforded by consumer devices to help estimate pose. In the subsequent sections, we will see what does leveraging all these insights look like in action. By the end of this chapter, I will showcase that full-body pose is not exclusive to the realm of specialized and external devices, but can now be enabled on mobile consumer devices. Albeit approximate full-body pose, its versatility becomes particularly evident in uncontrolled, real-world settings. This approach stands in stark contrast to methods bound by hardware limitations or external dependencies.

# 5.1.3 Organization

I start by showcasing the utility of modeling the pose of individual body parts and gradually build up to the complexity of full-body pose capture. First, I cover sensing approaches that model the head pose and eye-gaze of the user (Section 5.2). I then shift my focus to another body part, namely the hands (Section 5.3), which are our conduits to interaction with the world around us. I then look into full-body pose capture and augment these approaches to include the hands and head as well (Section 5.4). Lastly, I cover approaches that extend beyond single person pose capture and extent to multi-user scenarios (Section 5.5).

# 5.2 Head and Eye-Gaze Estimation via Mobile Devices

# 5.2.1 Introduction

Computer interfaces with the ability to track a user's gaze location offer the potential for more accessible and powerful multimodal interactions, perhaps one day even supplanting the venerable cursor. While useful for desktop computing, gaze also promises to be a powerful way to interact with phones, especially given the need to adapt to a variety of usage contexts (e.g., inability to use the touchscreen with encumbered hands). Specialized gaze tracking hardware – either worn [121] or placed in the environment [238] – can track gaze with very high resolution *i.e.*, 1.1 mm  $(0.45^{\circ})$  but, the need for specialized equipment is a significant barrier for consumer adoption. When relying on existing onboard hardware, research has primarily focused on user-facing RGB cameras. Unfortunately, gaze models utilizing this RGB data are too coarse for interactions with many user interface widgets, which are generally small on mobile devices. To help close this gap, researchers have started assessing the value of depth cameras to improve performance [150, 172, 286], but all research to date has focused on desktop-grade depth cameras (e.g., Microsoft Kinect V2 [168], Intel Real Sense [122]). These sensors are much more capable than the depth cameras seen in smartphones, which must be very thin and comparatively lower powered. Furthermore, much of this prior RGB+Depth (RGBD henceforth) gaze research had users maintain their head position in a highly constrained way (e.g., chin rest [218, 229]). This rigid requirement is at odds with the usual way a typical user interacts with a phone while walking, riding public transport, carrying handbags, etc. Thus, it is important to build a gaze tracker that adapts to a user's changing context, uses existing hardware, and provides usable resolution.

Here [26], I present a gaze tracker that uses an off-the-shelf phone's front-facing RGB and depth camera. I collected data from and implemented my system in recent Apple iPhones (X and above), which feature a 1080p user-facing camera and Apple's structured light TrueDepth camera (similar to the technology used in the Kinect V1 [168] and earlier PrimeSense models). My mobile RGBD dataset of 50 participants is the first of its kind, offering RGBD data paired with user gaze location across a variety of use contexts. I implemented a CNN model based on a spatial weights structure to efficiently fuse the RGB and depth modalities. my model achieves 1.89 cm on-screen euclidean error on my dataset in a leave-one-participant-out evaluation, showing a significant improvement over existing gaze-tracking methods in mobile settings. This result reaffirms the utility of fusing RGB and depth data, and offers the first benchmark for smartphone-based RGBD gaze tracking while a user is not simply sitting.

# 5.2.2 RGB+Depth Dataset & Collection

I collected a first-of-its-kind dataset of RGBD on mobile devices. For data collection, I created an iOS application capable of recording and uploading gaze tracking data. The application runs on Apple iPhone X and above, as they all feature a high resolution front-facing RGB camera and a

Table 5.1: Comparison of my system with prior gaze tracking work. Grey-colored rows denote systems benchmarked using my dataset. Unconstrained studies are those where the distance and/or angle between the capturing device and user was not static.

System	Capture Modality		Mobile	Unconstrained	Calib	Gaze Error	
System	RGB	Depth	Device	Study	–Free		
MPII Gaze [277]	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	6.3°	
EyeTab [259]	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	2.58 cm	
EyeMU [130]	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		1.7 cm	
iTracker [132]	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		1.34 cm	
iMon [106]	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	1.57 cm	
TabletGaze [102]	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	3.17 cm	
iTracker [132]	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	2.77 cm	
Apple ARKit [20]	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	6.38 cm	
My System	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	1.89 cm	

TrueDepth camera ( $640 \times 480$  depth map interpolated from a  $170 \times 170$  IR dot pattern). For the data collection, I recruited 50 participants (mean age 25 years, 34 male, 16 female). Fourteen of them wore glasses during the data collection. Twenty of the participants were recruited through in-class recruitment and the remainder of the 30 were recruited using an online sign-up form posted on various social media sites. The app was delivered via TestFlight.

The custom iOS application asked participants to look at a target (red dot) that was moving on the screen. While the user gazed at the target, synchronized RGB and depth imagery was logged at approximately 8 Hz, along with the ARKit gaze prediction (which I capture as a stateof-the-art commercial benchmark). The speed of the dot movement was varied to add diversity. The data collection was paused when the face was not detected using the Apple Vision Framework. In a similar way to GazeCapture [132], I recorded device motion (9-axis IMU) sensor data synchronized to image data. While I did not use this sensor data in my study, this could be a useful resource in future work.

While using the app, the target dot was animated to cover various locations on the screen (Figure 5.1(a)). Specifically (and similar to [102, 132, 267]), I first pre-determined  $5 \times 7 = 35$  fixed locations (Figure 5.1(b)), and then the dot repeatedly moved linearly (vertically, horizon-tally, and diagonally) from one location to another in a random fashion such that it covered each location four times. In addition, I implemented an "undo" functionality that lets the participant jump back to the previous gaze location (in case they were not paying attention or did not follow the target). The "undo" button shown in Figure 5.1(c) was hidden while the target was moving unless the participant tapped anywhere on the screen to stop its animation.

To ensure data reliability, I followed an approach similar to Krafka et al. [132]. First, during data recording, the app was kept in Airplane Mode to avoid any distractions via notifications. I further monitor user attention to ensure constant engagement with the application. This is done



Figure 5.1: My application for gaze data collection. (a) The target (red dot) moves around the screen. (b) The screen is divided by 35 fixed locations (illustrated here, but hidden from users) and the target moves from one to another. (c) Participants are able to stop by tapping the screen and "undo" a trial by pressing the button.

by introducing a color check mechanism during the task. Specifically, the color of the inner center of the moving dot changed to either white, green, or blue randomly during each animation (motion from one target gaze location to another). Users needed to perform a tapping action according to the color; tap nowhere if it was white, tap the right side of the screen if it was green, and tap the left side if it was blue. If they failed this color check, they were warned and the failed sequence was repeated.

The study consisted of four sessions spanning four distinct, yet common use contexts: standing, walking, sitting, and lying down. During each session, the participants were not given any specific instructions on how they should hold the device. I note that they routinely changed hands and arm positions during the sessions. Each collection session lasted for approximately four minutes, and the order of the sessions was randomized for each participant. The study took roughly 20 minutes and participants were compensated with \$10 USD for their time. I also did not control for the environment, time of day or illumination during the data collection period. This led to high variability of data, critical in aiding the development of a robust, calibration-free gaze tracker.

I pruned the collected dataset by removing data points where the participants blinked. For this I employed an eye-aspect-ratio method [57]. Roughly 2% of my data consisted of blinks, which were dropped from analysis. In total, my final dataset consisted of 160,120 data points across 50 participants.



Figure 5.2: Overview of my multimodal deep learning architecture. Input is the RGB and depth image of the user's face, with the 2D gaze location on the screen as output. The spatial attention maps of the corresponding RGB and depth maps are visualized in red heatmaps (darker color intensity denotes higher attention value).

# 5.2.3 Implementation

#### **Network Architecture**

I developed a multimodal learning-based method for estimating a user's gaze on a smartphone. I first crop the user's face using the Apple Vision Framework [19]. The cropped face (448  $\times$  448 pixels) in RGB and depth views serve as the input to my multi-input Convolutional Neural Network (CNN). The output is the predicted 2D gaze location in the screen coordinate frame of the smartphone. The overview of my CNN can be seen in Figure 5.2. For my image-based feature extractor, I make use of spatial attention neural networks. This helps assign different information weights to different regions of the facial image. For example, it will automatically assign higher weights to the eyes or rather different parts of the eyes would be weighted differently based on their information entropy in the CNN. Prior work has found such approaches [278] to be more accurate and computationally less intensive than those that crop different regions and feed them individually to a model [132]. I warm-start my RGB and depth convolutional feature extractors (Figure 5.2 pink color) with AlexNet weights. The embedding is then passed to three fully-connected layers with the ReLU activation, outputting the final two-dimensional gaze value.

#### **Training Protocol**

The model is implemented with PyTorch 1.9.1. The RGB part of the model is first trained with the GazeCapture dataset while the depth part is initialized without any pretraining. I use a batch size of 16 and update the model weights using the SGD optimizer with the initial learning rate



Figure 5.3: Overall accuracy of my approach across different data input modalities (RGB and depth) and use contexts (sitting, standing, walking and lying). The error bars are standard error.

0.0005, the momentum 0.9, the weight decay 0.0001. The learning rate is decayed by 0.1 for every five epochs. I use the mean squared error between the ground truth and predicted gaze points as a loss function. I train my model up to 20 epochs on an NVIDIA GeForce GTX 1080 Ti GPU, and it takes approximately 12 hours to train one fold in leave-one-participant-out procedure.

#### **On-Device Model**

I deployed my model in a real-time iOS application. I first converted my trained PyTorch model to Core ML using Apple's CoreMLToolkit. A pair of synchronized RGB and depth frames are then pre-processed, which includes finding the face crop using Apple's Vision Framework [19] and normalizing the data between -1 and 1. This data is then sent to my CNN for prediction. On the iPhone 12 Pro Max, my model runs at 7 fps with an average latency of 121.3 ms (SD = 9.2 ms) from captured photo to gaze prediction. Using RGB alone, my system has a latency of 85.3 ms (SD = 7.4 ms) and runs at 10 fps. The tracking can run continuously for around 3.5 hours on the iPhone 12 Pro (battery capacity of 10.8 Wh). The model outputs a 2D gaze prediction, which is plotted on the screen. As a comparison point, Apple's Animoji feature, which digitizes people's faces and tracks their eyes, runs with a latency of around ~110 ms on an iPhone 12 Pro [9]. Similar to data collection, the predictions are paused when the face is not detected by the Apple Vision Framework [19]. Please refer to the Video Figure for a real-time demo.

# 5.2.4 Results and Discussion

In this section, I evaluate the efficacy of my multimodal model on my RGBD dataset. I first compute the performance metrics of my system across different input data modalities and use



Figure 5.4: Example images where my RGBD Gaze model had high error. Euclidean error is noted below each image.

contexts, and then compare my system to RGB-based, state-of-the-art gaze tracking methods.

#### **Overall Accuracy**

To evaluate the efficacy of my model, I follow a leave-one-participant-out protocol. The model is calibration-free, as no per-participant data is shared between the splits. Overall, my model achieves a euclidean gaze error of 1.89 cm (SD = 1.09 cm) when using RGBD data (Figure 5.3 far-right chart).

Upon inspection, I find that my RGBD model has a very high error when the eyes are partially closed or occluded (by the user's hair, glasses frame, hands, *etc.*). In these cases, it is impossible to resolve a full view of both eyes and the model falls back on head pose estimation for gaze. Other cases of error include poor lighting conditions, strong ocular reflections and motion blur. Figure 5.4 showcases these sample error cases of the model.

To test the performance impact of each data modality, I trained the following model variants: depth-only, RGB-only, and RGBD. Figure 5.3 summarizes this result. my RGB-only model has a euclidean error of 2.26 cm (SD = 1.27 cm), which falls to 1.89 cm (SD = 1.09 cm) with the addition of depth data. Anecdotally, upon visualizing the spatial attention maps of my model (Figure 5.2), I find that the RGB attention model assigns a higher weight to the two eyes, thus focusing on eye gaze; while the depth model assigns a higher weight to the central region and edge of the face, thereby focusing on head pose.

#### **Effect of Use Context on Accuracy**

Different use contexts result in different body postures [9] and face visibility [102], and also introduce artifacts such as motion blur. When I test my model across different use contexts (see Figure 5.3, blue bars) using the leave-one-participant-out protocol, I find that lying has the highest error (2.01 cm, SD = 1.18 cm) while sitting and standing have the lowest error (1.83 cm,

SD = 1.10 cm and 1.83 cm, SD = 1.01 cm). This is in line with prior work [102] and can be attributed to the least facial visibility for the lying down context. Compared to standing and sitting, walking has a relatively lower accuracy, that is, 1.91 cm (SD = 1.08 cm). This can be attributed to motion blur and head motion caused due to the movement of the smartphone in the walking scenario.

Prior work has successfully demonstrated the detection of different coarse body poses or activities (*e.g.*, sitting, standing, running, walking, lying down) using smartphone motion data [9, 56]. To quantify the performance effect of each use context, I tested the performance of a percontext calibrated model. Here I validate the model on data from only that particular context. Overall, this reduces error by 5.3% (broken out by use context in Figure 5.3, green bars).

#### **Comparison with Prior Work**

A summary of comparative prior works can be found in Table 5.1. To the best of my knowledge, no prior work has made use of RGBD on smartphones for gaze estimation. I therefore benchmark my approach with two state-of-the-art RGB-based systems: Apple ARKit 4 AR-FaceAnchor model [20] and iTracker [132]. Apple's ARKit provides an easy-to-integrate library for developers, and the iTracker model has been trained on a multitude of mobile devices (iPhone 4-6, iPad Pro, iPad Air). These two systems were run on the same data as my own model. ARKit and iTracker achieve a mean euclidean error of 6.38 cm and 2.77 cm, respectively. In contrast, my model, making use of RGBD, offered a much lower euclidean error of 1.89 cm.

To test the efficacy of my RGB spatial attention model, I benchmark it on the GazeCapture test dataset utilized by iTracker [132]. iTracker achieves an error of 2.04 cm (without any data augmentation) on their dataset. my RGB-only model achieves a similar error of 2.03 cm on the dataset (vs. 2.26 cm on my test dataset). This dip can be attributed to the varying use contexts and challenging capture scenarios of my dataset as well as the larger screen size of the devices used. I also find that my model achieved better accuracies compared to tablet-based gaze estimation works such as TabletGaze [102] and EyeTab [259], which reported an error of 3.17 cm and 2.58 cm respectively. Note that these comparisons are provided as a reference, as all these methods were tested on different datasets.

# 5.2.5 Limitations & Future Work

While the accuracies of my system are promising, there are several key limitations that will need to be overcome before it is ready for commercial adoption. First is the accuracy of the system. Even with a calibration-free gaze error of under 2 cm, the accuracy falls short of the submillimeter accuracy afforded by dedicated eye trackers. In the future, this could be improved by collecting data across a wider array of mobile devices, scenes and users. The proliferation of depth cameras on smartphones and tablets (such as the Google Pixel 4 and the Apple iPad Pro) could help with training a more generalizable gaze tracking model. I also note that while the current contexts are encouraging and naturalistic, they can still be expanded. I can cover more situated contexts, for example, users interacting with the smartphone while driving, biking, or climbing stairs. Furthermore, rather than an experimenter conducting the study, I can increase the diversity of my dataset by crowd-sourcing the data collection (as done by Krafka et al. [132] and Xu et al. [267]). I believe that such a large-scale dataset consisting of RGBD modality can achieve high accuracy without per-user calibration, enabling practical gaze-powered mobile interactions.

# 5.2.6 Conclusion

This work explores the feasibility of head and eye gaze tracking on smartphones. I collected data from 50 participants across four use contexts and then trained a CNN model based on a spatial weights structure that can efficiently fuse my multimodal streams. Results demonstrate that my model offers improved accuracy, down to 1.89 cm euclidean error. While future work remains, this result suggests that RGB and depth information offers promise in enabling unconstrained mobile gaze tracking and could unlock a wealth of new and interesting end-user applications.

# 5.3 Hand Pose Estimation from Commodity Touchscreens

# 5.3.1 Introduction

Human hand interaction is a cornerstone of how we perceive and manipulate the world. Therefore, much effort in the research communities has gone into capturing and reconstructing hands during such manipulations to extract their spatial configurations with numerous applications in robotics, rehabilitation, Augmented and Virtual Reality.

In this work [11], I focus on reconstructing hand poses during interaction with planar surfaces on the devices that we use on a daily basis: the screens of phones, tablets, laptops, and so on. I investigate the problem of recovering 3D joint positions from the spatial intensity map captured by the capacitive sensors that are integrated into such touchscreens.

For this, I introduce *TouchPose*, a deep learning model that estimates a fitting 3D hand pose based on a regressor that I devised and trained on the hand pose data captured from participants while they produced touch input on a surface with varying input postures. I demonstrate that the hand regression model benefits from hard-parameter sharing multi-task learning by using a joint embedding space to concurrently estimate the corresponding depth image, the validity of the touch event, as well as the inferred hand pose in real time.

Unlike previous approaches that designed deep networks for *individual* input parameters (e.g., touch classification [71, 144], finger angle [164, 262], inadvertent touch [99, 208]), Touch-Pose is a *general-purpose model* that attempts to recover hand configurations independent of use-case (Figure 5.5). From each input frame, TouchPose produces 3D hand-pose estimates including finger classification, angle, and gesture, offering this information to UI developers for



Figure 5.5: Top: Raw capacitive input images. Middle: Ground-truth hand poses for comparison. Bottom: Hand meshes rendered using skeletons that were estimated by TouchPose.

the purpose of interactive applications. Therefore, I see TouchPose as a use-case agnostic succession of existing work that trained custom networks with similar complexity on just individual use-cases.

Because TouchPose's training allows it to operate based on partial observation, i.e., only the parts of the hand that (almost) make contact, TouchPose can also infer 3D hand joints that lie *outside* the touch-sensitive area as well as occluded points. I show that TouchPose's reconstruction even generalizes to hand poses and orientations that the network has never seen before.

Collectively, TouchPose's contributions include:

- a learning-based method to estimate 3D hand poses, depth maps and validity of touch events from capacitive images resulting from touch data on sensor surfaces.
- a dataset of capacitive touch images, aligned depth images, and annotated 3D hand poses, captured from 10 participants while touching the surface using various finger combinations, rotations, and angles.
- a series of interactive sample applications that are enabled by TouchPose's to support touch input and novel input techniques.

# 5.3.2 Related Work

TouchPose sits at the intersection of computer vision, graphics, and human-computer interaction. I start by reviewing the activities in the vision domain on 3D hand-pose estimation and then discuss how they influenced the research on interactive systems, particularly those building on optical and capacitive touch sensing.

#### Hand poses from RGB and depth images

Recovering hand pose configurations has been a long-standing problem in computer vision, often addressed using RGB and depth sensors. Li et al.'s survey gives a comprehensive overview of methods and datasets in this context [146]. Camera-based methods typically achieve higher accuracy compared to other sensing mechanisms given their high-resolution capture. Prior approaches using depth sensors include model-based methods that use parameters to encapsulate physical constraints for the validity of results [185, 232, 265]. In contrast, RGB-based hand pose estimation is more challenging due to depth ambiguity. Yet, following the recent advances in deep learning, many recent projects have estimated 3D hand pose [175, 225] and, more challenging even, 3D hand meshes [89, 289] from single RGB images.

All vision-based efforts have in common that they start from higher-fidelity image data and reduce it to a 3D hand pose. Analogous to frameworks that lift a pose from 2D to 3D [163], wherein multiple plausible solutions exist for a given input, the problem I investigate is more under-constrained. TouchPose receives no sensory information from the whole hand and captures only subparts, which a considerably challenging and requires the method to extrapolate from sparse observations.

#### **3D** reconstruction from **2D** touch imprints

Numerous projects have investigated the problem of reconstructing the properties of objects above the touch surface from the contact they make.

Using the mutual-capacitance sensors in commodity touchscreen devices, researchers have leveraged the fact that they sense a small band of hover to predict finger poses. Examples include Xiao et al.'s [262] and Mayer et al.'s [164] supervised methods to infer finger yaw and pitch angles that operate directly on capacitive images. Closely related to TouchPose, Chung et al. fit a hand model to the touch coordinates using a quadratic encoding [71], but rely solely on the location of touch points and do not make use of the fine-grained, higher dimensional data afforded by the capacitive imprints. As a result, their method is affected by finger ambiguity when less than four fingers are in contact with the surface.

Through the use of self-capacitance sensing, prior work has been able to reconstruct input on as well as farther above the surface. Rogers et al. devised a particle filter that simulated finger orientations based on the observations from a low-resolution sensor array to estimate finger motions and angles in 3D [199]. PreTouch fuses such cues from surface and hover input to establish an anticipatory and retroactive hybrid touch model [99], showing a refined estimation of input intentions and locations. Such hover sensing can also be used for detecting hand gestures above the surface [245] or to infer arm orientations and thus user position [281].



Figure 5.6: TouchPose CNN Architecture. It is a multitask learning framework that takes in a capacitive image as input and predicts the depth image, 3D hand pose, and touch classification for it.

# **5.3.3** TouchPose Dataset

The TouchPose dataset consists of 65,374 samples collected across a total of 10 users for 14 different finger and whole-hand touch poses and gestures respectively. The data samples consisted of  $72 \times 41$  capacitive image, along with corresponding depth map (captured via Kinect [30]) and hand pose (captured using Leap Motion stereo IR camera - Ultraleap [73]) which were used as ground truth. The Leap returned a 3D hand skeleton with 21 joints: 4 for each of the 5 fingers and 1 for the wrist. As the Leap provides us only with hand skeletons, I collected depth data to aid in resolving the ambiguity of finger width (and, by extension, exact finger-touch points). The capture of depth for the dataset was also motivated by potential future hand pose recognizers that could replace the skeletons from the Leap's low-resolution recording by analyzing the more accurate and higher-resolution depth frames.

# 5.3.4 Multi-task Convolution Neural Network

I propose a learning-based model that estimates the 3D pose of a hand H touching a sensor surface based on the corresponding capacitive image C as input. While it is intuitive that there exist multiple possible hand poses for a given input—especially in the case of few fingers touching the screen —TouchPose aims to recover the best fitting hand pose in a least-square sense.

TouchPose has two auxiliary tasks to improve the generalization of the model. The model is trained to not only predict the hand pose H but also the corresponding depth image D as well as the validity of the touch event. With these changes, the network now shares a common embedding for all three tasks, following an approach that is commonly known as hard-parameter sharing multi-task learning [205].

I model the capacitive frame C and the depth image D as real-valued tensors of dimensions  $41 \times 72 \times 1$ . The capacitive image input frames are normalized between 0 and 1. The hand

pose H consists of 21 joints, each represented by three Cartesian coordinates, and modeled as a real-valued tensor of size  $21 \times 3$ . The likelihood estimate TC is a real-valued scalar, either 0 for fingertip events or 1 representing whole-hand events.

Figure 5.6 showcases the architecture of TouchPose. The multi-task CNN has 4,937,345 trainable parameters. During training, I use a batch size of 32 and update the weights using the Adam optimizer [127] with a learning rate of 0.001 and a decay of  $5 \times 10^{-6}$ . The network is implemented in Tensorflow and incurs an inference latency of 24 ms per input.

As a final step, the 3D hand skeleton estimated by the multi-task CNN is fed to an inverse kinematic solver. This facilitates the rigging of a valid hand mesh (Figure 5.5), reject outlier unnatural poses and allows TouchPose to continue animating the hands through sparse input periods.

# 5.3.5 Evaluation

I outline three evaluation protocols to test the efficacy of TouchPose.

- **Protocol 1:** I employ a 3-fold 'leave-one-session-out' cross-validation wherein each fold consists of training data from two sessions and is tested on the remaining one. This is used to study the per-user effects (such as hand scale, geometry, etc.) on the accuracy.
- **Protocol 2:** I use a 10-fold 'leave-one-person-out' cross-validation wherein each fold consists of data from nine participants for training and the data from the remaining participant for testing. This introduces cross-subject variation in hand scales and pose styles.
- **Protocol 3:** I use a 14-fold 'leave-one-gesture-out' cross-validation wherein each fold consists of training data from 13 hand gestures and the remaining fold has a hand gesture that it has never seen before. This tests the generalizability of the model to unseen hand poses.

Unlike prior hand tracking methods that leverage global alignment, scaling or root-centric error calculations, I calculate all poses and errors in a touch-centric coordinate system. Herein, the upper left corner of the touch panel is the origin. This helps to account for global errors in orientations and different hand-scales without training custom models or calibrating for bone length.

## 5.3.6 Results

#### Finger classification during touch

I first evaluate the efficacy of TouchPose for classifying the finger that each fingertip interacting with the touchscreen belongs to. Under the cross-session cross-validation (Evaluation Protocol 1), TouchPose has the highest finger classification accuracy of 91.1% (SD = 3.4%), which falls to 88.0% (SD = 10.4%) for the cross-person scenario (evaluation protocol 2). Under Evalu-

EP	FingerID(%)	Yaw Err (°)	Pitch Err (°)	EPE (mm)	$\mathbf{EPE}_v$ (mm)	AUC	Depth Err (mm)
1	91.1	10.4	8.8	19.6	13.8	0.85	20.7
2	88.0	11.4	9.9	21.8	15.8	0.83	22.2
3	83.1	11.1	9.6	29.2	15.4	0.70	24.9

Table 5.2: Quantitative results of different TouchPose variants across the evaluation metrics and protocols. Here, FingerID denotes the finger classification accuracies and EP stands for Evaluation Protocol.

ation Protocol 3, where the model is tested on finger combinations it has not seen before, Touch-Pose has a mean accuracy of 83.1% (SD = 13.3%).

#### **Depth Estimation from capacitive images**

While mutual-capacitance sensors are perceptive to hovering fingers up to 2–3 mm, TouchPose substantially extends the possible depth range by two orders of magnitude to 255 mm, albeit specific to fingers and hands by virtue of its learned model. The results of Evaluation Protocol 2 show that TouchPose's depth estimator achieves a mean error of 22.2 mm across participants and all poses. Of note, this error includes depth estimations that are ~25 cm from the surface and thus far beyond the sensitivity of any capacitive touch sensor. I further break down the analysis into hover bands above the surface for Evaluation Protocol 2. In the region of 10 mm above the surface, TouchPose's depth estimation has an error of 4.2 mm compared to the Kinect depth sensor (SD = 0.7 mm). In the 20 mm band above the touch surface, this depth estimation error increases to 6.2 mm (SD = 0.8 mm).

#### Finger angle estimation during touch

I evaluate the mean absolute error (MAE) in the yaw and pitch for fingers that are touching the surface. In summary, averaged across all evaluation protocols and fingers, TouchPose has a MAE of  $11.0^{\circ}$  for yaw and a MAE of  $9.4^{\circ}$  for pitch.

#### **3D** hand pose estimation error

To test the efficacy of the 3D pose pipeline, I make use of the following hand pose evaluation metrics:

- End-point-error (EPE): This commonly used metric for 3D hand pose estimation is the mean Euclidean error between all the joints (= 21) of the Leap and predicted hand pose.
- End-point-error of visible joints (EPE<sub>v</sub>): Similar to EPE, but only computed for the finger joints touching the screen. For example, if only the index and ring finger are touching the screen, I will only compute the EPE for all the joints along those fingers. Hence, its calculated for fingertip events only.



Figure 5.7: TouchPose demonstrative applications. (A) This finger- and hand part-specific drawing app (A1–2) infers stroke width from attack angle or (A3) smudging. (B) This 3D joystick is quick to operate through finger angle. (C) Inadvertent touch rejection allows (C1) regular typing but rejects (C2) fingers at wrong orientations or (C3) other hand parts.

• AUC under PCK: Area under the curve (AUC), which represents the percentage of correct 3D keypoints (PCK) of which the Euclidean error is below a threshold *t*, where *t* ranges from 20 mm to 50 mm.

Similar to the previous finger classification and angular error-based results, cross-session cross-validation (EPE mean=19.6 mm, SD=2.7 mm) produces much lower errors than cross-person cross-validation (EPE mean=21.8 mm, SD=7.1 mm), showcasing that per-user data aids in performance. The higher standard deviation when validating cross-person can be attributed to participants' differing styles how they touched the surface, especially the pose of fingers that were not in contact.

The error of the visible joints ( $EPE_v$ ) is more uniform across participants, with a mean  $EPE_v$  of 15.8 mm (SD=3.8 mm). For the auxiliary tasks, TouchPose achieves a touch classification accuracy of 99.58% and depth reconstruction mean absolute error of 22.2 mm under Evaluation Protocol 2. Evaluation Protocol 3 proves to be the most challenging for TouchPose, with the model having its highest mean EPE of 29.2 mm.

In all cases, as expected the  $EPE_v$  is smaller than the EPE, showcasing fingers that touch the screen are correctly predicted and less ambiguous than the ones that do not. The EPE also decreases proportionally to the number of fingertips touching the screen, decreasing from 18.3 mm for one finger to 12.0 mm for four fingers touching the screen (reduction of 6.3 mm). This was expected—at the moment a user touches the surface, the degrees of freedom of the hand pose decrease (the touch locations limit the 3 degrees of freedom for the respective end effectors). Therefore, as the fingers make contact with the surface, the more constrained the search for the whole hand.

# 5.3.7 Demonstration Applications

TouchPose can be used as a general-purpose model that performs independent of use-case, providing hand poses (and by extension finger ID, angle, gesture) to UI developers. I showcase a few of the many possible interactive applications TouchPose can enable as shown in Fig. 5.7.

Using the capacitive touchscreen on an Android phone (Honor 7X, 15 cm display, capacitive input offloaded and processed following prior approaches [143]), I illustrate examples that make use of TouchPose's unique capability to recover hand and finger poses as well as implicitly identify the part of the hand that is in contact with the screen. Fig. 5.7A shows a drawing app using this to select the input tool and parameterize the stroke width according to the finger angle in pitch and yaw, all with a single input with feedback displayed in real-time. TouchPose can also power applications to afford quicker input to UI controls, such as the slider in Fig. 5.7B that adjusts based on finger pitch, making TouchPose a suitable processing layer for modeling applications on mobile devices where surface area is scarce.

A final app, which could also prove useful most immediately, processes input events into parts of the hand and finger to assess their suitability for the given input operation. Unlike current text editing apps on touch devices, the app shown in Fig. 5.7C incorporates TouchPose for transparent processing of input events, letting (C1) valid type events triggered by fingers pass while rejecting inadvertent input caused by (C2) invalid parts of the finger or palms and (C3) sides of the hand. Inadvertent touch detection is particularly enticing as touchscreens lack the capability of distinguishing between touch types. This problem may be even more severe on larger-screen devices such as tablets or tables, where users tend to rest their palms or wrists while providing input or while writing with a stylus to support accurate input.

## 5.3.8 Limitations

While TouchPose demonstrates feasibility, there are several limitations that will benefit from further refinement. In its current form, it cannot handle multiple hands interacting simultaneously. I also acknowledge that the current implementation cannot disambiguate finger classes in single-touch events. TouchPose recovers "partial" hand poses, as there is inherent ambiguity in missing contacts. However, I note that as more fingers make contact, ambiguity drops and finger identification confidence improves. In future, higher-resolution touchscreens in the future and improved touch-sensing ranges [99] will provide more 3D cues on the shape of the hands. This will help alleviate single-touch ambiguities and resolve hovering fingers. Lastly, TouchPose is enabled by a multi-task convolutional neural network-based architecture. While it could directly run on smartphones (e.g., using Tensorflow Lite), it produces computational overhead compared to standard touch event detection pipelines that are designed for low latency.

# 5.3.9 Conclusion

I have presented the first general-purpose estimator for hand pose recovery using capacitive images from a touch surface alone. TouchPose performs this task by implementing a multi-task architecture, predicting depth maps, hand poses and validity of touch events. For data acquisition, I devised a capture rig that integrates a mutual-capacitance touch sensor, a short-range depth camera below, and a stereo IR camera above for hand pose labeling. 10 participants provided touch events using various hand poses and combinations of fingers, touching, sliding, and gesturing on the touch surface while the apparatus captures synchronized frames from all sensors. The final dataset comprises 65,374 pairs of capacitive images, depth maps and annotated 3D hand poses and served for training and testing the TouchPose model. TouchPose estimates 3D hand poses from just the intensities and imprints left on the surface, reaching an average end point error of 21.8 mm across the hand joints, including those that lie outside the touch area. In addition, TouchPose generalizes to hand gestures it has never seen before. Taken together, I believe that TouchPose will help future developers to effortlessly attach interactive behavior to input *semantics*, advancing from today's naïve notion of touch input as 2D coordinates and interpreting input in the context of dexterous hand pose.

# 5.4 Holistic Full-body Digitization using Smartphones

# 5.4.1 Introduction

While prior works only focus on reconstructing particular body parts (such as hands or head), the human body is far more expressive and offers many degrees of freedom for human-computer input purposes. Technologies able to digitize a user's full-body could enable new interactive experiences beyond the touch-centric (and occasionally IMU-driven) input that I see on contemporary mobile devices.

Today, full-body motion capture is most closely associated with computer-generated imagery in blockbuster films, using expensive multi-camera rigs and special suits with markers. However, as technologies have improved, consumer-oriented uses have become possible. For instance, there are now several companies offering small sensors, worn on the body, that digitize the wearer's pose for use in more immersive VR experiences [17, 246]. Of course, the bar for consumer acceptance is high, and this highly-instrumented approach seems unlikely to go mainstream in the near future. A decade ago, Microsoft took a different approach with its XBox Kinect sensor [30], a \$150 accessory depth camera that could capture users' pose without any worn instrumentation. A variety of interactive, pose-enabled games proliferated, crossing genres including sports, dance, and role-playing games.

Regardless of whether the sensors are worn or external, the necessity for extra devices, plus the added cost of that hardware, dampens the likelihood of mass adoption. More importantly, both approaches preclude many interesting uses of body digitization when people mobile and



Figure 5.8: Pose-on-the-Go tracking a user's arm pose and eye gaze.

outside of controlled settings. In response, I set out to develop a full-body pose estimation system that could run entirely self-contained on a smartphone held normally in one's hand. My system can work on the go, offering new avenues of interactivity *anywhere* and without prior setup. For this reason, I call the system *Pose-on-the-Go*.

Achieving this vision required leveraging almost every sensor at our disposal in modern smartphones, including the front and rear cameras, user-facing depth camera, capacitive touch-screen, and IMU. I fuse data from these disparate sensors to rig a real-time, animated skeleton of the user as they operate their phone. Pose-on-the-Go is the first system to demonstrate full-body pose estimation using an unmodified smartphone held in the hand. This affords Pose-on-the-Go wide applicability and superior practicality over other methods, which almost all require special instrumentation. An additional contribution is a rigorous study, benchmarking against a true gold standard - a professional-grade Vicon optical tracking system.

I believe exposing live user pose (even a coarse approximation as I demonstrate) as an API on mobile devices could enable some very creative and novel interactive experiences. For example, one of the example applications is a 3/4 perspective space shooter where the user's virtual on-screen character matches their live body pose, offering a unique level of embodiment not previously seen in smartphone gaming. Indeed, a significant benefit of being software-only is that many recent smartphone models could be enabled via an over-the-air update, and the software could run as a background service on top of which developers could build pose-enabled apps.

# 5.4.2 Implementation

I built the proof-of-concept implementation on iOS, which has an API that allows both the front and rear cameras to be streamed simultaneously (a feature now available on some Android smartphones, and likely to be mainstream soon). iOS also offered a robust set of APIs across all of the features I wished to implement (face tracking, pedometer, locomotion mode prediction, 6-DOF absolute spatial tracking, etc.), and many of the heavier-weight APIs are optimized to take advantage of hardware acceleration, offering us some computational headroom. As a development device, I selected an iPhone XR, which is Apple's mid-tier offering.

#### **Inverse Kinematic Model & 3D Engine**

There are many inverse kinematic (IK) SDKs available, both open source and commercial. I chose to use Root-Motion's VRIK library [203] running on the popular Unity engine [240], which has native iOS support and an extensive set of tools and assets for creating example apps. As with the hardware, Pose-on-the-Go does not have any strong dependencies and should work with practically all human IK packages. To facilitate rapid prototyping, I wrote a thin smartphone app responsible for interfacing with all sensors and streaming data to a MacBook Pro laptop (3.1 GHz Dual-Core Intel i5, 16 GB RAM) over WiFi, where the Unity-based implementation, along with the IK solver ran. With additional engineering, it should be possible to run the entire process on the smartphone.

#### **Head Position & Orientation**

The first step of the process is to establish the position and orientation of the head relative to the phone. For this, I use the user-facing camera and ARKit's ARFaceAnchor API [23], which offers 6-DOF head tracking. Note this does not use the iPhone's user-facing depth camera.

# Eye Gaze

The same ARFaceAnchor API [23] also provides an estimate of the gaze vectors for each eye. Although too inaccurate to enable gaze targeting on the phone's screen, it is more than sufficient to realistically animate the eyes of the avatar, providing another dimension of expressivity (see Figure 5.8).

#### **Torso Orientation**

While ARKit comes with advanced, built-in functionality to track heads, it offers no facilities to track the user's lower body. Critically, body orientation needs to be established as it moves independently from the head. To capture chest *yaw*, I use the iPhone XR's user-facing depth camera to exact two bilaterally-symmetric patches on the user's torso and compute a chest yaw and pitch vector.

#### **Phone Orientation**

Using its IMU, the phone tracks its absolute 3-DOF orientation, establishing both north and down (i.e., gravity vector). I use this data to animate the avatar's hand holding the phone. More importantly, by combining this 3-DOF data with the aforementioned 6-DOF tracking of the user's head, I can now correctly orient the head with respect to the world, from which I can "hang" the rest of the user's body.

#### Arm & Hand (Holding Phone) Pose

At this stage, I know the relative spatial arrangement between the phone, head and torso. I assume the phone is held in one hand, and that an arm links the two (Figure 5.8). As the elbow and wrist joints are rarely seen in the user-facing camera view, I instead use the IK solver to generate a likely arm pose, articulating the avatar's elbow to connect the two points (i.e., shoulder to phone). As briefly noted in the last section, I also take into account phone orientation to articulate the wrist joint. Finally, I assume the phone is held in a standard grasp, and so I pose the avatar's fingers to match.

#### Arm & Hand (Not Holding Phone) Pose

For the arm not holding the phone, there is very little data to operate on. Although the shoulder is often visible in the user-facing RGB and depth cameras, once can almost never see the elbow, wrist, or hand. Fortunately, it is not uncommon for users to employ their other hand for input on the touchscreen. In such cases, I can use the cartesian touch screen location of the finger, in combination with the 6-DOF location of the phone relative to the torso, to pose a plausible arm. Furthermore, TouchPose (see Chapter 5.3.9) can then be employed on the capacitive image to estimate the full-hand pose.

#### **Absolute "World" Position**

So far, I have only discussed the relative spatial arrangement between body parts and orienting the body with respect to the gravity vector. Such data alone would allow Pose-on-the-Go to provide an upper body pose, locked to a frontal view (e.g., fixed to the chest normal, allowing the head to look around). With the addition of absolute 6-DOF "world" tracking, several more expressive dimensions can be enabled.

One of the main reasons I selected iOS as the development platform was ARKit's best-inclass absolute 6-DOF tracking. Apple's hardware-accelerated, inside-out sensing implementation combines both visual odometry using the rear camera and data from the iPhone's IMU. This allows the phone to track its movement and position in 3D space. Since Pose-on-the-Go positions the head relative to the phone, the torso relative to the head, the arms relative to the torso (and so on), I can use the phone's spatial data to not only translate the avatar accurately in space, but also rotate the avatar to match the direction the user is facing.

#### **Locomotion Mode & Leg Animation**

The 6-DOF location of a user's body allows to animate avatar locomotion, despite having no direct sensor data for the legs. To achieve this, I translate the avatar's upper body and run VRIK's locomotion solver, which contains animation support for bipedal locomotion. Stride length is a static parameter, and so to solve for different movement speeds, the leg animation is simply sped up or down, though this can produce unrealistic results. Additionally, small shifts in the user's posture and occasional position tracking errors even when the user is standing still can cause the IK solver to take errant steps.

To improve pose and animation quality, I leverage iOS's CMMotionActivity API [25], which provides the following locomotion mode predictions: stationary, walking, running, cycling, automotive and unknown, along with a confidence score. I found this prediction to a reliable filter, verses relying on motion alone to animate the legs. When the phone reports that a user is stationary, I do not animate the legs, except when turning the body. When walking, I set the stride length to that of a typical walk, while running requires a longer gait. By setting these parameters appropriately to a user's anthropometrics, a more realistic animation is achieved.

Although this process offers only a very coarse approximation of leg movements, when taken together with the full-body avatar, the output is reasonably convincing. Anecdotally, I found users to be quite forgiving – it may be that people do not attend to their absolute leg position (e.g., while walking) at the same level of scrutiny as their arms or head, where spatial errors are immediately commented upon.

#### Sittings/Standing & Body Height

Locomotion animation primarily leverages a user's X/Y translation in an environment. However, the Z-axis (e.g., elevation) is useful in detecting and representing other poses, such as sitting and stepping onto objects (Figure 5.9). As I have absolute 6-DOF position tracking, I simply calculate if the head is above or below its starting height, and correspondingly rig the avatar with this constraint. In cases where the user is now higher than standing, I can infer the user has stepped up onto an object and show the legs leaving the floor (Figure 5.9 far right). If the user is lower, the IK solver bends the legs constrained by the floor plane (Figure 5.9 center right). In general, this process is pretty crude as there are many ways to e.g., sit, squat, and kneel.

#### **Data Synchronization**

The system implementation is highly asynchronous, with a wide variety of sensors and processes running at different framerates. Most notably, the head tracking pipeline using the front camera runs at 15.5FPS, the depth camera-driven torso normal extraction runs at 11.8FPS, and



Figure 5.9: A user standing (far left), walking, (center left), sitting (center right) and standing on a box (far right) is mirrored by the avatar.

the phone's 6-DOF spatial tracking runs at 19.9FPS. I set other low priority processes, such as reading the finger touchscreen position, to 5FPS. All of this data is passed to the IK solver running in Unity, which is set to run at 60FPS, matching the screen refresh rate.

Fusing many data streams of varying framerates requires some strategy for effective alignment. For the prototype implementation, a pool of threads asynchronously receive and store the most recently received frame of data for each sensor. The main process loop, which runs at best effort given available CPU and GPU resources, simply uses the most recent data reported by all sensors. Although simple, I found this approach to be sufficient for the proof-of-concept system. An approach taking into account time-since-data-received could potentially extrapolate better live estimates of sensor values, and yield higher quality and lower-latency pose output.

#### Framerate, Latency and Power Draw

As noted above, Unity (which runs IK, animates and renders the avatar) runs at 60 FPS, though the underlying sensor data arrives at a variety of frequencies. The best measure of end-to-end latency is "motion-to-photon", which is the time taken between a user's motion and when the device's pixels reflect that change. For this, I used a 240 FPS camera to record the user and screen in the same scene. I found an average motion-to-photon latency of 358ms (SD=63ms). The implementation is very much a proof of concept, with minimal optimization, and thus these numbers should be viewed as a performance upper bound. For reference, Apple's Animoji feature [24], which digitizes people's faces as characters, runs with a latency of around ~150ms on an iPhone XR. I believe comparable performance should be achievable, certainly on future smartphones, which continue to make significant strides in compute power.

Pose-on-the-Go requires many sensors to be running, including three different cameras, which is energy-intensive. To quantify this, I measured the power draw with the iPhone XR on its home screen and also running the Pose-on-the-Go daemon. I found a power consumption delta of ~5.3W, which includes running all sensors and system processes like ARKit and CoreMotion. In practice, I found the iPhone XR could run continuously for ~2h, which closely matches what one would expect from the iPhone XR's 11.12Wh battery rating. Note that this power consumption number does not include running IK (not particularly intensive) or application graphics (highly variable depending on the app), which will add further burden.

# 5.4.3 Evaluation

I performed a series of studies, benchmarking Pose-on-the-Go against a professional-grade optical tracking system, which serves as a gold standard ground truth. Specifically, I used a Vicon system [244], with twelve MX40 cameras and four T160 cameras capturing at 120FPS. Vicon's software and Pose-on-the-Go produce equivalent 3D joint data (14 joints: head, torso, left shoulder, right shoulder, left elbow, right elbow, left wrist, right wrist, left hip, right hip, left knee, right knee, left foot and right foot), but in different coordinate systems. For analysis, I perform an extra post processing alignment step, designating the torso of both pose outputs as the body origin. I recruited 8 participants for the user studies (2 female) with ages ranging from 18 to 39 years (M=27.6 years); all were right-handed.

## **Head Orientation**

I asked participants to face a wall 1.5m away with four markers arranged in a rectangle. I asked participants to hold the phone in front of them in a natural position and perform the following head movements five times in a row, using the markers as a positioning guide.

- Pan left and then right across the middle of the markers.
- Pan up and then down across the middle of the markers.
- Pan clockwise around the perimeter of the markers.
- Pan counterclockwise around the perimeter of the markers.
- Pan across the markers in a "figure eight" pattern.
- Roll the head to comfortable extremes.

These motions allowed to evaluate the performance of Pose-on-the-Go's estimation of head yaw, pitch and roll. Across all participants, Pose-on-the-Go had a mean yaw, pitch and roll angular error of  $6.4^{\circ}$  ( $SD = 3.0^{\circ}$ ),  $5.4^{\circ}$  ( $SD = 1.6^{\circ}$ ) and  $10.7^{\circ}$  ( $SD = 4.0^{\circ}$ ) respectively.

#### **Torso Orientation**

In this task, I asked participants to rotate their chest left-to-right and back again (i.e., yaw), while trying their best to keep the phone held in the same position. This motion was completed five times per participant. From this data, I found Pose-on-the-Go deviated from the Vicon ground truth by a mean angular error of  $15.9^{\circ}$  ( $SD = 10.1^{\circ}$ ).

#### **Arm Pose (Hand Holding Phone)**

To gauge the accuracy of arm joint tracking, I asked the participants to perform the following motions with the smartphone five times each:

- Move the phone away from the body, and then towards.
- Move the phone left-to-right and then right-to-left.
- Move the phone up and then down.
- Move the phone clockwise in a ~50cm circle.
- Move the phone counterclockwise in a ~50cm circle.
- Move the phone in a "figure eight" ~50cm tall.

With the data from this task, I computed the spatial error for participants' wrists, elbows and shoulders. I found that Pose-on-the-Go had a mean 3D euclidean error of 18.0cm (SD=3.0cm) across all joints. Broken out by joint, wrists had the greatest error of 27.4cm (SD=4.7cm), followed by elbows (M=17.0cm, SD=3.9cm), and shoulders (M=9.7cm, SD=2.1cm). Unsurprisingly, error increases as the IK solver tries to estimate joints farther along bone linkages (here, the torso is the body origin).

#### Hand Orientation (Hand Holding Phone)

I asked the participants to hold the phone in their dominant hand and rotate it left-to-right (yaw), up-and-down (pitch), and twist it while keeping the screen facing them (roll), five time each using only their wrist (as best possible). From this data, I calculated a wrist angular joint error yaw, pitch and roll of  $11.5^{\circ}$  ( $SD = 2.3^{\circ}$ ),  $9.1^{\circ}$  ( $SD = 3.3^{\circ}$ ), and  $8.9^{\circ}$  ( $SD = 4.9^{\circ}$ ), respectively.

#### **Arm Pose (Hand Not Holding Phone)**

I asked the participants to use their non-dominant hand to touch the screen five times in a row, simulating typing, and then drop their arm to a resting position. This process was repeated five times, for a total of 25 screen taps. On this data, Pose-on-the-Go achieved an average 3D euclidean error of 20.9cm (SD=5.1cm), 13.4cm (SD=4.4cm), and 6.6cm (SD=1.2cm) for the wrist, elbow and shoulder joints respectively.

#### Leg Pose (Sitting/Standing)

In this task, I placed a chair and 25cm tall pedestal into the Vicon tracking area, 2.5m apart. I asked participants to sit in the chair for a few seconds, then stand up and walk over to the pedestal, and finally to step onto the pedestal. This procedure was repeated five times and provided a wide variety of poses to evaluate the quality of leg posing.

There was no significant difference between left and right leg accuracy, and so the results are combined. I found a mean 3D euclidean error of 8.9cm (SD=1.6cm), 14.2cm (SD=2.3cm), and 23.7cm (SD=3.1cm) for the hips, knees and feet respectively. This follows a similar trend as the arms, where the IK solver gets increasingly errorful father along bone linkages.

#### World Tracking

All of the analyses discussed so far have reported results in body coordinates (torso as the origin). However, Pose-on-the-Go also tracks and animates avatars moving around the world, and so I can evaluate the fidelity of absolute "world" position tracking. For data collection, I asked participants to walk the following paths continuously for 20 seconds each (with the aid of floor markers).

- Walk forwards 2m, then backwards 2m (repeatedly).
- Sidestep left 2m and then right 2m (repeatedly).
- Walk in a circle (2m diameter).
- Walk the perimeter a  $2 \times 2$  meter square.
- Walk in "figure eight" pattern in a  $4 \times 2m$  area.

I use the avatar's torso point for analysis. Across all walked paths and participants, I found a mean 3D world euclidean error of 11.2cm (SD=5.7cm). Across X, Y and Z axes individually (Z is up), the mean euclidean errors are 11.6cm (SD=6.0cm), 15.2cm (SD=9.5cm) and 6.9cm (SD=3.9cm) respectively.

#### Head Height Tracking (Z)

The "world" tracking procedure described in the previous section did not vary the height of the user (other than natural variation during locomotion). For this reason, the height of the head varied by ~20cm over the entire data collection period. To more fully evaluate head height, I instead use the data collected in the previous Leg Pose (Sitting/Standing) study, where users were asked to sit and step onto a pedestal. Using this data, but now with absolute tracking, I found a mean head euclidean Z-axis error of 9.6cm (SD=4.6cm).



Figure 5.10: A) A fantasy game, where users can fight with swords and cast spells using arm movements. B) A futuristic third-person shooter, where a user can physically run and duck, while using their phone to aim and shoot a laser weapon.

#### Locomotion

I use the data from the body "world" tracking study to estimate the fidelity of Pose-on-the-Go's locomotion animation. Rather than spatially compare every step taken, which I previously noted can be 180 degrees out of phase, I instead evaluate the movement sequence holistically to see if the avatar is locomoting in a faithful way. For this, I compare the number of steps the user took in reality vs. number of steps taken by the Pose-on-the-Go avatar. Across all participants, the average step count error is 6.3% (SD=2.74%). In other words, if a user takes 100 steps, their avatar will have been animated taking 6.3% more of fewer steps on average.

#### **Obstacle Course**

All of the prior studies focused on different sets of joints in purposely designed tasks. To test the efficacy of the full-body motion capture system, I conducted a less constrained study where the participants were asked to walk in a  $4 \times 2m$  area in a "figure eight" repeatedly. During this I asked them to look at different targets randomly and occasionally asked them to sit down, stand on the pedestal and touch their screens (akin to an "obstacle course" methodology, see e.g., [34, 110]. I then calculated participants' full body 3D euclidean error and also their world position error.

In this task, the average Euclidean error is 20.9cm (SD=2.6cm) across all participants and all joints. I found that the legs were out of phase 39.8% of the time (which I corrected for when computing leg joint error). The world tracking accuracy broken out by X, Y and Z axes is 30.5cm (SD=17.7cm), 32.8cm (SD=19.0cm) and 10cm (SD=3.3cm) respectively.

#### 5.4.4 Example Uses

To illustrate the utility and feasibility of Pose-on-the-Go, I selected three use domains – gaming, social apps, and health – and created two proof-of-concept demo apps for each category.

## Gaming

The first demo application I created was a third-person fantasy game (Figure 5.10 A). The user can select among different weapons by tapping on the screen, which are controlled through arm motion. For example, a sword can be swung in the air, using the phone as a proxy for the hilt. I also included a magic wand, where various spells can be cast by tracing different paths in the air (e.g., a circle to cast a fireball). In this example app, walking forwards/backwards and turning left/right could be controlled on the phone using up/down and left/right swipes on the phone's screen, allowing the user to stand or sit without moving their body.

For the second game — a third-person futuristic shooter — I utilize the user's actual absolute body position and pose (Figure 5.10 B), allowing them to physically walk around the virtual environment, and also duck behind cover to avoid enemy fire. In this game, the phone is a proxy for a handheld laser, allowing the user to both aim and shoot with their arm.

#### **Social Apps**

There are many smartphone apps that capture a user's face and digitally transform or augment it for social purposes, such as Apple's Animoji [24] and Snapchat's Lenses [219]. The latter software is also an example of full-body AR augmentation, through this app augments other users (i.e., captured through the rear facing camera) rather than the holder of the phone. Such AR augmentation and "avatarization" has value in both entertainment and professional collaborative contexts [42, 48, 191]. With Pose-on-the-Go, I can immediately extend Animoji-style face capture with full-body versions. As an example, I created a bear avatar that can wave, hug, jump, and make a wide variety of other expressive, full-body motions (Figure 5.11 A).

#### Health

Finally, there are many examples in fitness and rehabilitation where capturing a user's pose could be especially valuable. As a proof of concept, I created two applications. The first is a fitness app (Figure 5.11 B), where exercises like squats and lunges could be counted or timed, as well as evaluated for quality (e.g., squat height, lunge distance). As a second example, I created an app that presents a series of targets that the user must reach with their hands and maintain balance (Figure 5.11 B), which could be part of a larger physical therapy regiment.

## 5.4.5 Limitations

It is important to note that Pose-on-the-Go is only an estimation of full-body pose, and it not meant to compete with high-accuracy tracking systems (e.g. Vicon), which are used in film post-production and similar uses requiring high fidelity. Indeed, this is the inherent tradeoff that comes with building a system that requires no new, special or external sensors, and instead attempts to maximize use of the data already available to it. Nonetheless, Pose-on-the-Go's accuracy should


Figure 5.11: A) Full-body "Animoji" enabled by Pose-on-the-Go, where users can wave (left) and hug (right). B) A tool for health sensing such as counting squats (left) and reaching targets for physical rehabilitation (right).

be sufficient for a wide range of casual gaming and social apps. That said, there are several areas where the system falls short, which are worth reviewing, pointing to potential future work.

First is incomplete data about the body, most notably the arm not holding the phone, which is almost never digitized except when the user touches the screen. This potentially could be remedied with the advent of wider field-of-view, user-facing cameras, which might better capture the elbow, or at least the upper arm with respect to the shoulder joint. The hand also might occasionally appear. The other body location I can only loosely approximate are the legs, animated based on absolute body motion and fixed stride lengths derived from a locomotion mode prediction. This is sufficient to animate the avatar, but is not true body capture. For this reason, walking animations can be totally out of leg phase from reality. Other joints, such as the hips and knees are entirely estimated by the IK solver, and are essentially an interpolation between other known pose data.

Latency is another limitation of the current implement. At ~350ms, it starts to degrade the realism of the full-body tracking. Experiences would have to be designed to accommodate such latency, an issue also faced in many Xbox Kinect titles. In particular, the arm not holding the phone can only start animating once a finger touches the screen and has lag closer to one second (when animation is applied) with no immediate avenue for improvement. Of course, even commercial systems have some lag – Apple's Animoji feature, which also fuses data from RGB and depth user-facing cameras, has a latency of ~150ms.

Another limitation is computational complexity and power demand. This will require significant optimization efforts, but I do believe it is possible as demonstrated by Animoji-type features found on many smartphones today, as well as pose tracking of other users (via the rear camera) in e.g., PoseNet [188], SnapChat [219], and ARKit [23]. These processes are also heavyweight, but have been highly engineered and take advantage of hardware acceleration in order to run at interactive speeds. Of course, Pose-on-the-Go has to contend with more sensors, including all three iPhone cameras, which impacts battery life when running applications utilizing full-body pose features.



Figure 5.12: In this example scene (left image), two users (A and B) face one another, perhaps playing a mobile AR game where full-body tracking could be valuable for expressive input. Unfortunately, neither phone is able to see – and thus digitize – its owner's body. However, User B's phone (right image) can see User A (and vice versa) through its rear facing camera. BodySLAM uses this view to capture and digitize the body, hands and mouth of User A and shares the data (visualized as A'). User A does the same for User B, providing ad hoc full-body tracking (B') without having to instrument either the user or environment.

# 5.4.6 Conclusion

I have presented Pose-on-the-Go, a sensor fusion approach that allows smartphones to estimate their owners' full-body pose using only internal sensors. I benchmark the pose tracking output against a "hollywood-grade" optical tracking system requiring retroreflective markers. While only a coarse estimation of body pose, it nonetheless opens up new and interesting whole-body applications, ranging from mobile AR games to more expressive social and collaborative inter-actions.

# 5.5 Towards Multi-User Digitization in Mobile XR Experiences

# 5.5.1 Introduction

My previous pose capture approaches such as Pose-on-the-Go focused on the digitization of a single user. On the other hand, many prior approaches, such as GymCam in Section 4.3 make use of an external camera for tracking multiple users. Here I will explore the concept of multi-user digitization, but without the need for an external sensor. To this extent, I present BodySLAM - a system takes an orthogonal approach and tackles making multi-user digitization (Figure 5.12) more practical. To do so, it takes advantage of an emerging use case: co-located, multi-user AR/VR experiences. Although nascent, the application space is already diverse, ranging from co-located 3D modeling [43, 217] and AR-augmented collaborative spaces [183, 207], to telemedicine and multi-player games [15, 44].



Figure 5.13: Example camera views (A-E) from co-located users wearing AR headsets, which BodySLAM uses to digitize the body pose, hand gesture, mouth state and apparel of participants. This data is then relayed back to users (shaded insets), offering advanced functionality without the need for worn instrumentation. BodySLAM also generates a scene topology (bottom right).

BodySLAM makes it possible to have shared and ad-hoc extended reality experiences in dynamic environments without the need for any additional hardware or setup. In such contexts, participants are often able to see each other's bodies, hands, mouths, apparel, and other visual facets, even though they generally cannot see their own bodies. Using the existing outwards-facing cameras on smartphones and AR/VR headsets (e.g., Microsoft HoloLens, Oculus Quest), these visual dimensions can be opportunistically captured and digitized, and then relayed back to their respective users in real time (enabling e.g., full-body motion capture and hand gesture recognition) without any special instrumentation. This is the key insight that motivated the work on BodySLAM.

The system name was inspired by SLAM (simultaneous localization and mapping) techniques for mapping unknown environments [50, 75]. In these systems, many viewpoints are used to reconstruct the geometry of the environment. In a similar vein, BodySLAM uses disparate camera views from many participants (Figure 5.13, User views A-E) to map the geometric arrangement of other users in the environment (Figure 5.13, bottom right), as well localize the capturing user's position in the scene. the system also captures fine-grained details, such as hand and mouth pose, as well as visual attributes such as apparel. When a person is seen by two or more users (Figure 5.13, views of User D from Users B and C), I also estimate 3D pose data.

# 5.5.2 Related Work

There has been significant prior work in motion capture and reconstruction of scenes. I have already covered prior works in body digitization in Section 2.2. Thus, I will now cover prior works on multiview geometry and similar reconstruction techniques, concluding with efforts in the domain of creating shared AR/VR experiences.

### **Scene Reconstruction**

There has been a plethora of research in the robotics and computer vision community on scene and multiview reconstruction. These include the aforementioned simultaneous localization and mapping (SLAM) based techniques that help place objects in an unknown environment [75]. Visual SLAM approaches can rely on multiview stereo [50], visual odometry [181] and structure from motion [129]. Similarly, BodySLAM uses multiple views to reconstruct user topology, and multi-view stereo to estimate 3D pose information.

### **Collocated AR/VR**

The HCI community has lightly explored collocated AR/VR experiences through different enabling technologies. For instance, Side-by-Side [257] used handheld projectors (emitting both visible and infrared light) to create multi-user experiences, such as gaming. SynchronizAR [104] demonstrated collaborative gaming through a smartphone AR app with indoor localization. HoloRoyale [201] provides a comprehensive design space exploration of large-scale high-fidelity collaborative AR experiences. Commercially, Apple's ARKit allows for shared AR experiences, where many users can join using their own smartphones. Finally, Imaginary Reality Games [37] creates virtual playgrounds for participants to play sports.

## 5.5.3 System Architecture

I now describe the three high-level components that form the basis of BodySLAM.

#### **Exemplary AR/VR Prototypes**

I created three exemplary prototypes that cover different AR/VR modalities. These include an iPhone XR smartphone for mobile (i.e., "passthrough") AR, a HoloKit headset [100] for AR (center), and a Google Cardboard [54] for VR (right). I fitted each of these devices with printed 7x7 cm ArUco tag [176] for spatial tracking. For the two headsets, unique tags are placed on all four sides for user identification from any viewpoint. For the mobile AR prototype, a single tag is placed on the back of the phone.

### **Client Software**

BodySLAM employs a client-server paradigm. I created two client implementations, with different approaches for computation. First is a smartphone app that streams camera data using RTSP over WiFi to our backend server for computer vision processing. Although this architecture can leverage greater CPU and GPU resources, it incurs a latency penalty. On average, it takes 110 ms for video to reach the server, followed by 154 ms of processing, and a further 10 ms for processed data to be returned to the client. In total, our system latency is roughly 300 ms at a frame rate of 9 Hz.

The second client implementation runs all computer vision on the smartphone. For this, I use PoseNets [188], a lightweight pose estimator that reports body keypoints. Although missing hand and face tracking capabilities, it nonetheless offers a useful proof-of-concept for a more self-sufficient system. ArUco detection and tracking also runs locally, using JSArUco [119]. Processed data is then sent to the server for final processing (e.g., 3D pose via stereo correspondence) and distribution to other clients. End-to-end latency is around 150ms, and the full stack runs at 12Hz on an iPhone XR (see demo in Video Figure). Given the tremendous strides phone manufacturers are making with hardware accelerated deep learning, a fully featured and full framerate pose tracking pipeline should be possible in the near future.

For the VR client software and the two AR clients, I sync the overlaid pose of in-view people with the gyroscope of the smartphone, so that the latency of the real-time view (limited by camera FPS in the VR and Mobile AR implementations) is decoupled from the FPS of pose tracking. For demonstration, the interface is chiefly a passthrough view, on top of which I superimpose the wearer's body, hand, face, skin and apparel if provided by others.

#### Backend

the backend (i.e., cloud) server is a 12-core Intel Core i7 with three Nvidia 1080 Ti GPUs. The server software is a multi-threaded listener, which listens for connections and data from clients. The server maintains global state and multicasts it back to registered clients. For the AR and VR headset prototypes, the client smartphones stream camera frames over WiFi to the backend for computer vision processing. For the mobile VR prototype, all computer vision processing happens on the smartphone and only pose data is transmitted to the server.

## 5.5.4 Processing Pipeline

I now describe the core processes that form the main computer vision and machine learning pipeline.

### **Identifying and Localizing Users**

The first stage of the computer vision pipeline is to find and track participants in each camera view. As noted in Apparatus, users are assigned unique ArUco tags. For the headsets, four tags are used, which identify the user and the side of the head. The front-facing ArUco tag is considered the user's origin, and the left, right, and rear tags have known rotational and spatial offsets to this origin. If multiple tags from one user are visible, I use the tag most-frontal to the viewer, as this provides the most stable tracking result. In the self-contained mobile AR client I use JSArUco for tracking; for the backend computer vision pipeline I use OpenCVs ArUco marker implementation [47]. In both cases, I use a time-to-live of one second to provide stability against momentary losses in tracking (e.g., occlusion, motion blur). The result of this process is the relative 3D position and orientation of every user that is seen by others, with wearers as the origin.

### Scene Topology

As users cannot see themselves, it means everyone is given their position and pose data by someone else. This pairwise information is used to create a directional graph, with distance and angle information. Note that users that see no one can still be added to the graph if at least one person sees them. Also, a user that is not seen by anyone can still be added to the graph if they see at least one person, as show-cased in Figure 5.13.

To create a global scene topology, the software finds the most complete graph with a depthfirst search. Although links are directional in reality (i.e., one person sees another), the origins can be inverted to make them functionally bi-directional. I move from one person to another, building a unified 3D coordinate system by multiplying individual user's transformation matrices as they are added. This way the whole operation is limited to the order of O(V+E) where V is the number of people and E is the number of people seen by each person.

#### **Body, Hand and Mouth Pose**

Once participants are localized in a common coordinate system, the next step is to extract finegrained body details. For this, I use PoseNets [188] on the mobile AR client and OpenPose [53] running on the backend server for the worn VR and AR clients. Both packages provide body keypoints, however only OpenPose provides hand and face keypoints.

#### 2D Pose via Multi-Viewpoint Selection

If a user is seen by exactly one person, I must make best use of this limited keypoint data. Unfortunately, this view is rarely frontal, and so I attempt to transform it to a frontal view using the algorithm in Kostrikov et al. [131], which estimates 3D keypoints given 2D keypoints. With this estimated 3D output, I can rotate to a synthetic frontal view.

In multiuser settings, where a user might be seen by several people, the software selects the most frontal of the views for this transformation. Although other views might contain more tracked keypoints, I found in practice that the more frontal the view, the truer the pose following rotation.

#### **3D** Pose via Stereo Correspondence

In cases where users are seen by two or more people, I can estimate 3D body pose. For this, I take the pair that minimizes the reprojection error of the 3D pose back onto the image. For each selected pair, I move all the cameras to a homogeneous coordinate frame using the 6 DOF data from users' ArUco tags. I then run a 3D point triangulation [97] to estimate the 3D position for each body keypoint. As before, I rotate this view to be frontal when presenting the data to the wearer in the client app.

#### **Skin and Apparel Color Estimation**

For skin color, I extract patches from the neck, hands and lower face (which are the least likely to be occluded by clothing) and compute the median color. For shirts, I take an image patch between the hips and torso keypoints, and similarly compute the median the color. For pants, I extract a patch from above the left and right knees of a user.

#### Hand Gesture Recognition

As a proof-of-concept of a downstream use of pose data, the system performs real-time hand gesture recognition. I support five gestures: okay, thumbs up, high five, fist and peace sign. For machine learning features, I calculate unit direction vectors from all hand keypoints to the wrist. These converts the data from a higher-dimensional pixel-space to a scale invariant feature space. These are fed to a standard multiclass classifier (MLP; sklearn, default parameters).

#### **Mouth State Recognition**

I also perform mouth state recognition, supporting neutral, smile and mouth open gestures. Similar to the hand gesture process, I compute unit direction vectors for all mouth keypoints using the left mouth corner as the origin. As before, I pass this feature vector to a MLP classifier (sklearn, default parameters) for prediction.

# 5.5.5 User Study

To better evaluate the performance of BodySLAM in different use contexts, the study procedure varied the activity (static vs. dynamic), distance between participants (2 or 4 meters) and group size (one-on-one vs. small group). As a proof-of-concept apparatus I used the Holokit AR proto-type, so that participants could see each other and BodySLAM data. the backend software saved

processed camera frames for later evaluation. All classifiers were pre-trained on five independent users and ran live during data collection.

#### **Static Activity**

I chose a meeting context as an exemplary static activity. In the one-on-one condition, this was equivalent to a standing, face-to-face discussion. For this, I recruited three pairs of participants, and had them repeat the study procedure at 2 and 4 meters apart. At each distance, I asked both participants to perform the following actions sequentially, in a random order:

- *10 body gestures*: hands by side, right hand raised, left hand raised, arms crossed, hands behind head, arms stretched horizontally, hands on hips, sitting down with arms at rest, sitting down with arms crossed, and sitting down with chin resting on hands.
- 5 hand gestures: okay, thumbs up, high five, fist and peace sign.
- 3 mouth states: neutral, smile and mouth open.

Participants saw their live pose and gesture classification results in the AR overlay, which they judged and verbal stated to be correct or incorrect, which was recorded by the experimenter. Participants pairs repeated the two distance conditions three times each, for a total of six collection sessions. For the small group condition, I mimicked a conference room setting. I recruited two groups of 5 participants, who were seated around a table. Participants completed the same 10 body gestures, 5 hand gestures and 3 face gestures using the same procedure above.

During the study, BodySLAM also captured shirt, pant and skin color. After completing all sessions, I had users select their own skin color on a printed Fitzpatrick scale [206], which I later compared to BodySLAM's estimate. To assess the quality of shirt and pant color estimation, the extracted colors were shown to participants, who judged it as either accurate or inaccurate.

## **Dynamic Activity**

As an exemplary dynamic activity, I used a ball game (Figure 5.13), where participants were told to achieve the highest number of consecutive passes without dropping the ball. After fitting participants with the Holokit AR prototype, I let them play for five minutes, during which BodySLAM ran continuously on all headsets. Distance between participants varied as they moved around the space, as did their head direction and pose, especially when having to pick up dropped balls. For the one-on-one condition, I recruited three new pairs of participants to play the game. For groups, I recruited two sets of five players.

## 5.5.6 Results

BodySLAM tracks many user dimensions, and as such, I break the discussion of the results into four parts: user registration in the scene topology, keypoint tracking, gesture recognition, and skin/apparel extraction. As noted previously, all classifiers were trained before the study, and thus all accuracy numbers reported here are cross-user results.

#### **User Identification and Tracking**

Across all conditions, the average percentage of participants captured and registered in the scene topology was 95.2%. In the one-on-one conditions, both static and dynamic activities, registration was 100%. Even when one user had to bend down to pick up a dropped ball, the other user was able to capture them and add them to the global scene topology. Surprisingly, this performed better than the static small group condition (89%). In the latter setting, users were sitting fairly close, and often only captured one or two other participants in the camera's field of view. Depending on the group foci, this sometimes led to disjoint graphs (e.g., two participants looking at each other, but not seen by anyone else). The group ball game had the worst registration performance (87%), which I found was chiefly due to high motion blur causing ArUco tracking to fail.

#### **Body, Hand and Mouth Keypoints**

I considered capturing 3D ground truth keypoints for users' bodies, hands and mouths using a professional optical tracking system. This required dozens of markers to be worn by the participants, which was cumbersome to setup and prone to breakage in the ball game condition. I also found that the markers interfered with the computer vision pipeline, especially on the hands and mouth. I instead decided to avoid instrumenting the participants and use human annotators to post hoc code the live tracking output from the system.

For the one-on-one conditions, I extracted one frame every second (image with keypoints overlaid), yielding 1184 frames. For the small group conditions, I randomly sampled 1000 frames. These frames were split equally between two annotators, who coded each frame as correctly or incorrectly registered to all users visible in the view. A correct registration required 1) more than 80% of visible keypoints in the frame to be detected and 2) that all keypoint centers intersected with their respective body joint. Overall registration accuracy was 95%, 93% and 83% accuracy for body, hand and mouth keypoint registration.

#### Self-Assessed Body Pose Quality

As described previously, participants were shown their body pose (provided by other participants via BodySLAM) in their AR headsets. In the static activity conditions, participants were asked to perform one of 10 possible body poses. The experimenter then verbally asked, "does the pose you see on your screen match the pose you are holding." In 94% of instances, participants agreed. Failure cases were usually due to gross keypoint registration errors.



Figure 5.14: Percentage of bodies captured for random (A) and common focus body orientations (B) in simulated rooms of different size and occupant count.

#### Hand and Mouth Gesture Recognition

BodySLAM uses hand and mouth keypoints for multiclass gesture classification. In the static activity conditions, I found a mean hand classification accuracy of 88% and a mean mouth state recognition of 91%. Unlike body pose, which benefits from greater distance between participants (such that the whole body is visible), hand and mouth classification benefit from being closer in order to provide sufficient camera resolution to resolve fine details.

#### **Skin Color and Apparel Detection**

As described above, participants selected their own skin color from a printed Fitzpatrick scale [206] during the study. I compared this number to BodySLAM's skin color estimate and found a mean error of 0.7 (SD=1.0). For pant and shirt color, all of the participants rated BodySLAM's estimated colors as accurate.

### 5.5.7 Simulation Study

To explore how BodySLAM might scale to larger spaces and numbers of people (e.g., conferences, stadiums), I ran software simulations in virtual rooms. I tested different virtual room sizes: 3x3, 10x10, 30x30 and 100x100 meters). I also varied the number of people in the room, as well as their orientation behavior (random body orientations or common focus body orientations).

I used a 90° virtual camera field of view, matching an average mid-tier smartphone camera. Maximum body registration range was set to 14 meters, which I found to be the practical limit of ArUco tag detection at HD camera resolution. I model users as 50 cm circles that cannot be closer than 50 cm to one another, though I note that I do not model occlusion. Each combination of parameters was simulated 100 times, with detection statistics averaged. Results can be seen in Figure 5.14 broken out by random (A) and common (B) focus body orientations.

# 5.5.8 Limitations

The most immediate limitation of the approach is its heavy computational requirement. Running computer vision (pose modes and ArUco detection) on mobile hardware is taxing. the process runs at around 12 FPS on an iPhone XR, much slower than native camera frame rate, and more critically, has a noticeable lag for users (150ms; see Section 5.5.3). Note that this lag applies to BodySLAM data only, and not the AR/VR graphics, which can run at full frame rate. Nonetheless, a mismatch between e.g., a user seen in AR and their body data could induce discomfort. Processing latency can also produce incorrect 3D pose estimations due to out of sync stereo correspondences. Fortunately, smartphone manufacturers are increasingly including hardware accelerated deep learning capabilities, which should improve performance in the coming years. For example, BlazePose [38] makes use of such optimizations and can run at above 30 Hz on modern smartphones.

I also note that BodySLAM is limited by the field of view of the rear-facing camera and occlusion in the environment. A user can lose pose tracking if they are not in the field of view of any other user. The likelihood of this occurring can be decreased by the use of ultra-wide-angle cameras, which are becoming more common in the market (e.g., Samsung S10 has 123° FOV, iPhone 11 has 120°).

Another issue with the current design is that the apparel color estimation can only work for apparels with single colors. Thus large printed designs and multi-colored apparels will lead to decrease in accuracy. In such cases a texture based approach might work better than color estimation. Furthermore, since the color of the apparel is extracted based on joint locations, it is more likely to work on garments that fully cover the wearers' body (and fail on e.g., short shorts and crop tops).

As noted in Section 5.5.6, I could not not use an optical tracking system for ground truth as it interfered with the computer vision pipeline. Instead, I had human annotators subjectively rate each keypoint as correctly placed or not (i.e., a binary rating), as opposed to a continuous spatial accuracy metric such as euclidean error. This experimental compromise permitted us to run a user study, but at the expense of reporting precision. For some insight into per-joint error, accuracy benchmarks on public datasets can be found in [53, 188].

I also acknowledge that the use of ArUco for person detection and relative 3D spatial localization is inelegant, requiring instrumentation of headsets or smartphones. Additionally, although I have a tracker and time-to-live associated with each detected ArUco marker, in cases of extreme occlusion and motion blur, this process can fail in registering users. In such events markerless based ID approaches could be used. For the mobile AR use case, face recognition could be used to dispense with the need for an ArUco tag. In the two headset form factors, the face is mostly occluded, and so matching would have to occur based on body biometrics, apparel and other person attributes as seen in deep learning based person re-identification [156, 285].

Finally, the current implementation relies on the cloud to collect and disseminate pose data, and also run advanced features such as 3D pose estimation using views from several users. This

requires internet connectivity and contributes almost half of the system's total latency. In the future, it could be that proximate devices create ad hoc wireless networks to share pose information more directly with others.

# 5.5.9 Conclusion

I have described the work on BodySLAM, which shows that it is possible to use the existing cameras in AR/VR experiences to opportunistically capture the bodies, hands, mouths and appearance of participants in multi-user settings. This offers functionality that would otherwise have to be achieved with additional special-purpose sensors, either worn or installed in the environment. I combine user studies with software simulations to evaluate how well the system scales across rooms and group sizes. While there are innate limitations of the ad hoc approach, its software-only nature makes it unique in the literature. In future iterations, mobile versions of BodySLAM can be combined with sensor fusion techniques as those presented in Pose-on-the-Go for an even higher fidelity pose capture of the users, further decreasing its reliability on opportunistic capture.

# Part III

# **Improving User Practicality while maintaining Digitization Richness**

# Chapter 6

# Overview

Computing devices such as microphones and cameras are becoming increasingly prevalent in our daily lives, and in the consumer devices around us. Much of my prior, research detailed in Part II has made use of these sensors. They showcase that full-body pose capture from ubiquitous devices like smartphones are possible and useful for certain applications. While these approaches present new avenues for increasing user digitization richness, their practicality can further be enhanced by tackling two key challenges.

# 6.1 Privacy and Invasiveness

The first pertains to tackling the the privacy and invasiveness challenges presented by cameras and microphones as a data stream. The high fidelity inherent in these sensors is a double-edged sword. In general, as the richness of the sensing modality increases, so does the range of states and events that it can sense. Unfortunately, privacy implications tend to also grow in lockstep, to the point where many people do not want to use such sensors. For example, a high-fidelity sensor like a microphone can tell what activity you are doing (4.2), which device you're addressing (3.1) and many other valuable facets. But at the same time, it can identify you through your voice, log conversations, etc. - dimensions you might not want e.g., smart refrigerator to know. On the other hand, low-fidelity sensors are generally much more specific in the types of events they can sense. For instance, a smart smoke alarm can detect smoke but does not know who you are or what you are doing. Ideally, we want approaches that have a low potential for privacy invasiveness but retain high fidelity, to power rich, end-user applications. As I will describe in greater detail in Chapter 7.9, I have explored an approach that advocates for inherently privacy-aware sensing systems.

Such a sensing modality would enable the digitization of the user analogous to that of a camera and microphone, but with the low invasiveness of a sensor such as a barometer. It is to be noted that even though we move towards more lower-fidelity signals that do not encode the representation of the user in "human understandable" format while looking at the signal,

computers can still decipher representations of the user from it. Thus, such inherently privacyaware sensing systems are another tool in the arsenal to other approaches already present. They are not a replacement for policy based methods, or other techniques such as featurization and computing on the edge, differentiable privacy or data encryption techniques. Rather, they are to be used in conjunction with them to enable even higher security. We will cover this in greater detail in the following Chapter and particularly in Section 7.8.

# 6.2 Passive and Longitudinal Sensing

The second challenge is the opportunistic nature of the approaches discussed thus far. The prior works described in this thesis that capture the whole-body such as Pose-on-the-Go 5.4.6 and BodySLAM 5.5.9 rely on the user always holding the phone in their hands or carrying them on their headsets to enable pose capture. This limits their ease-of-use and applicability in-the-wild. Ideally, we want a solution that enables accurate and holistic full-body pose but without the constraint of the phone always being actively in the user's hand. Further, it should still be minimally invasive and should not be limited to a particular device configuration (e.g. only smartphone in the hand). It should be lightweight enough to run on the edge, adaptive to the different consumer devices the user carries on with them and should ideally enable pose observations from low-fidelity data steams that are privacy-aware. Such properties would make it a practical and powerful tool for long-term behavior modeling. Chapter 8.10 covers such a proposed approach in greater detail.

# Chapter 7

# **Privacy-Aware User Digitization**

# 7.1 Introduction

Future smart homes and offices will need to be able to digitize their users in order to intelligently adapt to the environment and respond to their users' needs. In addition to IMU, capacitive, camera and audio based approaches I have discussed, we also need to bring new sensors to bear, to inform the next generation of computing platforms. These can either be mobile or even be ambient sensors, to track users no matter what devices they carry on their person. If these devices are going into peoples homes, offices and settings of daily use, we need to tackle several practicality and deployability considerations, one important aspect of which is privacy and invasiveness.

An incredible variety of technical approaches for digitizing the user's have been considered over many decades of research. While tagging every object in the environment with sensors can be used to infer activity [233, 234], this approach is expensive, hard to maintain, and often visually obtrusive. Therefore, the trend has been towards centralized sensing, either a worn device (*e.g.*, smartwatches) or with *e.g.*, microphones or cameras operating in an environment [123, 141]. While more practical, these high-fidelity sensors also raise significant privacy concerns. Indeed, many users are wary of microphones and cameras recording them in their homes, especially after recent data leaks [72]. For this reason, there is renewed interest in identifying and exploring sensing modalities that are inherently more privacy preserving, yet sufficiently rich to enable fine-grained activity recognition.

In this work [8], I explore one such sensor: the millimeter wave (mmWave) Doppler radar. Owing to their extensive use in security and automobile applications, the price of these sensors has fallen dramatically, to even just a few dollars for basic units (*e.g.*, RCWL-0516, HB100 and LV002 Doppler sensors). More sophisticated frequency-modulated continuous wave (FMCW) sensors cost around \$30 USD [74]. Both types of radar sensors are solid state and small enough to be integrated into consumer devices, such as smart speakers and smartphones [153]. These radar sensors emit a known RF signal, and any motion in the scene (either from users or objects) causes reflected signals to be Doppler-shifted, which can then be used to create a 1-D Doppler

	Training Data	No. Classes	Accuracy	
<b>TSN</b> [253]	3] RGB Video		94.2%	
TTDD_FV [252]	RGB Video	20	90.3%	
LTC [241]	RGB Video	20	91.7%	
<b>KVMF</b> [290]	RGB Video	20	93.1%	
VideoDarwin [85]	RGB Video	51	63.7%	
<b>MPR</b> [180]	RGB Video	51	65.5%	
<b>Zhao</b> et al. [284]	RGB-D video	12	89.1%	
Ubicoustics [141]	Audio	30	82.1%	
Liang et al. [151]	Audio	15	83.6%	
Fu et al. [87]	Doppler Ultrasound	3	92.0%	
<b>Radhar</b> [216]	Doppler Radar	5	94.7%	
Erol et al. [83]	Doppler Radar	7	92.8%	
Kim et al. [126]	Doppler Radar	8	82.6%	
My Approach	Doppler Radar	12	95.9%	
My Approach	Synthetic Doppler	12	81.4%	

Table 7.1: Activity recognition systems that make use of external sensors (i.e., not worn).

plot. In the case of FMCW sensors, a 2-D plot of range *vs*. the Doppler shift of signals can be produced. Although some biomechanical attributes are expressed in the Doppler signal (*e.g.*, limb gait while walking), this has only been shown to recognize people from a small set of users [196], and not from the population at large. Indeed, it would seem hard to be embarrassed by leaked Doppler data, in contrast to a video or audio recording that can easily reveal identity and capture sensitive content [52, 190].

That said, Doppler radar faces a significant challenge: bootstrapping machine learning classifiers. Unlike audio and computer vision approaches that can draw from huge libraries of videos to train machine learning models, Doppler radar has no existing large datasets. All prior Doppler sensing work I could find in the literature had to collect their own bespoke training data for recognition tasks. The scale of data appears to be so limited that the full potential of techniques like deep learning techniques remains to be seen.

In this work, I propose a unique software pipeline that allows unstructured videos to be transformed into synthetic Doppler radar data that can then be used for training. This process opens up an unparalleled volume of training data for Doppler sensors, closing an important gap and elevating the feasibility of Doppler sensing for activity recognition. Results from the user study show that training a model using the proof-of-concept synthetic data output (81.4% accuracy) is roughly comparable in accuracy to training with native sensor data (90.2% accuracy) – a loss of around 8.8% in accuracy in a 12-class activity recognition task. If I augment the large synthetic dataset with just a few minutes of user data captured with an in-situ sensor, accuracy jumps to 95.9%, suggesting a mixed approach could be successful while minimizing user burden.

# 7.2 Related Work

I first briefly review related work on activity recognition powered many different sensing modalities, and then more specifically focus on approaches that leverage Doppler shifts induced by human motion.

# 7.2.1 Doppler-Based Sensing

Energy waves undergo Doppler shift when reflecting off moving objects. These waves can be sound [194, 196], radio frequencies (RF) [64, 216], visible light [14, 98], or even gravitational waves [36]. Given the focus on practical and deployable systems, the HCI community typically relies on microphone- and RF-based Doppler sensing. The ubiquity of microphones makes them extremely popular for sensing Doppler shifts (most often in ultrasonic frequency ranges so as to not interfere with human hearing). Using sound-based approaches, researchers have enabled large in-air gestures [95, 194], fine-grained hand gestures [84, 254], multi-device interactions [28, 61], and activity recognition [87].

In recent years, RF-based Doppler sensors have become significantly cheaper and more accessible. RF systems also tend to offer superior range than ultrasonic Doppler techniques, and can sometimes operate through walls. Prior work has explored through-the-wall person detection [69, 194, 231], human gesture recognition [64, 92, 148], respiratory monitoring [147], and signs of life detection [63]. Closer to this work are papers investigating RF-based Doppler sensing for activity recognition. Chen *et al.* proposed an in-home Wi-Fi signal-based activity recognition framework using passive micro-Doppler signatures [64]. Using deep learning, Chen *et al.* monitored daily activities and detected falling accidents [65, 66, 67]. Similarly, Singh *et al.* used a sparse point cloud from a mmWave Radar sensor for recognizing five different human activities [216]. A commonality in this prior work is the need for in-situ training data to develop machine learning models, which are specific to the use domain and collection environment. Given this data is manually collected, the volume of training data used in these systems is comparatively small compared to audio- and video-derived datasets.

# 7.2.2 Synthesizing Doppler Data

Using data sources such as videos, motion capture, and animated 3D models, prior work has synthesized training data for IMU [103, 135], audio [29, 288], depth camera [192] and human pose [242] powered-systems. The idea to specifically synthesize Doppler data to mitigate training data issues is not new either. In particular, Lin *et al.* explored using MoCap data to synthesize Doppler data for walking and running with some success [155]. Unfortunately, MoCap data is generally sparse (often a dozen or so key joints), so researchers have also generated synthetic Doppler data using point clouds captured from depth-cameras [81, 82, 145]. In both MoCap and depth camera cases, I found datasets to be much smaller than video sources and missing many

	Туре	Wave	Climb Staircase	Walk	Squat	Run	Lunge	Jump Rope	Jumping Jack	Jump	Cycle	Clean	Clap
CMU [1]	MoCap	_	_	~300	_	~60	_	_	_	~110	_	_	_
SFU [2]	MoCap	_	_	~20	_	~5	_	_	_	~10	_	_	_
RHA [137]	RGB Video	~100	_	~100	_	~100	_	_	_	_	_	_	~100
UCF101 [223]	RGBVideo	_	_	_	~115	_	~130	~145	~125	_	~135	~110	_
HMDB [133]	RGB Video	_	~50	~155	_	_	_	_	_	_	~105	_	_
YouTube8M [3	] RGB Video	_	_	317	2422	7628	_	_	_	4692	31080	206	_
STAIR [273]	RGB Video	_	~900	~900	_	~900	_	_	_	~900	_	_	_
ActivityNet [49	]RGB Video	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	~65	_
RadHAR [216]	RF Doppler	_	_	~50	~50	_	_	_	~40	~35	_	_	_
Gambi [88]	RF Doppler	_	_	231	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
NTU [209]	Depth Cam	~1000	_	~1000	1000	~1000	_	_	_	~1000	_	_	~1000
MHAD [184]	Depth Cam	50	_	_	_	_	_	_	25	25	_	_	25
UTD [59]	Depth Cam	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	25	25	_	_	25
YouTube	RGB Video	1	<i>✓</i>	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1

Table 7.2: I selected 12 activities from [3, 209, 223] to gauge data availability. This table shows multiple datasets, crossing four different categories of data (depth cameras, motion capture, Doppler radar and video). Counts are number of video snippets for that class. I use  $\checkmark$  to denote classes with more data than could be practically utilized (i.e., functionally unlimited).

commonplace activities. The fact is, people capture and upload video data freely, but do not go out and capture depth-camera datasets for research use. Perhaps most similar to this work is [83], which captured seed data using an actual Doppler radar sensor and then generated synthetic Doppler data using Generative Adversarial Networks (GANs). This approach is complementary to ours, and could expand the volume of training data even further. To summarize, my approach to synthetic Doppler data creation is unique in that the inputs are videos, allowing researchers to tap into a near-limitless amount of training data.

# 7.3 **Possible Training Data Sources**

The decision to use video as the input into the synthesis pipeline was not a forgone conclusion. At the very start of the research, the preference was to use datasets that required less dramatic transformation. I now briefly describe the four main data categories I considered, and their relative pros and cons that led us to pursue a video-based approach. As a benchmark, I picked 12 activities (listed in Table 7.2) drawn from [3, 209, 223] as a sort of feasibility litmus test.

**Doppler Radar Datasets** - I started by surveying projects that used radar sensors for activity recognition and cataloged how they sourced their training data. For example, RadHAR [216] manually collected data for five activities (walking, jumping, jumping jacks, squats and boxing) while Gambi *et al.* [88] collected 231 sequences of 29 people walking at different speeds. In [83], the authors manually collected 1356 sequences of 14 people performing 8 actions at different angles. In all cases, these manually-created datasets were very small in volume and limited in their classes. Most importantly, every minute of recorded data took at least one minute of researcher time.

**Depth Camera Datasets** - Next I considered RGBD and depth-camera video datasets (captured with sensors such as the Microsoft Kinect). I surmised the 3D point cloud of segmented users could be converted into synthetic Doppler [81, 145], which could then be used for train-



Figure 7.1: Overview of the software pipeline for synthetic Doppler data generation for training activity recognition models.

ing. Unlike with Doppler radar, large datasets exist for research use, which was encouraging. I surveyed 13 such datasets, but found them to be missing several of the sample activities (see Table 7.2), and thus several datasets (in different formats) would have to be combined.

**MoCap Datasets** - I then looked at 3D motion capture (MoCap) datasets, digitized by professional optical tracking systems. These are very spatially accurate, but only provide a sparse 3D model of users – often just 17 key joints – and thus can only provide a very coarse synthetic Doppler signal [155]. Any Doppler-shifted reflections between e.g., the wrist and elbow must be interpolated. Additionally, of the 13 datasets I surveyed, many activities were missing, as noted in Table 7.2.

**Video Datasets** - Given they contain no innate 3D data, I was initially skeptical of videos as a data source. Cameras are generally very high resolution in the plane orthogonal to the camera axis, but are largely intensive along their Z axis. However, the incredible wealth of video content – with more than 500 hours of video uploaded every minute to just YouTube alone – it soon became the clear winner. Beyond unstructured sources like Youtube, there exist scores of excellent and very large video repositories that cover all of the poses (Table 7.2). I was likewise encouraged by recent advances in computer vision that enabled 3D pose and even 3D meshes of users to be extracted from videos, offering the building blocks to explore synthesizing Doppler data.

Motivated by these findings, I set out to create a software pipeline that converts videos into realistic, but synthetic Doppler radar data. If achievable, it would offer an unparalleled volume of training data for this emerging sensing modality, closing an important gap and elevating the feasibility of Doppler sensing for activity recognition.

# 7.4 Implementation

I now describe in detail the iterative steps of the software pipeline, illustrated in Figure 7.1.

# 7.4.1 Mesh fitting

Doppler sensors measure the radial velocity of reflective surfaces in a scene. To replicate this signal, I require equivalent 3D data of a user's body against a static background. Fortunately, computer vision has made enormous strides in fitting a 3D mesh to a person's image [96, 128, 165, 266]. Hence, as a first step, I compute the position of all vertices of the human body by

fitting a mesh to it. For this, I use VIBE [128], which estimates the mesh via an adversarial learning framework for human pose estimation. Given an input video, the VIBE model estimates the human pose and outputs a human pose mesh for each frame. I track vertices across frames and also smooth their positions to increase stability.

# 7.4.2 Viewpoint Synthesis

Once I have the 3D mesh of a user, I can place a virtual camera in the scene to synthesize any view. Indeed, I place nine synthetic cameras in a spherical coordinate system around the user mesh to simulate different viewpoints. Specifically, I include a "head on" view, along with views  $45^{\circ}$  to the left and right, as well as  $45^{\circ}$  up and down (forming a  $3 \times 3$  polar coordinate grid). This simple manipulation, essentially a form of training data augmentation, has a multiplicative effect on every second of input video. Moreover, it helps to make the later machine learning model more view-invariant.

# 7.4.3 Radar Cross-Section & Radial Velocity

Given a viewpoint and a mesh of a user, I can compute the radar cross-section of every vertex with respect to a virtual Doppler sensor. I do this by taking the user mesh returned by VIBE [128] (which uses SMPL mesh [159]) and calculate each vertex's surface area and normal. To compute radial velocity, I look back at each vertex's movement history (previous frames), again with respect to a virtual Doppler sensor. I also further augment the training data by slightly varying the framerate of the input video (e.g., by assuming consecutive frames are not 1/30th of a second apart, but rather 1/29th or any other value) to produce realistic variations of the same activity being performed at different speeds.

# 7.4.4 Vertex Visibility & Occlusion

At this point in the pipeline, I have each vertex's contribution to the synthetic Doppler signal, assuming all were visible. Of course, there are vertices on the reverse side of the user, and also vertices that are occluded by other body parts (e.g., arms crossing the torso). Since these would not contribute to an RF Doppler signal, they must be filtered. I first perform back-face culling [276] for each viewpoint, and then calculate if a vertex is occluded by another. Only vertices with line-of-sight to the virtual Doppler sensor are passed to the next step of the pipeline.

## 7.4.5 Synthesizing Initial Whole-Body Doppler

A useful and popular visualization of Doppler sensor data is a radial velocity profile at a given instant in time. To mimic this, I create a 32-bin histogram of the radial velocities of the visible user vertices in the velocity range of the real world sensor (in this case, -2 to 2 m/s). By stacking



Figure 7.2: Top row shows a user performing different activities. Below each activity is the initial and final synthetic Doppler signal. The bottom row shows the corresponding signal captured by an actual Doppler radar sensor (positioned next to the camera that filmed the user). Note the synthetic pipeline produces comparable signal.

such signatures over time, I create a sliding, Doppler-time plot (see Figure 7.2, second row). The envelope of this initial simulated Doppler signal roughly follows that of actual Doppler data, but this can be further improved as I will explain.

## 7.4.6 Encoder-Decoder for Domain Translation

The aforementioned synthetic Doppler-time plot is very coarse, as it is heavily quantized and even small mesh fitting errors can produce big jumps in radial velocity. Additionally, it does not contain any of the characteristic noise or non-linearities found in real RF Doppler sensors. However, I found that the correspondence between synthetic and real-world Doppler can greatly be improved by making use of an encoder-decoder model. To train the encoder-decoder model, I choose a U-Net architecture [202], which contains a convolutional and deconvolutional block with an embedding layer of size 128 in between. Each block has 16, 32 and 64 2D filters respectively with a kernel size of  $3 \times 3$ . A Leaky ReLU activation function and a batch normalization are applied to each convolutional layer. I take corresponding pairs of real world Doppler and synthetic Doppler to train the model for 1000 epochs with a root mean square error loss and Adam optimizer [127] with a learning rate of 0.001.

## 7.4.7 Final Whole-Body Doppler Signal

The final output of the pipeline is a synthetic Doppler-time plot generated by the encoder-decoder model. This plot represents radial velocity from -2 m/s to 2 m/s (Y-axis, 32 bins) and 3.0 seconds of data (X-axis, 72 bins). As can be seen in Figure 7.2 (third row), this synthetic signal has

a strong correspondence to real-world RF doppler data (bottom row), despite only utilizing 2D video. It is this signal that I use to train the deep learning model for activity recognition, described next.

# 7.4.8 Activity Recognition

As a proof-of-concept Doppler sensor, I used a Texas Instruments AWR1642 mmWave radar board [107], which costs around \$30 USD [74] when purchasing just the sensor. Doppler data is streamed to a MacBook Pro laptop (3.1GHz dual-core i5) over USB at 31 FPS. The machine learning model is a VGG-16-based convolutional neural network [215] that ingests a real-world Doppler-time plot (32x72) and outputs one of 12 activity classes. I train the model with a categorical cross-entropy loss [282] and Adam optimizer [127] with a learning rate of 0.001 for 1000 epochs. On the laptop, this model takes 47 ms of compute, allowing it to run in realtime.

# 7.5 Training Data

As a proof-of-concept class set, I used the same 12 activities used to survey data sources earlier in the paper, which were drawn from the literature [3, 209, 223]. To train the activity recognition model, I aggregated 10.4 hours of video data to serve as the input for the synthetic Doppler data generation (expanded roughly ten fold via data augmentation). Most of the video datasets that I use (8.4 hrs of the 10.4 hrs) are structured ("RGB Video" datasets in Table 7.2), i.e., have activity labels associated with them. Similar to [135], I also mined data from unstructured sources (e.g., YouTube) using queries related to the activity set and then filtered them manually. In the future, as the sophistication of vision-based Human-Activity Recognition [40] modules improve, I could rely on them for automatic labeling.

To train the encoder-decoder model, I had two participants perform the 12 activities in a different room than the later study (a living room of dimension  $7.2 \times 5.6 \times 3.6$  m). Each user provided one hour of data, varying their angle to the sensor. As the encoder-decoder model works with unsupervised data, collection required no labeling and motions that were not part of the activity dataset were also captured when transitioning from one activity to another.

# 7.6 User Study

I now describe the physical arrangement of the study, and then walk through a series of specific experiments that I used to elucidate the feasibility of the approach.



Figure 7.3: Confusion matrix across different train/test conditions.

## 7.6.1 Apparatus & Location

For this study, I used the same Texas Instruments AWR1642 RF Doppler sensor [107] and Mac-Book Pro laptop as described in the previous section. I mounted the Doppler sensor to a tripod alongside a Logitech HD webcam to capture footage. I cleared a small space in my lab where users could safely perform activities I requested.

## 7.6.2 Procedure

I recruited 10 participants (8 male, 2 female) with an average age of 25.3 years. For each participant, I captured two sessions of data back-to-back in a lab space roughly  $12.8 \times 6.5 \times 3.8$  m. Within each session, participants were asked to perform 12 activities (enumerated in Table 7.2) at 3 different angles with respect to the sensor tripod (0°, 45° and -45°), resulting in a total of 36 trials per session per participant. Thus, in total I collected: 10 participants × 2 sessions × 3 angles × 12 activities = 720 total trials (roughly 3.4 hours of data).

For each trial, I collected synchronized Doppler and video data. Note that video data was collected as a reference to benchmark the accuracy of the generated synthetic Doppler signal vs. the real world Doppler signal. Importantly, reference videos were never used to generate any synthetic data for training. As described previously, the training dataset consisted of 10.4 hours of video data curated from various external data sources, which I processed into synthetic Doppler data.

## 7.6.3 Results

I designed the study procedure in order to analyze and isolate different factors that affect performance. First I discuss the quality of the generated synthetic Doppler data. I then describe a series of varying train/test configurations to assess activity recognition accuracy.

## Quality of Synthetic vs. Real-World Doppler Signal

To test the efficacy of the synthetic Doppler data generation pipeline, I make use of the videos I captured in tandem with real-world Doppler data. Specifically, I run participant videos through the pipeline and compare the synthetic Doppler output to the real-world Doppler sensor signal, finding a Mean Absolute Error (MAE) of 0.09 (SD = 0.03) for the normalized (between 0 and 1) amplitude of Doppler shift.

#### **Recognition Accuracy: Only Synthetic Training Data**

I evaluated the performance of the model trained *only* on synthetic data generated from the external video dataset (detailed in Section 7.3) and tested using participants' real-world Doppler signals. In this configuration, the model achieved an accuracy of 81.4% (chance is 8.34%) across the 12 activities and all participants. Figure 7.3 (left) provides the confusion matrix. Note that in this train/test configuration, I do not train the model on *any* real-world Doppler data (i.e., only synthetic Doppler data). This result can be thought of as "out-of-the-box" accuracy, without any calibration to the local environment or user.

#### **Recognition Accuracy: Only Real-World Training Data**

To better contextualize the model accuracies, I train a model using real-world Doppler data and then test it on real-world Doppler data. As already mentioned several times, there are not good existing datasets to run such an analysis, so instead I had to use the collected study data. Specifically, I performed a leave-one-user-out cross validation. In this process, I train on real-world Doppler data from nine of the participants and test on a tenth (all combinations, results averaged). These models achieved an average accuracy of 90.2% (SD = 4.8%). Unsurprisingly, training on data captured using the actual sensor in the same location outperforms the model trained only on synthetic data, though the difference is only 8.8%, which I view as a strong result for the proof-of-concept pipeline. At a high level, I believe it shows that a purely synthetic training data pipeline can be competitive with training procedures that rely on in-situ captured data.

#### **Recognition Accuracy: Synthetic + Real-World Training Data**

It is also possible for models to leverage both synthetic and real-world Doppler data for training. This could offer the best of both worlds: a large corpus of videos for creating an even larger synthetic Doppler dataset, as well a smaller real-world dataset captured in-situ that is inherently better tuned to the local environment and physical sensor. To explore this, I again ran a leave-one-user-out cross validation. This time, I trained models using all synthetic Doppler data and real-world data from nine participants, testing on a tenth holdout user (all combinations, results averaged). In this scenario, the model achieves an accuracy of 93.4% (SD = 5.4%), a boost of 3.2% over using only real-world data for training. See confusion matrix in Figure 7.3, center.

## **Recognition Accuracy: Per-User Training**

In all of the previous experiments, the model is never exposed to training data from the user it is testing. However, it is not uncommon for sensing systems to collect some training data from users, often in the guise of a calibration during setup (e.g., voice transcription systems that are trained using a large general corpus, but also ask the user to speak some phrases to calibrate). To simulate this, I performed a leave-one-session-out cross validation. Specifically, I train a model using all of the synthetic Doppler data (i.e., a large general corpus) and then add one round of a participant's real-world Doppler data, testing on the holdout round (both round combinations, for all participants, results averaged). This achieves the best accuracy of all tests: 95.9% (SD = 0.3%). The confusion matrix can be found in Figure 7.3, right.

#### **Comparison to Prior Work**

The accuracy of my approach compares favorably to prior work. RadHAR makes use of point clouds generated from mmWave radar (the same sensor as ours) and achieves an accuracy of 90.5% across 5 activities employing a deep learning model. [126] uses SVM's trained on Doppler radar to recognize 7 activities with a per-user model accuracy of 92.8% and a cross-user accuracy 91.9%. The synthetic Doppler data approach in [83] achieves an accuracy of of 82.6% across 8 activities on one participant. In contrast, the per-user model on 12 activities achieves an accuracy of 95.9%. However, it is to be noted that my goal is not to make a better framework for sensing activities via Doppler data, but rather to create a framework for synthesizing Doppler data for training a myriad of different activity recognizers. That said, higher accuracy is a nice side-effect of leveraging synthetically-created training data derived from video sources. An overview of accuracies can be found in Table 7.1, though I emphasize these systems are tested on different datasets and have different applications.

# 7.7 Limitations

There are several key technical limitations that will need to be overcome before consumer use and widespread adoption. First, the model was trained and tested with static background scenes. The model would fail in cases where there is motion in the background or the sensor itself was in motion (i.e., the environment would create Doppler-shifted reflections in addition to a user). To overcome this in the future, it may be possible to add random Doppler signals or even simulate the physics of moving objects and walls as part as part of the synthetic data generation pipeline. Another limitation of the current system is the inability to handle multiple simultaneous users. The current approach sums all the Doppler profiles across distances to create a distance-invariant Doppler-time plot. However, some Doppler radar systems can segment and track multiple people if they are far enough apart [108], so this may be overcome in the future. Lastly, the current machine learning approach makes use of convolutions on the Doppler-time plot. However, alternate feature representations that treat the Doppler-shift histograms as a time series and make use of RNN-based architectures [211, 275] could help take the model away from fixed window lengths. Furthermore, apart from a UNet architecture, conditional adversarial losses [113] can also be explored where the encoder-decoder and discriminator (activity classification) are combined in a single step.

# 7.8 Discussion on Privacy and Invasiveness

I would like to acknowledge that while RF Doppler radar and the proposed approach is privacypreserving in comparison to cameras and microphones, the logging of activity data in itself can have significant privacy implications. This is a long standing HCI research topic, and as Doppler radar sensors become more pervasive, they too will need special scrutiny given their unique pros and cons.

Further, such an inherently privacy-aware sensing systems is another tool in the arsenal to other approaches already present. These sensing systems are not a replacement for policy based methods, differentiable privacy, edge computing or fully homomorphic encryption. Rather, they are to be used in conjunction with them to enable even higher security.

Let's consider policy-based methods that define capture routines of high-fidelity sensors. For example, policies that ask for the camera to blur out faces or the microphone to only be activated by a wake-word. Such approaches require an aspect of trust associated with the manufacturer and developer of the sensors. There can be mal intent during data collection, false advertising of the data recording routines or even leaks of the collected data. In such cases, policy-based method would fail to curb malicious activities they are unaware of. Therefore, such privacyaware sensing modalities can add another layer of protection in such cases.

Further, consider the scenario in the future wherein the user is not identifiable from the raw Doppler data but a Machine Learning model can identify the user from it. In such a scenario, both the ML model and the raw Doppler data need to be compromised for the attacker to invade the privacy of the user. This is in contrast to other camera-based methods wherein raw data itself can compromise the user without the need of the model. Thus, the utility of privacy-aware sensing approaches can further boost the capabilities of other privacy techniques already present.

# 7.9 Conclusion

User digitization enables a plethora of applications, demonstrated in much prior research. With the high-fidelity, yet privacy-preserving sensing afforded by Doppler radar sensors, the ubiquity of this modality is held back by the lack of available training data. I aim to mitigate this important issue by created a software pipeline that takes videos of users performing activities and outputs realistic, synthetic Doppler data. This can then be used to train activity recognition models. Thus, in this work I have not only created a framework for activity recognition and behavior tracking that can be integrated into future consumer devices, but also an innovative way for generating Doppler data from videos, that can potentially be expanded to other human-centric applications in the future such as seizure detection, physical therapy and human-robot interactions.

# **Chapter 8**

# Passive and Longitudinal User Digitization On-the-Go

# 8.1 Introduction

Prior works such as Pose-on-the-Go 5.4.6 and BodySLAM 5.5.9 have showcased immense the utility of full-body motion capture. It has obvious applications in gaming [169], fitness [123], rehabilitation [174], life logging [114], and context-aware interfaces [4, 7]. For example, digital assistants with knowledge of pose could help a football player improve their form, or a patient recovering from surgery monitor changes in their gait. However, the previously described technologies either require the use of cameras for only a particular domain (e.g. BodySLAM is only for XR) or rely on the user operating a device in a particular configuration (e.g. Pose-on-the-Go's opportunistic nature relies on the user always holding the phone in their hands). In contrast, IMUPoser explores passive and longitudinal sensing of the user under different consumer device configurations using only inertial data.

Most computing devices we carry with us contain IMUs, most notably smartphones, smartwatches, and wireless earbuds. Further, in contrast to cameras and microphones, IMU's are more privacy-aware as a sensing modality and require significantly less computational overhead. In this work [171], I study how one can use this ecosystem of worn and mobile devices to estimate a user's body pose in real-time and with no external infrastructure. This approach introduces new challenges prior sparse IMU pose models (e.g., [103, 249]) have not faced. Uniquely, the position and number of tracked body locations can change on the go. For instance, a user can take a phone from their left pocket into their right hand, or a user can add to the number of sensed points by wearing their earbuds. The model must accept various combinations of incomplete inputs and gracefully degrade as the number of active devices reduces (potentially to one). Secondarily, the system must work with IMU data received from consumer devices that are noisier than professional-grade motion capture suits (e.g., XSens [264]) used in highly-related prior work such as Sparse Internal Poser [249], Deep Inertial Poser [103], and TransPose [271].



Figure 8.1: Using whatever mobile devices a user has with them, IMUPoser estimates full-body pose. In the best case, a user can have a smartphone, smartwatch and earbuds (pose from 3 devices). Of course, the number of devices will vary over time, e.g., earbud use is intermittent and not everyone wears a smartwatch. This means IMUPoser must track what devices are present, where they are located, and use whatever IMU data is available. Abbreviation key: L-Left, R-Right, H-Hand, and P-Pocket.



Figure 8.2: Real-time pose estimation (inset photos) powered by consumer mobile devices (listed in each photo) could have uses across many domains, including sports (A), rehabilitation (B), fitness (C), and transportation (D). Note also that IMUPoser is robust to occlusion (E) and lighting conditions (F). Abbreviation key: L-Left, R-Right, H-Hand, and P-Pocket.

System	# Inst. Joints	Sensor FPS (Hz)	<b>Consumer Device</b>	<b>Real-time</b>	MPJVE (cm)
XSens[264]	17	120	×	×	-
SIP[249]	6	60	×	×	7.71
DIP[103]	6	60	×	✓	8.96
Transpose[271]	6	90	×	1	7.09
PIP[272]	6	60	×	$\checkmark$	5.95
Tautges[235]	4	25	×	×	-
IMUPoser	1–3	25	1	$\checkmark$	12.08

Table 8.1: Comparison of worn-IMU, full-body pose estimation systems. MPJVE is calculated on the DIP-IMU dataset [103].

Table 8.1 provides an overview of the most related prior work.

To evaluate our method, I created a novel dataset: professional-grade Vicon optical tracking paired with commodity device IMU data from common worn/held locations. Unsurprisingly — given that most people have *at most* three body positions to estimate hundreds of degrees of freedom in the human body – our pose output is an approximation. However, it is rarely wildly incorrect, and most often, the main gestalt of a user's pose and locomotion mode is captured. This "low-fi" pose output is ill-suited for high-fidelity applications, such as special effects motion capture or virtual reality avatars, where users expect a mostly-faithful body representation. Nonetheless, the adaptive and mobile nature of IMUPoser enables passive and longitudinal sensing of the user (potentially even from a single device), making it especially well-suited for health and wellness applications. For example, this low-fi body tracking could be valuable for boosting accuracy in calorie counting, tracking progress in a physical therapy regime, and monitoring exercise form and rep count. I highlight some example uses in Figure 8.2.

# 8.2 **Possible Device Combinations**

Smartphones, smartwatches, and earbuds have different possible body locations. For instance, a smartphone can be stored in the left or right pocket, held in the left or right hand, held to the head (to take a call), or not carried by the user at all (6 possible states). For smartwatches, they are either worn on the left or right wrist or not worn by the user (3 possible states). For earbud-like devices, they can be worn on the head, placed into a charging case and stored in the left or right pocket, or not carried by the user (4 possible states). Although at present, putting earbuds into a charging case generally puts them to sleep, I assume that in the future a firmware update could allow for continuous IMU data streaming, especially given the larger battery in the case.

Fully enumerated, this yields 72 possible device-location combinations. However, I eliminate three combinations where the user is both wearing earbuds and the phone is held to the head (to take a call), as this is not a typical use case. An additional invalid combination is no



Figure 8.3: The 24 possible device-location combinations I support and investigate.

phone, smartwatch or earbuds, and thus our system would not run at all. This leaves 68 possible arrangements combinations — 14 combinations have 1 active device, 36 combinations have 2 active devices, and 18 combinations have 3 active devices.

Next, it is important to consider that some combinations of devices do not provide substantially different body data for our purposes. For instance, a user could wear a smartwatch on their left wrist and hold a smartphone in their left hand – the IMU data would be highly correlated, and thus I treat it as a single body point. Another example is storing a smartphone in the right pocket, along with earbuds in a charging case – again, the IMU data would be similar. Thus, what our system truly cares about are the combinations of body location enabled by the 68 possible device-position combinations – these 24 combinations are illustrated in Figure 8.3.

I note that our system makes some simplifying assumptions about body positions. For example, in order for a hand position to be considered active, it requires either a smartphone to be held in that hand or a smartwatch worn on that wrist. Even though the signal is not identical, it is highly correlated such that the information power is similar. Similarly, a smartphone held to either ear is considered to be a head location (rather than left or right ear). I made the latter simplification because Apple's AirPods (which I use in our real-time implementation) fuse their IMUs to provide a single-head 6DOF estimate, rather than provide IMU data from each Airpod individually.



Figure 8.4: Overview of IMUPoser's real-time system architecture.

# 8.3 Implementation

Figure 8.4 provides an overview of our pipeline. I focus on three popular consumer devices: smartphone, smartwatch and wireless earbuds/headphones. Each of these devices contains an IMU, the ability to wirelessly transmit data, and some local compute. I envision our model executing on the most capable device carried by the user, with the other less-capable devices streaming their IMU data over e.g., Bluetooth.

# 8.3.1 Model

For the learning architecture, I use a two-layer Bidirectional LSTM, inspired by prior works [103, 271]. Although I did experiment with newer architectures such as transformers, I found these models did not perform well in practice. LSTMs produced smoother output predictions than the other models I tested. For each available IMU, our system uses orientation (represented as a  $3 \times 3$  rotation matrix) as well as acceleration as input, both in a global coordinate frame of reference. In contrast to prior work, I do not normalize these inputs to be relative to a root IMU sensor location, such as the pelvis, as our available devices vary. I flatten and concatenate these inputs to form an input vector of size 60: 5 possible IMU locations × (3 acceleration axes +  $3 \times 3$  orientation rotation matrix), which I input to the model. Of note, our model can ingest any subset of the available IMU data, with absent devices masked (i.e., values set to zero).

The input vector is first transformed into an embedding of dimension 512 using a ReLU [177] activated linear layer. Next, these embeddings are fed sequentially into a Bidirectional LSTM of hidden dimension 512. A final linear layer outputs 144 SMPL [158] pose parameters —

24 joints represented as 6D rotations (which is a smoother representation space [287]). SMPL also provides a body mesh (6890 vertices), which can be seen in Figures 8.1, 8.4 and 8.7. In total, our neural network model has 10.7M trainable parameters. During training, a forward kinematics module calculates joint positions from these pose parameters and further minimizes it with respect to the ground truth.

## 8.3.2 IMU Dataset Synthesis

Training our pose model required a significant volume of data. For this, I can leverage existing motion capture databases to generate a large synthetic corpus. Specifically, I use AMASS [161], a compilation of 24 motion capture datasets (ACCAD, BioMotion, CMU MoCap, MIXAMO, Human Eva, Human 3.6M, etc.) totaling almost 63 hours of high-quality, high-resolution motion capture data in the SMPL [158] format. A wide variety of motions and activity contexts are included, such as locomotion, sports, dancing, exercising, cooking, and freestyle interactions. For additional details on the composition of the AMASS dataset, please refer to [161]. I note that AMASS has been used in much prior work [103, 271, 272] as the basis for deriving synthetic datasets.

The consumer devices I use for our study and real-time demo (described in Sections 8.4.2 and 8.7) run at a common framerate of 25 FPS. Thus I resample AMASS' 60~120 FPS data to 25 FPS. I then follow the synthetic data generation process used in TransPose [271] and DIP [103]. In short, I "attach" virtual IMUs to specific vertices in the SMPL mesh (the left and right wrists, the left and right front pant pockets, and the scalp) and compute synthetic acceleration data using adjacent frames in the global frame of reference. To generate synthetic orientation data, I calculate joint rotations relative to the global frame by compounding local rotations starting from the joint to the pelvis (root) following the SMPL kinematic chain. I scale acceleration data  $(m/s^2)$  by 30 to be suitable for neural networks [271]. Finally, rather than adding synthetic high-frequency noise to our dataset, I instead smooth both synthetic and real-world data using an averaging window of length 5 frames (200 ms), similar to [117].

I use this pipeline to create 24 sets of data, one for each of our 24 device-location combinations (Figure 8.3), which I combine into a single dataset. I simulate missing devices by masking-out (i.e., zeroing-out) IMU data for those locations. For example, even in our best-case scenario of three devices present, this means that  $2/5^{ths}$  of the input vector is null. 63 hours of AMASS data  $\times$  25 FPS  $\times$  24 device-location combinations yields 134.8M synthetic IMU instances with paired ground truth SMPL poses for training.

## 8.3.3 Training

The model is trained end-to-end using PyTorch and PyTorch Lightning deep learning frameworks. I use a batch size of 256 and update the weights using the Adam optimizer with a learning rate of  $3e^{-4}$ . While training, I use non-overlapping windows of paired IMU and pose data in


Figure 8.5: IMUPoser data collection setup. Participants wore 2 smartwatches, kept 2 smartphones in their front pockets, and wore wireless earbuds. 41 retroreflective motion capture markers were also placed around the body to track ground truth body pose.

5-second (125 samples) chunks. As mentioned earlier, I train our model to regress to full-body pose and full-body joint positions using mean squared error (MSE) loss. Our total loss is the sum of these two individual losses. I train our model for 80 epochs (22 hours) on an NVIDIA Titan X GPU.

### 8.3.4 Joint Rotation Refinement

As the last step of our inference pipeline, I adopt the Inverse Kinematic refinement method presented in [116] to perform a final refinement of our output pose. Although our model predicts the rotation of legs, hands and head, it does not necessarily fully honor the absolute orientation offered by the IMUs, even when weighted heavily in our loss term. However, it is logical to take advantage of IMU orientation for limbs with devices, as it is both an absolute value and considerably less noisy than accelerometer data. More specifically, as I have absolute orientation from the IMUs, I optimize certain bone orientations for each instrumented joint. In particular, for the wrist joint (smartwatch/phone), I optimize the elbow and the shoulder orientations, and similarly for the head (earbuds/phone) and hip (smartphone/earbuds case) joints. I implement this using the PyTorch framework and optimize this error using the MSE loss and the Adam optimizer. I allow this optimization to run for 10 iterations on each frame, which I found to not impede real-time performance.



Figure 8.6: Accuracy across different device combinations. Error is Mean Per Joint Vertex Error (MPJVE) in cm. Note how error decreases as the number of devices increases.

## 8.4 Evaluation

I systematically isolate and analyze the efficacy of IMUPoser across different datasets and conditions.

#### 8.4.1 **DIP-IMU Dataset**

To test the performance of our model on real (and not synthetic) IMU data, I use DIP-IMU [103], an IMU-based MoCap dataset. While smaller than the AMASS dataset I used for training, it offers a good variety of poses and activities across five classes: upper-body (arm raises, stretches, swings, etc.), lower-body (leg raises, squats, lunges, etc.), interaction (gestures to interact with everyday objects), freestyle (jumping jacks, punching, kicking, etc.) and locomotion (walking, side steps, etc.). A secondary benefit of using DIP-IMU is that it has been used for evaluation in other similar works [103, 117, 271, 272], permitting direct comparison. DIP-IMU used the commercially-available Xsens [264] IMU-based system to capture data from 10 participants. The data is sampled at 60 Hz, leading to a total dataset size of approximately 90 mins.

#### 8.4.2 IMUPoser Dataset

As noted above, DIP-IMU used the professional-grade XSens system for data collection, which costs approximately \$4000 USD. All of the IMUs are matched, offering similar noise and tracking performance. To complement this dataset with a *consumer* device equivalent, I collected our own dataset.

#### **Data Collection Apparatus**

Our data collection apparatus consisted of two smartphones (Apple iPhone 11 Pro) placed in the left and right front pockets, two smartwatches (Apple Watch Series 6) placed on the left and right wrists, and one pair of Apple AirPods Pro worn in the ears (Figure 8.5). The sampling rate of our system was configured to 25 Hz, the maximum sampling rate of the AirPods. The Apple Watch and AirPods communicated over Bluetooth to the iPhones, and the two iPhones relayed all IMU data to a laptop for data processing and recording. Although users had all five devices on them during data capture, I only use a subset of these devices for pose estimation, as described in Section 8.2.

For ground truth pose, I use a Vicon Motion Capture System system [244] with twelve MX40 cameras and four T160 cameras capturing at 120FPS. I used Vicon Blade 3.2 for capture and data export and Vicon IQ 2.5 for data cleaning. I downsample the Vicon data and synchronize it with our collected IMU data streams. For analysis, I fit an SMPL mesh to the Vicon data using Mosh++ [161].

#### **Device Calibration**

In contrast to commercial IMU-based motion capture systems like XSens, smartphones, smartwatches, and earbuds fail to provide IMU orientations in a common (global) frame of reference. If a device contains a magnetometer, the manufacturer usually provides a way to access the orientation of the device in a global frame of reference oriented with Earth's gravitation and magnetic fields. While the iPhones and Apple Watches that I used for this study contained magnetometers, I found their global orientation data to be fairly noisy. Moreover, the Apple AirPods do not contain magnetometers and hence only provide orientation relative to the initial frame of reference of the head. As a result, I opted to use the XArbirtraryCorrectedZVertical frame of reference provided by the Swift CoreMotion API [21].

Before the study began, I aligned all the devices to a common frame of reference and recorded their orientation values over a window of three seconds. This acted as calibration data, bringing all the devices into the same global frame of reference. In practice, since the AirPods only sampled IMU data when they were in a participant's ears, the common frame of reference was set to that. In line with prior works [103, 271], I asked participants to make a T-pose for three seconds to calculate the orientation offsets between the device and the bone joint that it was attached to. The T-pose acts as a template pose wherein rotations are identity and thus known for each joint. This helps calibrate for users wearing the devices in different orientations, for example, a phone held in the hand vs. a watch worn on the wrist.

#### **Data Collection Procedure**

For our data collection, I recruited 10 participants (5 identified as female, 5 identified as male) with a mean age of 22. The study lasted roughly 45 minutes and paid \$20 in compensation. I



Figure 8.7: Sample SMPL mesh predictions for different device placements and combinations. The red color indicates the per vertex error in meters (ranging from 0 to 1 m).

asked participants to wear and store the five devices in the way that felt most natural to them. Other than requesting the participants to wear pants with pockets, I did not control for differences in clothing, pocket styles, or smartwatch placement preference on the wrist, so as to get realistic real-world variation. For our Vicon-derived ground truth, I placed 41 optical markers on participants. In order to keep the markers secure, I asked participants to tuck in their shirts and provided velcro straps where needed.

Inspired by prior works [9, 103], I collected our data using an "obstacle course"-style procedure. I extended the classes in the DIP-IMU dataset and included the following motions:

- *Upper Body*: Right arm raises, left arm raises, both arm raises, right arm swings, left arm swings, both arms swinging, arms crossing across the torso, and arms crossing behind the head.
- *Lower Body*: Right leg raises, left leg raises, squats, lunges with left leg, and lunges with right leg.
- *Locomotion*: Walking in a straight line, walking in a figure 8, walking in a circle, sidesteps with legs crossed, and sidesteps with feet touching.
- *Freestyle*: Jumping jacks, tennis swings, boxing with alternate arms, kicking with the dominant leg, push-ups, and dribbling a basketball.
- *Head Motions*: Moving head up-and-down, moving head left-to-right, leaning head from shoulder-to-shoulder, and moving head in circles.
- Interaction: Scrolling on a smartphone while seated in a chair.

• *Miscellaneous*: Waving with right arm, waving with left arm, clapping, hopping on right leg, hopping on left leg, jogging in a straight line, and jogging in a circle.

The upper body, lower body, locomotion, freestyle, head motions, interaction and miscellaneous scenarios lasted for 69.7, 43.4, 95.3, 76.2, 36.8, 19.2, and 74.3 seconds on average, respectively, resulting in roughly 7 minutes of data per participant. All the motions were continuous and data was also captured while participants were transitioning from one category to another.

### **8.4.3** Evaluation Protocol

In order to compare with prior works, I follow the exact method detailed in [103, 117, 271, 272]. Specifically, I use data from the first eight participants of DIP-IMU as training data, with the last two participants used for testing. I fine-tune our AMASS-trained model using this training data downsampled to 25 Hz to match both our AMASS training data and our real-time system's capabilities. I further test this model on our IMUPoser Dataset, helping to assess real-world accuracy and performance. Our model is evaluated in an online fashion. In particular, I feed a rolling window of 125 samples (5-second history) with a 1-sample overlap, emulating real-world use. This data is smoothed using an averaging filter, as described in Section 8.3.2. I analyze these results using different evaluation metrics across various device-location combinations. Also following prior work [103, 271, 272], I make use of the following evaluation metrics to quantify the performance of our full-body pose estimation pipeline:

- 1. *Mean Per Joint Rotation Error:* MPJRE measures the mean global angular error across all joints in degrees (°).
- 2. *Mean Per Joint Position Error:* MPJPE measures the mean Euclidean distance error of all estimated joints in centimeters (cm) with the root joint (pelvis) aligned.
- 3. *Mean Per Joint Vertex Error:* MPJVE measures the mean Euclidean distance error across all vertices of the estimated SMPL mesh in centimeters (cm) with the root joint (pelvis) aligned.
- 4. *Mean Per Joint Jitter (Jitter):* Jitter measures the average jerk of the predicted motion [271]. A lower jerk value signifies a smoother and more natural motion.

I use mesh error (MPJVE) as our primary evaluation metric for most tasks, due to its ease of understanding and its utility as a benchmark for comparison with prior work.

## 8.5 Results

I first describe IMUPoser's accuracy across device-location combinations, before changing our focus to look at results by body region. I conclude this section with a comparison to other related systems.



Figure 8.8: Summarized accuracy results across different body regions evaluated on the DIP-IMU and IMUPoser datasets.

#### 8.5.1 Accuracy Across Device-Location Combinations

To simplify presentation of results, I group the 24 possible device-location combinations (Figure 8.3) into 12 supersets based on the number of devices present and their body locations (ignoring left/right placements). Figure 8.6 presents the results for the IMUPoser and DIP-IMU datasets. Note, that our model has not been fine-tuned on the IMUPoser Dataset. Across all device combinations, I find a MPJVE of 14.1 cm on the IMUPoser Dataset and a MPJVE of 12.1 cm with DIP-IMU. When averaging the results across both datasets, having one device on the user results in a MPJVE of 16.27 cm (SD=9.93 cm), which decreases to 13.9 cm (SD=8.36 cm) when a second device is present. The lowest error, unsurprisingly, is when three devices are present – a MPJVE of 11.1 cm (SD=6.51 cm) across all possible three-device combinations.

Figure 8.7 offers example mesh predictions across different device-location combinations. As expected, accurate head orientation estimation is only plausible when earbuds are present. Other times the head regresses to the most natural orientation given where the body is facing. Global body orientation works best when at least two devices are present. Lastly, motions that have a characteristic cadence, such as walking, work well across all combinations. Similarly, activities with symmetric limb motions, such as jumping jacks, work fairly well even with no sensor data from important limbs. On the other hand, activities with uncorrelated limb motions fail unless limbs are instrumented.

#### 8.5.2 Accuracy Across Body Regions

Figure 8.8 provides a breakdown of system accuracy across different body regions for the IMU-Poser and DIP-IMU datasets. I note that the accuracy for a limb with an instrumented point is always greater than that of an uninstrumented one. For example, averaging across both datasets and with an IMU present on the right hand, the MPJVE is 14.65 cm for the right arm (right hand = 17.2 cm) vs. 21.6 cm for the left arm (left hand = 26.9 cm). Unsurprisingly, the highest error

System	# Inst. Joints	MPJRE (°)	MPJPE (cm)	MPJVE (cm)	<b>Jitter</b> $(10^2 m/s^3)$
SIP (offline)	6	8.7	6.7	7.7	3.8
DIP (online)	6	15.1	7.3	8.9	30.13
TransPose (online)	6	8.8	5.9	7.1	1.4
PIP (online)	6	-	-	5.9	0.24
IMUPoser (online)	1–3	23.9	9.7	12.1	1.9

Table 8.2: Comparison of IMUPoser to key prior work, all evaluated on the DIP-IMU Dataset [103].

is when none of the limbs in a particular body region have IMU data.

Also unsurprising is that the lowest error is achieved when both left and right limbs have IMUs present. For example, with only one IMU on the arms, the MPJVE for both arms is 18 cm (right hand = 22.17 cm; left hand = 20.4 cm). Whereas with both arms having IMUs, the MPJVE is 14.5 cm (right hand = 17.35 cm; left hand = 16.9 cm). A partial exception to this trend is the legs. Unlike the arms, which can move independently, legs tend to move in tandem (out of phase when walking, or in phase for activities such as jumping). This means that even one IMU on the legs is still highly effective at predicting both legs, and two IMUs offer just a modest gain. Looking at our results, the MPJVE for the left leg is 10.3 cm (right foot = 15.65 cm) when the IMU is in the left pocket, and the error for the right leg is 10.4 cm (right foot = 16 cm) when the IMU is in the right pocket. When both IMUs are present (i.e., left and right pockets), the error of the left and right legs drop very modestly to 10.05 cm and 9.75 cm, respectively.

I note that error accumulates along the kinematic chain (see Figure 8.7). Across all conditions, the average error of the end-effectors (left hand, right hand, left foot, right foot, head) is 20.28 cm and 17.29 cm on the IMUPoser Dataset and DIP-IMU Dataset, respectively (vs. 12.92 cm and 11.23 cm for joints that are not end-effectors).

#### 8.5.3 Comparison to Prior Work

To the best of our knowledge, no prior research has investigated deriving full-body pose from such a sparse set of consumer-grade devices equipped with IMUs. Table 8.2 offers a quantitative comparison against key prior work, all evaluated on the same DIP-IMU Dataset [103].

Unsurprisingly, for a system that uses between 1 and 3 IMUs, our model is less accurate than those utilizing 6 sensors (i.e., IMUs placed on each limb). However, compared to DIP [103] and Transpose [271], our MPJVE is only worse by 3.2 cm and 5.0 cm, respectively. It is interesting to note that the Jitter of our system is in line with prior work (1.9 vs. 1.4 of TransPose). At a high level, even with an impoverished sensing configuration, I are able to produce natural, realistic and smooth pose estimation sequences. In the future, I hope to combine physics-backed models (as in PIP) to further improve the pose estimation of our system.

## 8.6 Active Device Tracking

A crucial piece of information our pose model needs before it can run is: 1) What devices are present on the user? And 2) where these devices are located on the body? For this, I created a separate piece of software, which runs in parallel with our pose model.

### 8.6.1 Implementation

To determine where devices are located on the body, I require three pieces of information from the user, which I envision being collected when a user first purchases a device. 1) In which pocket do they typically store their phone? 2) In which hand do they typically hold their phone? And 3) On which arm would they wear a smartwatch? After this basic initialization, I use a series of automated heuristics.

I make the assumption a smartphone is held in the hand if the screen is on and the IMU is reporting even slight motion. If the user is wearing a smartwatch, I can use the distance between the watch and phone (provided by Apple's NINearbyObject API [22], which uses UWB) to guess the holding hand automatically (see Figure 8.10). If no smartwatch is worn, our system falls back on the hand specified by the user during setup. If the smartphone screen is off and the IR proximity sensor is triggered, I assume the phone is in a pocket. If the user has a smartwatch, I can similarly use UWB-derived distance to guess the pocket. If no smartwatch is worn, I default to the user-specified pocket.

As most users wear watches in a consistent location, the logic for smartwatches is simpler. If it is connected to the iPhone and moving, I assume it is worn on the user-specified hand. Similarly, for Airpods, if they are connected to the iPhone, I know they are in the ear. When in their charging case, Airpods go to sleep and stop transmitting IMU data. However, I believe that Apple could modify the Airpods firmware such that in the future they could continue to transmit IMU data even when stored in a pocket.

#### 8.6.2 Evaluation

As a preliminary evaluation of our active device tracking prediction, I ran a user study with 7 participants (5 identified as male, 2 identified as female; mean age 27.8; all right-handed with a preference for wearing watches on the left wrist). The study lasted approximately 15 minutes and paid \$5. To initialize our system, I recorded participants' answers to the three preference questions listed in the previous section. I then asked users to transition between 15 device combinations, in a random order, documented in Figure 8.9. When a device was not in a requested set, it was set aside on a nearby table. For each requested device-location combination, I asked participants to walk around for about 10 seconds, then sit down briefly, rise to stand again, and lastly return to the starting position. Before the next trial began, the necessary devices were given or taken from the participants. Throughout the study, our active device tracking process



Figure 8.9: Device combinations tested as part of our active device tracking study. Blue denotes presence in the set.



Figure 8.10: Active device tracking across different device combinations. Active devices are highlighted with a white circle for illustration and the foreground laptop shows the live tracking result.

ran, making live predictions about what devices were active and where they were located. A trained experimenter conducted the study, marking the start and stop of each device combination trial, alongside ground truth labels.

Across all participants and all data instances, the accuracy of earbuds and smartwatch tracking was 100%, owing to their known locations and very reliable detection of worn vs. not worn. Smartphone tracking is the most challenging, with five possible states (not present, left pocket, right pocket, left hand, right hand). I found the instance-wise accuracy for smartphone tracking was 90.8%.

## 8.7 Real-Time Implementation

To help demonstrate the imminent feasibility of our approach, I created a real-time implementation of IMUPoser, which can be seen in our Video Figure. It is comprised of two main processes working together. First is active device tracking, which monitors what devices are available to provide IMU data and predicts where they are located on the body. Second is our pose model, which is passed the location inferences and IMU data.

#### 8.7.1 Proof-of-Concept Device Ecosystem

As a proof-of-concept implementation, I use an Apple iPhone 11 Pro, Apple Watch Series 6, and AirPods Pro. Apple offers a mature inter-device API that allows these devices to exchange data. Each device reports 6DOF IMU data at different rates, with the slowest being AirPods at roughly 25 FPS. I also note that although AirPods come as a pair, they fuse their individual IMUs into a single 6DOF head estimate.

#### 8.7.2 **Output**

As a proof of concept, I use an iPhone optionally connected to an Apple Watch and AirPods. The iPhone streams all available IMU data back to a MacBook Air (2021), which runs our active device tracking and pose estimation processes, with a mean inference time of 26.8 ms. I believe our model could be run on a mobile phone with additional engineering effort. Regardless of where the model runs, it is capped at 25 FPS, the reporting frequency of our slowest IMU (Airpods). Before running our system, I must perform the same calibration as in data collection (see Section 8.4.2). For real-time output, I visualize the SMPL mesh.

## 8.8 Open Source

To enable other researchers and practitioners to build upon our system, I have made our dataset, architecture, trained models, and visualization tools freely available at https://github.com/FIGLAB/IMUPoser with the gracious permission of our participants.

## 8.9 Limitations

While IMUPoser enables pathways to full-body pose estimation with minimal user instrumentation, it has pros and cons like any other technical approach. While IMUPoser can glean insights about the pose of limbs for which it has no direct sensor data, it is important to note that such a pose is only an approximate result. For cases where the motion of the instrumented joint is completely independent of that of the uninstrumented one, IMUPoser tends to regress to the mean pose. IMUPoser can support the incorporation of new joint locations by using the corresponding SMPL mesh vertices for training. Thus, in the future, IMUPoser can potentially support and track new device placements, such as a phone in a back pants pocket, coat pocket, armband, etc. The fidelity of the system could also be improved by integrating additional consumer devices (e.g., smart shoes, eye-wear, rings) into the ecosystem. This would help expand the range of poses supported by IMUPoser, allowing it to track dynamic activities such as cycling, kayaking, skiing, etc.

Unlike Transpose [271] and PIP [272], the current implementation of IMUPoser does not predict global root translation. In the future, using better learning methods and multimodal cues when available (e.g., visual odometry from the smartphone [9]) could help predict translation. Another limitation of our system is active device tracking. Currently, this is a basic, proof-of-concept implementation that needs further refinement before it can be deployed for consumer use. Furthermore, all of the devices need to be in a homogeneous ecosystem (e.g., Apple) to work effectively. In the future, the use of a common industry-wide standard to connect and network between different consumer devices can help mitigate this issue.

## 8.10 Conclusion

I have presented a user digitization system that is both practical and rich. It enables real-time, full-body pose estimation using IMUs present in consumer devices such as phones, smartwatches and earbuds. The approach automatically tracks devices that are available and where they are currently located on the body, and uses their IMU data to estimate pose. It can contend with the noisy signals of consumer IMUs and produce natural and temporally-coherent pose estimates with as little as one device. This opens up new and interesting long-term whole-body digitization applications with no additional user instrumentation.

# **Chapter 9**

# Summary

Through my research efforts, I have focused on creating user digitization systems that are both practical and rich. With my research (Figure 9.1, blue dots), I have started to considerably pull away from the axis occupied by conventional approaches, into the area highlighted in green. I draw on three pillars of strength to build towards this vision. First, I use my knowledge in human factors to understand people; and more importantly, the problems they face. Second, I build new sensors and sensing approaches to capture how they behave, move within and interact with the world around them. Finally, I use my background in AI and ML to make sense of these captured signals, to model and derive utility from them for these human-centric tasks. This enables consumer devices to calculate a continuous comprehensive representation of the user. To achieve this research vision, I develop sensing systems that make lower fidelity systems higher fidelity, by adding layers of intelligence over devices, to create new and powerful computing experiences; while retaining or even improving consumer practicality and accessibility, for instance by making them less invasive or more privacy aware.

Such digital representations go beyond a simple step count and capture a user's gait cycle, dexterity, balance, posture, and active range of motions of joints 4.3, providing contextualized behavior and pose insights in every day practical scenarios that even a once a day visit to a Motion Capture studio would fail to provide. Using this holistic continuous information, a user can get fine-grained wellness data and even enable doctors to remotely monitor their patients 3.1.1, for example, tracking a user's recovery after surgery, and even chances of injury and relapse. This will also inform the design of future consumer devices that enable full-body avatars for telepresence 5.4.6, interactions in extended reality 5.5.9 and to create more productive and collaborative work environments. To summarize, my research has led to the creation of powerful user digitization systems that are minimally invasive 7.9, mobile and deployable in-the-wild 8.10.



Figure 9.1: Design space plotting digitization richness vs. user practicality.

## 9.1 Key Takeaways

Here are the key takeaways summarized. First off, framing user digitization as a richness vs. user practically continuum helps answer what the technology enables and where it can be used. My research has shown that higher-order full-body digitization can be enabled on mobile consumer devices. They are interpret able, easily visualizable, and transferable to other tasks. Further, user practicality should be a key consideration as it can lead to wide-spread adoption. Lastly, different applications demand different accuracies, and thus even approximate user digitization can be immensely useful.

Furthermore, here are key takeaways that can not only be used for creating user digitization, but can also transfer to other domains which essentially try to do "more from less". To combat less training data - synthetic data generation, data augmentation and contextualization can play a key role. To make most of the few points of instrumentation, we can combine multiple sensor modalities and locations. Lastly, to increase fidelity of systems, we can incorporate physics based modeling as we saw with human kinematics, and also employ data-driven machine learning as an effective learning tool.

## 9.2 Vision for the Future

While I have made significant progress, there is still work to be done to enable "motion capture" quality resolution on consumer devices. We have seen that these higher order user digitization have immense utility for improving their users interactions, productivity and wellness. Thus, in the future, I plan to explore even higher order representations (Figure 9.2) that go beyond the users activity and pose and towards capturing their appearance, muscle structure, and even fine



Figure 9.2: Future of Higher-Order User Digitization.

grained anatomy in a practical, minimally-invasive manner. These will have a similar trickledown effect to unlock entirely new applications and augment existing ones in interesting ways.

For example, in addition to using images or optical motion capture, muscle maps can directly capture fine-grained facial action units that can be used to create photo-realistic avatars for telepresence and character animation. Imagine context-aware fitness assistants that not only know what exercise you are doing, what your pose is, but also which muscles you are activating, which muscles you ideally should activate and how do change your posture do do that. Further, this will even reduce chances of injury, improve caloric estimates and help with better diet, nutrition and overall well-being.

Finally, I believe the holy grail of practical and rich user digitization lies not in looking outwards but inwards. Let's take the example of detecting arthritis. The gold standard for diagnosing it is an X-ray. The problem is, when you see arthritis on X-rays, the damage has already been done. Imagine medical quality resolution of imaging our bones and muscles but with devices you carry with you everyday. This will create digitization that can go beyond monitoring illnesses and injuries to taking proactive steps to reduce their damage or in some cases prevent them. With novel sensing technologies, coupled with advances in AI, big data and medical imaging, I fully believe as a field we can work towards enabling this future of creating a holistic human digital twin.

# **Bibliography**

- [1] Cmu mocap. http://mocap.cs.cmu.edu/, 2004. 7.2.2
- [2] Sfu mocap. https://mocap.cs.sfu.ca/, 2004. 7.2.2
- [3] Sami Abu-El-Haija, Nisarg Kothari, Joonseok Lee, Paul Natsev, George Toderici, Balakrishnan Varadarajan, and Sudheendra Vijayanarasimhan. Youtube-8m: A large-scale video classification benchmark. arXiv preprint arXiv:1609.08675, 2016. 7.2.2, 7.2, 7.3, 7.5
- [4] Vida Adeli, Ehsan Adeli, Ian Reid, Juan Carlos Niebles, and Hamid Rezatofighi. Socially and contextually aware human motion and pose forecasting. *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters*, 5(4):6033–6040, 2020. 8.1
- [5] Karan Ahuja, Rahul Islam, Varun Parashar, Kuntal Dey, Chris Harrison, and Mayank Goel. Eyespyvr: Interactive eye sensing using off-the-shelf, smartphone-based vr headsets. *Proceedings of the ACM on Interactive, Mobile, Wearable and Ubiquitous Technologies*, 2(2): 1–10, 2018. 2.2.2
- [6] Karan Ahuja, Chris Harrison, Mayank Goel, and Robert Xiao. Mecap: Whole-body digitization for low-cost vr/ar headsets. In *Proceedings of the 32nd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, UIST '19, page 453–462, New York, NY, USA, 2019. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781450368162. doi: 10.1145/3332165.3347889. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/3332165.3347889. 3347889. 2.2.2
- [7] Karan Ahuja, Andy Kong, Mayank Goel, and Chris Harrison. Direction-of-voice (dov) estimation for intuitive speech interaction with smart devices ecosystems. In *Proceedings of the 2020 UIST Conference on User Interfaces in Software Technology*, UIST '20, page 1121–1131, New York, NY, USA, 2020. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781450375146. doi: 10.1145/3379337.3415588. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/3379337.3415588. 2.2.1, 8.1
- [8] Karan Ahuja, Yue Jiang, Mayank Goel, and Chris Harrison. Vid2doppler: Synthesizing doppler radar data from videos for training privacy-preserving activity recognition. In *Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1–10, 2021. 7.1
- [9] Karan Ahuja, Sven Mayer, Mayank Goel, and Chris Harrison. Pose-on-the-go: Approxi-

mating user pose with smartphone sensor fusion and inverse kinematics. In *Proceedings* of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1–12, 2021. 2.1.4, 5.2.3, 5.2.4, 8.4.2, 8.9

- [10] Karan Ahuja, Deval Shah, Sujeath Pareddy, Franceska Xhakaj, Amy Ogan, Yuvraj Agarwal, and Chris Harrison. Classroom digital twins with instrumentation-free gaze tracking. In *Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1–9, 2021. 3.1.3
- [11] Karan Ahuja, Paul Streli, and Christian Holz. Touchpose: hand pose prediction, depth estimation, and touch classification from capacitive images. In *The 34th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, pages 997–1009, 2021. 5.3.1
- [12] Karan Ahuja, Vivian Shen, Cathy Mengying Fang, Nathan Riopelle, Andy Kong, and Chris Harrison. Controllerpose: inside-out body capture with vr controller cameras. In *Proceedings of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1–13, 2022. 2.2.2
- [13] Karan Ahuja, Eric Whitmire, Joseph Greer, and Wolf Kienzle. Activityposer: Activity driven full-body pose estimation from sparse imu configurations. In *Proceedings of the* 2022 ACM Symposium on Spatial User Interaction, pages 1–2, 2022. 2.2.2
- [14] H-E Albrecht, Nils Damaschke, Michael Borys, and Cameron Tropea. *Laser Doppler and phase Doppler measurement techniques*. Springer Science & Business Media, 2013. 7.2.1
- [15] Dimitrios S Alexiadis, Philip Kelly, Petros Daras, Noel E O'Connor, Tamy Boubekeur, and Maher Ben Moussa. Evaluating a dancer's performance using kinect-based skeleton tracking. In *Proceedings of the 19th ACM international conference on Multimedia*, pages 659–662, 2011. 5.5.1
- [16] Rıza Alp Güler, Natalia Neverova, and Iasonas Kokkinos. Densepose: Dense human pose estimation in the wild. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition*, CVPR '18, pages 7297–7306. IEEE, 2018. doi: 10.1109/CVPR. 2018.00762. 2.2.1
- [17] ALT LLC. Antilatency, 2020. URL https://antilatency.com/. 5.4.1
- [18] Stanislaw Antol, Aishwarya Agrawal, Jiasen Lu, Margaret Mitchell, Dhruv Batra, C Lawrence Zitnick, and Devi Parikh. Vqa: Visual question answering. In *Proceedings of the IEEE international conference on computer vision*, pages 2425–2433, 2015. 2.1.4
- [19] Apple. Vision framework, 2017. URL https://developer.apple.com/ documentation/vision. 5.2.3, 5.2.3
- [20] Apple. Arkit framework, 2020. URL https://developer.apple.com/ documentation/arkit. 5.1, 5.2.4
- [21] Apple. Cmattituderef, 2022. URL https://developer.apple.com/

documentation/coremotion/cmattitudereferenceframe. 8.4.2

- [22] Apple. Ninearbyobject, 2022. URL https://developer.apple.com/ documentation/nearbyinteraction/ninearbyobject. 8.6.1
- [23] Apple Inc. Apple developer arfaceanchor, 2020. URL https://developer. apple.com/documentation/arkit/arfaceanchor. 5.4.2, 5.4.2, 5.4.5
- [24] Apple Inc. Support animoji, 2020. URL https://support.apple.com/en-au/ HT208190. 5.4.2, 5.4.4
- [25] Apple Inc. Apple developer coremotion activity, 2020. URL https://developer. apple.com/documentation/coremotion/cmmotionactivity. 5.4.2
- [26] Riku Arakawa, Mayank Goel, Chris Harrison, and Karan Ahuja. Rgbdgaze: Gaze tracking on smartphones with rgb and depth data. In *Proceedings of the 2022 International Conference on Multimodal Interaction*, pages 329–336, 2022. 5.2.1
- [27] Riku Arakawa, Karan Ahuja, Kristie Mak, Gwendolyn Thompson, Sam Shaaban, Oliver Lindhiem, and Mayank Goel. Lemurdx: Using unconstrained passive sensing for an objective measurement of hyperactivity in children with no parent input. *Proc. ACM Interact. Mob. Wearable Ubiquitous Technol.*, 7(2), jun 2023. doi: 10.1145/3596244. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/3596244. 3.1.1
- [28] Md Tanvir Islam Aumi, Sidhant Gupta, Mayank Goel, Eric Larson, and Shwetak Patel. Doplink: using the doppler effect for multi-device interaction. In *Proceedings of the 2013* ACM international joint conference on Pervasive and ubiquitous computing, pages 583– 586, 2013. 7.2.1
- [29] Yusuf Aytar, Carl Vondrick, and Antonio Torralba. Soundnet: Learning sound representations from unlabeled video. In Advances in neural information processing systems, pages 892–900, 2016. 7.2.2
- [30] Azure Kinect. Azure kinect dk hardware specifications, 2019. URL https://docs. microsoft.com/en-us/azure/kinect-dk/hardware-specification. 5.3.3, 5.4.1
- [31] Teo Babic, Florian Perteneder, Harald Reiterer, and Michael Haller. Simo: Interactions with distant displays by smartphones with simultaneous face and world tracking. In *Extended Abstracts of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI EA '20, page 1–12, New York, NY, USA, 2020. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781450368193. doi: 10.1145/3334480.3382962. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/3334480.3382962. 2.2.2
- [32] Gilles Bailly, Jörg Müller, Michael Rohs, Daniel Wigdor, and Sven Kratz. Shoesense:
  a new perspective on gestural interaction and wearable applications. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on human factors in computing systems*, pages 1239–1248, 2012.
  2.2.2

- [33] Ling Bao and Stephen S. Intille. Activity recognition from user-annotated acceleration data. In Alois Ferscha and Friedemann Mattern, editors, *Pervasive Computing*, pages 1–17, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2004. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. ISBN 978-3-540-24646-6. 2.1
- [34] Ling Bao and Stephen S Intille. Activity recognition from user-annotated acceleration data. In *International conference on pervasive computing*, pages 1–17. Springer, 2004. 5.4.3
- [35] Fabien Baradel, Christian Wolf, and Julien Mille. Human activity recognition with posedriven attention to rgb. 2018. 2.1.1
- [36] Barry C Barish and Rainer Weiss. Ligo and the detection of gravitational waves. *Physics Today*, 52:44–50, 1999. 7.2.1
- [37] Patrick Baudisch, Henning Pohl, Stefanie Reinicke, Emilia Wittmers, Patrick Lühne, Marius Knaust, Sven Köhler, Patrick Schmidt, and Christian Holz. Imaginary reality gaming: ball games without a ball. In *Proceedings of the 26th annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology*, pages 405–410, 2013. 5.5.2
- [38] Valentin Bazarevsky, Ivan Grishchenko, Karthik Raveendran, Tyler Zhu, Fan Zhang, and Matthias Grundmann. Blazepose: On-device real-time body pose tracking. *arXiv preprint* arXiv:2006.10204, 2020. 5.5.8
- [39] Vincent Becker, Linus Fessler, and Gábor Sörös. Gestear: Combining audio and motion sensing for gesture recognition on smartwatches. In *Proceedings of the 23rd International Symposium on Wearable Computers*, ISWC '19, page 10–19, New York, NY, USA, 2019. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781450368704. doi: 10.1145/3341163. 3347735. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/3341163.3347735. 2.1.4
- [40] Djamila Romaissa Beddiar, Brahim Nini, Mohammad Sabokrou, and Abdenour Hadid. Vision-based human activity recognition: a survey. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 79(41):30509–30555, 2020. 7.5
- [41] Abdelkareem Bedri, Richard Li, Malcolm Haynes, Raj Prateek Kosaraju, Ishaan Grover, Temiloluwa Prioleau, Min Yan Beh, Mayank Goel, Thad Starner, and Gregory Abowd. Earbit: Using wearable sensors to detect eating episodes in unconstrained environments. *Proceedings of the ACM on Interactive, Mobile, Wearable and Ubiquitous Technologies*, 1(3):37, 2017. 4.3.3
- [42] Steve Benford, John Bowers, Lennart E. Fahlén, Chris Greenhalgh, and Dave Snowdon. User embodiment in collaborative virtual environments. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '95, page 242–249, USA, 1995. ACM Press/Addison-Wesley Publishing Co. ISBN 0201847051. doi: 10.1145/ 223904.223935. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/223904.223935. 5.4.4
- [43] Hrvoje Benko, Edward W Ishak, and Steven Feiner. Collaborative mixed reality visualiza-

tion of an archaeological excavation. In *Third IEEE and ACM International Symposium* on *Mixed and Augmented Reality*, pages 132–140. IEEE, 2004. 5.5.1

- [44] Mark Billinghurst, Ivan Poupyrev, Hirokazu Kato, and Richard May. Mixing realities in shared space: An augmented reality interface for collaborative computing. In 2000 IEEE international conference on multimedia and expo. ICME2000. Proceedings. Latest advances in the fast changing world of multimedia (Cat. No. 00TH8532), volume 3, pages 1641–1644. IEEE, 2000. 5.5.1
- [45] Mariusz Bojarski, Davide Del Testa, Daniel Dworakowski, Bernhard Firner, Beat Flepp, Prasoon Goyal, Lawrence D Jackel, Mathew Monfort, Urs Muller, Jiakai Zhang, et al. End to end learning for self-driving cars. arXiv preprint arXiv:1604.07316, 2016. 2.1.4
- [46] Jean-Yves Bouguet. Pyramidal implementation of the affine lucas kanade feature tracker description of the algorithm. *Intel Corporation*, 5(1-10):4, 2001. 4.3.3
- [47] G. Bradski. The OpenCV Library. Dr. Dobb's Journal of Software Tools, 2000. 5.5.4
- [48] Barry Brown and Marek Bell. Cscw at play: 'there' as a collaborative virtual environment. In *Proceedings of the 2004 ACM Conference on Computer Supported Co-operative Work*, CSCW '04, page 350–359, New York, NY, USA, 2004. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 1581138105. doi: 10.1145/1031607.1031666. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/1031607.1031666. 5.4.4
- [49] Fabian Caba Heilbron, Victor Escorcia, Bernard Ghanem, and Juan Carlos Niebles. Activitynet: A large-scale video benchmark for human activity understanding. In *Proceedings* of the ieee conference on computer vision and pattern recognition, pages 961–970, 2015. 7.2.2
- [50] Cesar Cadena, Luca Carlone, Henry Carrillo, Yasir Latif, Davide Scaramuzza, José Neira, Ian Reid, and John J Leonard. Past, present, and future of simultaneous localization and mapping: Toward the robust-perception age. *IEEE Transactions on robotics*, 32(6):1309– 1332, 2016. 5.5.1, 5.5.2
- [51] Holger Caesar, Varun Bankiti, Alex H Lang, Sourabh Vora, Venice Erin Liong, Qiang Xu, Anush Krishnan, Yu Pan, Giancarlo Baldan, and Oscar Beijbom. nuscenes: A multimodal dataset for autonomous driving. In *Proceedings of the IEEE/CVF conference on computer* vision and pattern recognition, pages 11621–11631, 2020. 2.1.4
- [52] Kelly E Caine, Arthur D Fisk, and Wendy A Rogers. Benefits and privacy concerns of a home equipped with a visual sensing system: A perspective from older adults. In *Proceedings of the human factors and ergonomics society annual meeting*, volume 50, pages 180–184. SAGE Publications Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA, 2006. 7.1
- [53] Zhe Cao, Tomas Simon, Shih-En Wei, and Yaser Sheikh. Realtime multi-person 2d pose estimation using part affinity fields. In *Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer* vision and pattern recognition, CVPR '17, pages 7291–7299. IEEE, 2017. doi: 10.1109/

CVPR.2017.143. 2.2.1, 5.5.4, 5.5.8

- [54] Google Cardboard. Google cardboard, 2014. URL https://vr.google.com/ cardboard. 5.5.3
- [55] Joao Carreira and Andrew Zisserman. Quo vadis, action recognition? a new model and the kinetics dataset. In proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, pages 6299–6308, 2017. 2.1.1
- [56] Pierluigi Casale, Oriol Pujol, and Petia Radeva. Human activity recognition from accelerometer data using a wearable device. In *Iberian Conference on Pattern Recognition* and Image Analysis, pages 289–296. Springer, 2011. 5.2.4
- [57] Jan Cech and Tereza Soukupova. Real-time eye blink detection using facial landmarks. *Cent. Mach. Perception, Dep. Cybern. Fac. Electr. Eng. Czech Tech. Univ. Prague*, pages 1–8, 2016. 5.2.2
- [58] Liwei Chan, Yi-Ling Chen, Chi-Hao Hsieh, Rong-Hao Liang, and Bing-Yu Chen. Cyclopsring: Enabling whole-hand and context-aware interactions through a fisheye ring. In *Proceedings of the 28th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software & Technol*ogy, pages 549–556, 2015. 2.2.2
- [59] Chen Chen, Roozbeh Jafari, and Nasser Kehtarnavaz. Utd-mhad: A multimodal dataset for human action recognition utilizing a depth camera and a wearable inertial sensor. In 2015 IEEE International conference on image processing (ICIP), pages 168–172. IEEE, 2015. 7.2.2
- [60] Kaixuan Chen, Dalin Zhang, Lina Yao, Bin Guo, Zhiwen Yu, and Yunhao Liu. Deep learning for sensor-based human activity recognition: Overview, challenges, and opportunities. ACM Comput. Surv., 54(4), May 2021. ISSN 0360-0300. doi: 10.1145/3447744. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/3447744. 2.1
- [61] Ke-Yu Chen, Daniel Ashbrook, Mayank Goel, Sung-Hyuck Lee, and Shwetak Patel. Airlink: sharing files between multiple devices using in-air gestures. In *Proceedings of the* 2014 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing, pages 565–569, 2014. 7.2.1
- [62] Ke-Yu Chen, Shwetak N. Patel, and Sean Keller. Finexus: Tracking precise motions of multiple fingertips using magnetic sensing. In *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '16, page 1504–1514, New York, NY, USA, 2016. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781450333627. doi: 10.1145/2858036.2858125. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/2858036.2858125. 2858125. 2.2.2
- [63] Qingchao Chen, Kevin Chetty, Karl Woodbridge, and Bo Tan. Signs of life detection using wireless passive radar. In 2016 IEEE Radar Conference (RadarConf), pages 1–5. IEEE, 2016. 7.2.1

- [64] Qingchao Chen, Bo Tan, Kevin Chetty, and Karl Woodbridge. Activity recognition based on micro-doppler signature with in-home wi-fi. In 2016 IEEE 18th International Conference on e-Health Networking, Applications and Services (Healthcom), pages 1–6. IEEE, 2016. 7.2.1
- [65] Qingchao Chen, Matthew Ritchie, Yang Liu, Kevin Chetty, and Karl Woodbridge. Joint fall and aspect angle recognition using fine-grained micro-doppler classification. In 2017 IEEE Radar Conference (RadarConf), pages 0912–0916. IEEE, 2017. 7.2.1
- [66] Qingchao Chen, Yang Liu, Francesco Fioranelli, Matthiew Ritchie, and Kevin Chetty. Eliminate aspect angle variations for human activity recognition using unsupervised deep adaptation network. In 2019 IEEE Radar Conference (RadarConf), pages 1–6. IEEE, 2019. 7.2.1
- [67] Qingchao Chen, Yang Liu, Bo Tan, Karl Woodbridge, and Kevin Chetty. Respiration and activity detection based on passive radio sensing in home environments. *IEEE Access*, 8: 12426–12437, 2020. 7.2.1
- [68] Xiang 'Anthony' Chen, Julia Schwarz, Chris Harrison, Jennifer Mankoff, and Scott Hudson. Around-body interaction: Sensing & interaction techniques for proprioceptionenhanced input with mobile devices. In *Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices & Services*, MobileHCI '14, page 287–290, New York, NY, USA, 2014. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781450330046. doi: 10.1145/2628363.2628402. URL https://doi.org/ 10.1145/2628363.2628402. 2.2.2
- [69] Kevin Chetty, Graeme E Smith, and Karl Woodbridge. Through-the-wall sensing of personnel using passive bistatic wifi radar at standoff distances. *IEEE Transactions on Geo*science and Remote Sensing, 50(4):1218–1226, 2011. 7.2.1
- [70] Vasileios Choutas, Philippe Weinzaepfel, Jérôme Revaud, and Cordelia Schmid. Potion: Pose motion representation for action recognition. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference* on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, pages 7024–7033, 2018. 2.1.1
- [71] Se-Joon Chung, Junggon Kim, Shangchen Han, and Nancy S Pollard. Quadratic encoding for hand pose reconstruction from multi-touch input. In *Eurographics (Short Papers)*, pages 13–16, 2015. 5.3.1, 5.3.2
- [72] CNBC. Google data leaks, 2020. URL https://www.cnbc.com/2019/07/11/ google-admits-leaked-private-voice-conversations.html. 7.1
- [73] UltraLeap Developer. Leap motion orion 4.1.0 sdk, 2020. URL https:// developer.leapmotion.com/releases. 5.3.3
- [74] Digikey. Digikey doppler sensor ti, 2020. URL https://www.digikey. com/product-detail/en/texas-instruments/AWR1642ABIGABLRQ1/ 296-49116-2-ND/9169365. 7.1, 7.4.8

- [75] MWM Gamini Dissanayake, Paul Newman, Steve Clark, Hugh F Durrant-Whyte, and Michael Csorba. A solution to the simultaneous localization and map building (slam) problem. *IEEE Transactions on robotics and automation*, 17(3):229–241, 2001. 5.5.1, 5.5.2
- [76] Jeffrey Donahue, Lisa Anne Hendricks, Sergio Guadarrama, Marcus Rohrbach, Subhashini Venugopalan, Kate Saenko, and Trevor Darrell. Long-term recurrent convolutional networks for visual recognition and description. In *Proceedings of the IEEE conference* on computer vision and pattern recognition, pages 2625–2634, 2015. 2.1.1, 2.1.4
- [77] Wenbin Du, Yali Wang, and Yu Qiao. Rpan: An end-to-end recurrent pose-attention network for action recognition in videos. In *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Computer Vision*, pages 3725–3734, 2017. 2.1.1
- [78] Yong Du, Wei Wang, and Liang Wang. Hierarchical recurrent neural network for skeleton based action recognition. In *Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition*, pages 1110–1118, 2015. 2.1.1
- [79] Muybridge Eadweard. The horse in motion, 1878. 2.2
- [80] Fifth Edition et al. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. *Am Psychiatric Assoc*, 21(21):591–643, 2013. 3.1.1
- [81] Barıs Erol and Sevgi Zubeyde Gurbuz. A kinect-based human micro-doppler simulator. *IEEE Aerospace and Electronic Systems Magazine*, 30(5):6–17, 2015. 7.2.2, 7.3
- [82] Barış Erol, Cesur Karabacak, Sevgi Zübeyde Gürbüz, and Ali Cafer Gürbüz. Simulation of human micro-doppler signatures with kinect sensor. In 2014 IEEE Radar Conference, pages 0863–0868. IEEE, 2014. 7.2.2
- [83] Baris Erol, Sevgi Z Gurbuz, and Moeness G Amin. Gan-based synthetic radar microdoppler augmentations for improved human activity recognition. In 2019 IEEE Radar Conference (RadarConf), pages 1–5. IEEE, 2019. 7.1, 7.2.2, 7.3, 7.6.3
- [84] Tenglong Fan, Chao Ma, Zhitao Gu, Qinyi Lv, Jialong Chen, Dexin Ye, Jiangtao Huangfu, Yongzhi Sun, Changzhi Li, and Lixin Ran. Wireless hand gesture recognition based on continuous-wave doppler radar sensors. *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, 64(11):4012–4020, 2016. 7.2.1
- [85] Basura Fernando, Efstratios Gavves, Jose M Oramas, Amir Ghodrati, and Tinne Tuytelaars. Modeling video evolution for action recognition. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition*, pages 5378–5387, 2015. 7.1
- [86] Jon E. Froehlich, Eric Larson, Tim Campbell, Conor Haggerty, James Fogarty, and Shwetak N. Patel. Hydrosense: Infrastructure-mediated single-point sensing of wholehome water activity. In *Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Ubiquitous Computing*, UbiComp '09, page 235–244, New York, NY, USA, 2009. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781605584317. doi: 10.1145/1620545.1620581. URL

https://doi.org/10.1145/1620545.1620581.2.1

- [87] Biying Fu, Florian Kirchbuchner, Arjan Kuijper, Andreas Braun, and Dinesh Vaithyalingam Gangatharan. Fitness activity recognition on smartphones using doppler measurements. In *Informatics*, volume 5, page 24. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, 2018. 7.1, 7.2.1
- [88] Ennio Gambi, Gianluca Ciattaglia, Adelmo De Santis, and Linda Senigagliesi. Millimeter wave radar data of people walking. *Data in brief*, 31:105996, 2020. 7.2.2, 7.3
- [89] Liuhao Ge, Zhou Ren, Yuncheng Li, Zehao Xue, Yingying Wang, Jianfei Cai, and Junsong Yuan. 3d hand shape and pose estimation from a single rgb image. In *Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition*, pages 10833–10842, 2019. 5.3.2
- [90] Hannah Gilbert, Ling Qin, Dandan Li, Xuehua Zhang, and Stuart J. Johnstone. Aiding the diagnosis of AD/HD in childhood: Using actigraphy and a continuous performance test to objectively quantify symptoms. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 59:35–42, December 2016. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2016.07.013. 3.1.1
- [91] Oliver Glauser, Shihao Wu, Daniele Panozzo, Otmar Hilliges, and Olga Sorkine-Hornung. Interactive hand pose estimation using a stretch-sensing soft glove. ACM Transactions on Graphics (TOG), 38(4):1–15, 2019. 2.2.2
- [92] Mayank Goel, Chen Zhao, Ruth Vinisha, and Shwetak N Patel. Tongue-in-cheek: Using wireless signals to enable non-intrusive and flexible facial gestures detection. In Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 255–258, 2015. 7.2.1
- [93] Abhay Gupta, Kuldeep Gupta, Kshama Gupta, and Kapil Gupta. A survey on human activity recognition and classification. In 2020 International Conference on Communication and Signal Processing (ICCSP), pages 0915–0919, 2020. doi: 10.1109/ICCSP48568. 2020.9182416. 2.1, 2.1.3
- [94] Sidhant Gupta, Matthew S. Reynolds, and Shwetak N. Patel. Electrisense: Single-point sensing using emi for electrical event detection and classification in the home. In *Proceedings of the 12th ACM International Conference on Ubiquitous Computing*, UbiComp '10, page 139–148, New York, NY, USA, 2010. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781605588438. doi: 10.1145/1864349.1864375. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/1864349.1864375. 2.1
- [95] Sidhant Gupta, Daniel Morris, Shwetak Patel, and Desney Tan. Soundwave: using the doppler effect to sense gestures. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1911–1914, 2012. 7.2.1
- [96] Marc Habermann, Weipeng Xu, Michael Zollhofer, Gerard Pons-Moll, and Christian Theobalt. Deepcap: Monocular human performance capture using weak supervision. In

*Proceedings of the IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition*, pages 5052–5063, 2020. 7.4.1

- [97] Richard I Hartley and Peter Sturm. Triangulation. *Computer vision and image understanding*, 68(2):146–157, 1997. 5.5.4
- [98] Eugene Hecht. Optics, 5e. Pearson Education India, 2002. 7.2.1
- [99] Ken Hinckley, Seongkook Heo, Michel Pahud, Christian Holz, Hrvoje Benko, Abigail Sellen, Richard Banks, Kenton O'Hara, Gavin Smyth, and William Buxton. Pre-touch sensing for mobile interaction. In *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 2869–2881, 2016. 5.3.1, 5.3.2, 5.3.8
- [100] HoloKit. Holokit, 2019. URL https://holokit.io. 5.5.3
- [101] Yonghong Hou, Zhaoyang Li, Pichao Wang, and Wanqing Li. Skeleton optical spectrabased action recognition using convolutional neural networks. *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems for Video Technology*, 28(3):807–811, 2016. 2.1.1
- [102] Qiong Huang, Ashok Veeraraghavan, and Ashutosh Sabharwal. Tabletgaze: dataset and analysis for unconstrained appearance-based gaze estimation in mobile tablets. *Mach. Vis. Appl.*, 28(5-6):445–461, 2017. doi: 10.1007/s00138-017-0852-4. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s00138-017-0852-4. 5.1, 5.2.2, 5.2.4, 5.2.4
- [103] Yinghao Huang, Manuel Kaufmann, Emre Aksan, Michael J Black, Otmar Hilliges, and Gerard Pons-Moll. Deep inertial poser: learning to reconstruct human pose from sparse inertial measurements in real time. ACM Transactions on Graphics (TOG), 37(6):1–15, 2018. (document), 2.2.2, 7.2.2, 8.1, 8.1, 8.3.1, 8.3.2, 8.4.1, 8.4.2, 8.4.2, 8.4.3, 8.2, 8.5.3
- [104] Ke Huo, Tianyi Wang, Luis Paredes, Ana M Villanueva, Yuanzhi Cao, and Karthik Ramani. Synchronizar: Instant synchronization for spontaneous and spatial collaborations in augmented reality. In *Proceedings of the 31st Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, pages 19–30, 2018. 5.5.2
- [105] Noureldien Hussein, Efstratios Gavves, and Arnold WM Smeulders. Timeception for complex action recognition. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision* and Pattern Recognition, pages 254–263, 2019. 2.1.1
- [106] Sinh Huynh, Rajesh Krishna Balan, and JeongGil Ko. imon: Appearance-based gaze tracking system on mobile devices. *Proceedings of the ACM on Interactive, Mobile, Wear-able and Ubiquitous Technologies*, 5(4):1–26, 2021. 5.1
- [107] Texas Instruments. Texas instruments mmwave, 2020. URL https://www.ti.com/ product/AWR1642. 7.4.8, 7.6.1
- [108] Texas Instruments. Texas instruments person tracking, 2020. URL https://www.ti. com/tool/TIDEP-01000. 7.7
- [109] Intel Corporation. Realsense, 2020. URL https://www.intelrealsense.com/.

2.2.1

- [110] Stephen S. Intille, Ling Bao, Emmanuel Munguia Tapia, and John Rondoni. Acquiring in situ training data for context-aware ubiquitous computing applications. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '04, page 1–8, New York, NY, USA, 2004. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 1581137028. doi: 10.1145/985692.985693. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/985692.985693. 5.4.3
- [111] Yasha Iravantchi, Yang Zhang, Evi Bernitsas, Mayank Goel, and Chris Harrison. Interferi: Gesture sensing using on-body acoustic interferometry. In *Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1–13, 2019. 2.2.2
- [112] Yasha Iravantchi, Karan Ahuja, Mayank Goel, Chris Harrison, and Alanson Sample. PrivacyMic: Utilizing Inaudible Frequencies for Privacy Preserving Daily Activity Recognition. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2021. ISBN 9781450380966. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/3411764.3445169. 2.1
- [113] Phillip Isola, Jun-Yan Zhu, Tinghui Zhou, and Alexei A Efros. Image-to-image translation with conditional adversarial networks. In *Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition*, pages 1125–1134, 2017. 7.7
- [114] Ahmad Jalal, Md Zia Uddin, and T-S Kim. Depth video-based human activity recognition system using translation and scaling invariant features for life logging at smart home. *IEEE Transactions on Consumer Electronics*, 58(3):863–871, 2012. 8.1
- [115] Hueihan Jhuang, Juergen Gall, Silvia Zuffi, Cordelia Schmid, and Michael J Black. Towards understanding action recognition. In *Proceedings of the IEEE international conference on computer vision*, pages 3192–3199, 2013. 2.1.1
- [116] Jiaxi Jiang, Paul Streli, Huajian Qiu, Andreas Fender, Larissa Laich, Patrick Snape, and Christian Holz. Avatarposer: Articulated full-body pose tracking from sparse motion sensing. arXiv preprint arXiv:2207.13784, 2022. 8.3.4
- [117] Yifeng Jiang, Yuting Ye, Deepak Gopinath, Jungdam Won, Alexander W. Winkler, and C. Karen Liu. Transformer inertial poser: Attention-based real-time human motion reconstruction from sparse imus, 2022. URL https://arxiv.org/abs/2203.15720. 8.3.2, 8.4.1, 8.4.3
- [118] Haojian Jin, Jingxian Wang, Zhijian Yang, Swarun Kumar, and Jason Hong. Rf-wear: Towards wearable everyday skeleton tracking using passive rfids. In *Proceedings of the 2018* ACM International Joint Conference and 2018 International Symposium on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing and Wearable Computers, pages 369–372, 2018. 2.2.2
- [119] JSArUco. Jsaruco, 2018. URL https://github.com/jcmellado/js-aruco. 5.5.3
- [120] Andrej Karpathy and Li Fei-Fei. Deep visual-semantic alignments for generating image

descriptions. In *Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition*, pages 3128–3137, 2015. 2.1.4

- [121] Moritz Kassner, William Patera, and Andreas Bulling. Pupil: an open source platform for pervasive eye tracking and mobile gaze-based interaction. In *The 2014 ACM Conference on Ubiquitous Computing, UbiComp '14 Adjunct, Seattle, WA, USA September 13 17, 2014*, pages 1151–1160, New York, 2014. ACM. doi: 10.1145/2638728.2641695. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/2638728.2641695. 5.2.1
- [122] Leonid Keselman, John Iselin Woodfill, Anders Grunnet-Jepsen, and Achintya Bhowmik. Intel(r) realsense(tm) stereoscopic depth cameras. In 2017 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition Workshops, CVPR Workshops 2017, Honolulu, HI, USA, July 21-26, 2017, pages 1267–1276, New York, 2017. IEEE Computer Society. doi: 10. 1109/CVPRW.2017.167. URL https://doi.org/10.1109/CVPRW.2017.167. 5.2.1
- [123] Rushil Khurana, Karan Ahuja, Zac Yu, Jennifer Mankoff, Chris Harrison, and Mayank Goel. Gymcam: Detecting, recognizing and tracking simultaneous exercises in unconstrained scenes. *Proceedings of the ACM on Interactive, Mobile, Wearable and Ubiquitous Technologies*, 2(4):1–17, 2018. 7.1, 8.1
- [124] Daehwa Kim, Keunwoo Park, and Geehyuk Lee. Oddeyecam: A sensing technique for body-centric peephole interaction using wfov rgb and nfov depth cameras. In *Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, UIST '20, page 85–97, New York, NY, USA, 2020. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781450375146. doi: 10.1145/3379337.3415889. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/3379337.3415889. 2.2.2
- [125] David Kim, Otmar Hilliges, Shahram Izadi, Alex D Butler, Jiawen Chen, Iason Oikonomidis, and Patrick Olivier. Digits: freehand 3d interactions anywhere using a wrist-worn gloveless sensor. In *Proceedings of the 25th annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology*, pages 167–176, 2012. 2.2.2
- [126] Youngwook Kim and Hao Ling. Human activity classification based on micro-doppler signatures using a support vector machine. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 47(5):1328–1337, 2009. 7.1, 7.6.3
- [127] Diederik P Kingma and Jimmy Ba. Adam: A method for stochastic optimization. *arXiv* preprint arXiv:1412.6980, 2014. 5.3.4, 7.4.6, 7.4.8
- [128] Muhammed Kocabas, Nikos Athanasiou, and Michael J Black. Vibe: Video inference for human body pose and shape estimation. In *Proceedings of the IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition*, pages 5253–5263, 2020. 7.4.1, 7.4.3
- [129] Jan J Koenderink and Andrea J Van Doorn. Affine structure from motion. JOSA A, 8(2): 377–385, 1991. 5.5.2

- [130] Andy Kong, Karan Ahuja, Mayank Goel, and Chris Harrison. Eyemu interactions: Gaze+imu gestures on mobile devices. In *ICMI '21: nternational Conference on Multi-modal Interaction, Canada, October 18-22, 2021*, pages 1–10, New York, 2021. ACM. doi: 10.1145/3462244.3479938. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/3462244. 3479938. 5.1
- [131] Ilya Kostrikov and Juergen Gall. Depth sweep regression forests for estimating 3d human pose from images. In *BMVC*, volume 1, page 5, 2014. 5.5.4
- [132] Kyle Krafka, Aditya Khosla, Petr Kellnhofer, Harini Kannan, Suchendra M. Bhandarkar, Wojciech Matusik, and Antonio Torralba. Eye tracking for everyone. In 2016 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, CVPR 2016, Las Vegas, NV, USA, June 27-30, 2016, pages 2176–2184, New York, 2016. IEEE Computer Society. doi: 10.1109/CVPR.2016.239. URL https://doi.org/10.1109/CVPR.2016.239. 5.1, 5.2.2, 5.2.2, 5.2.3, 5.2.4, 5.2.5
- [133] Hildegard Kuehne, Hueihan Jhuang, Estíbaliz Garrote, Tomaso Poggio, and Thomas Serre. Hmdb: a large video database for human motion recognition. In 2011 International Conference on Computer Vision, pages 2556–2563. IEEE, 2011. 7.2.2
- [134] Jennifer R. Kwapisz, Gary M. Weiss, and Samuel A. Moore. Activity recognition using cell phone accelerometers. *SIGKDD Explor. Newsl.*, 12(2):74–82, March 2011. ISSN 1931-0145. doi: 10.1145/1964897.1964918. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/1964897.1964918. 2.1, 2.1.3
- [135] Hyeokhyen Kwon, Catherine Tong, Harish Haresamudram, Yan Gao, Gregory D Abowd, Nicholas D Lane, and Thomas Ploetz. Imutube: Automatic extraction of virtual on-body accelerometry from video for human activity recognition. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2006.05675*, 2020. 2.1.3, 7.2.2, 7.5
- [136] Nicholas D Lane, Petko Georgiev, and Lorena Qendro. Deepear: robust smartphone audio sensing in unconstrained acoustic environments using deep learning. In *Proceedings of the* 2015 ACM international joint conference on pervasive and ubiquitous computing, pages 283–294, 2015. 2.1.2
- [137] Ivan Laptev and Tony Lindeberg. Velocity adaptation of space-time interest points. In Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Pattern Recognition, 2004. ICPR 2004., volume 1, pages 52–56. IEEE, 2004. 7.2.2
- [138] Gierad Laput and Chris Harrison. Sensing Fine-Grained Hand Activity with Smartwatches, page 1–13. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2019. ISBN 9781450359702. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/3290605.3300568. 2.1, 2.1.3
- [139] Gierad Laput, Robert Xiao, and Chris Harrison. Viband: High-fidelity bio-acoustic sensing using commodity smartwatch accelerometers. In *Proceedings of the 29th Annual*

*Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, UIST '16, page 321–333, New York, NY, USA, 2016. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781450341899. doi: 10.1145/2984511.2984582. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/2984511. 2984582. 2.1, 2.1.3

- [140] Gierad Laput, Yang Zhang, and Chris Harrison. Synthetic Sensors: Towards General-Purpose Sensing, page 3986–3999. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2017. ISBN 9781450346559. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/3025453.3025773.2.1,2.1.4
- [141] Gierad Laput, Karan Ahuja, Mayank Goel, and Chris Harrison. Ubicoustics: Plug-and-play acoustic activity recognition. In *Proceedings of the 31st Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, UIST '18, page 213–224, New York, NY, USA, 2018. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781450359481. doi: 10.1145/3242587.3242609. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/3242587.3242609. 2.1, 2.1.2, 7.1
- [142] Eric C. Larson, TienJui Lee, Sean Liu, Margaret Rosenfeld, and Shwetak N. Patel. Accurate and privacy preserving cough sensing using a low-cost microphone. In *Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Ubiquitous Computing*, UbiComp '11, page 375–384, New York, NY, USA, 2011. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781450306300. doi: 10.1145/2030112.2030163. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/2030112.2030163. 2.1
- [143] Huy Viet Le, Sven Mayer, and Niels Henze. Infinitouch: Finger-aware interaction on fully touch sensitive smartphones. In *Proceedings of the 31st Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, pages 779–792, 2018. 5.3.7
- [144] Huy Viet Le, Sven Mayer, and Niels Henze. Investigating the feasibility of finger identification on capacitive touchscreens using deep learning. In *Proceedings of the 24th International Conference on Intelligent User Interfaces*, pages 637–649, 2019. 5.3.1
- [145] Jiayi Li, Aman Shrestha, Julien Le Kernec, and Francesco Fioranelli. From kinect skeleton data to hand gesture recognition with radar. *The Journal of Engineering*, 2019(20):6914– 6919, 2019. 7.2.2, 7.3
- [146] Rui Li, Zhenyu Liu, and Jianrong Tan. A survey on 3d hand pose estimation: Cameras, methods, and datasets. *Pattern Recognition*, 93:251–272, 2019. 5.3.2
- [147] Wenda Li, Bo Tan, and Robert J Piechocki. Non-contact breathing detection using passive radar. In 2016 IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC), pages 1–6. IEEE, 2016. 7.2.1
- [148] Wenda Li, Bo Tan, Yangdi Xu, and Robert J Piechocki. Log-likelihood clustering-enabled passive rf sensing for residential activity recognition. *IEEE Sensors Journal*, 18(13):5413– 5421, 2018. 7.2.1

- [149] Zhenyang Li, Kirill Gavrilyuk, Efstratios Gavves, Mihir Jain, and Cees GM Snoek. Videolstm convolves, attends and flows for action recognition. *Computer Vision and Image Understanding*, 166:41–50, 2018. 2.1.1
- [150] Dongze Lian, Ziheng Zhang, Weixin Luo, Lina Hu, Minye Wu, Zechao Li, Jingyi Yu, and Shenghua Gao. RGBD based gaze estimation via multi-task CNN. In *The Thirty-Third AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence, AAAI 2019, Hawaii, USA, January 27 February 1, 2019*, pages 2488–2495. AAAI Press, 2019. doi: 10.1609/aaai.v33i01. 33012488. URL https://doi.org/10.1609/aaai.v33i01.33012488. 5.2.1
- [151] Dawei Liang and Edison Thomaz. Audio-based activities of daily living (adl) recognition with large-scale acoustic embeddings from online videos. *Proceedings of the ACM on Interactive, Mobile, Wearable and Ubiquitous Technologies*, 3(1):1–18, 2019. 7.1
- [152] Dawei Liang and Edison Thomaz. Audio-based activities of daily living (adl) recognition with large-scale acoustic embeddings from online videos. *Proc. ACM Interact. Mob. Wearable Ubiquitous Technol.*, 3(1), March 2019. doi: 10.1145/3314404. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/3314404. 2.1.2
- [153] Jaime Lien, Nicholas Gillian, M Emre Karagozler, Patrick Amihood, Carsten Schwesig, Erik Olson, Hakim Raja, and Ivan Poupyrev. Soli: Ubiquitous gesture sensing with millimeter wave radar. ACM Transactions on Graphics (TOG), 35(4):1–19, 2016. 7.1
- [154] Lung-Chang Lin, Chen-Sen Ouyang, Ching-Tai Chiang, Rong-Ching Wu, and Rei-Cheng Yang. Quantitative analysis of movements in children with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder using a smart watch at school. *Applied Sciences*, 10(12):4116, June 2020. doi: 10.3390/app10124116. 3.1.1
- [155] Yier Lin and Julien Le Kernec. Performance analysis of classification algorithms for activity recognition using micro-doppler feature. In 2017 13th International Conference on Computational Intelligence and Security (CIS), pages 480–483. IEEE, 2017. 7.2.2, 7.3
- [156] Yutian Lin, Liang Zheng, Zhedong Zheng, Yu Wu, Zhilan Hu, Chenggang Yan, and Yi Yang. Improving person re-identification by attribute and identity learning. *Pattern Recognition*, 95:151–161, 2019. 5.5.8
- [157] Jun Liu, Amir Shahroudy, Dong Xu, and Gang Wang. Spatio-temporal lstm with trust gates for 3d human action recognition. In *European conference on computer vision*, pages 816–833. Springer, 2016. 2.1.1
- [158] Matthew Loper, Naureen Mahmood, Javier Romero, Gerard Pons-Moll, and Michael J Black. SMPL: a skinned multi-person linear model. ACM transactions on graphics, 34(6):1–16, October 2015. ISSN 0730-0301. doi: 10.1145/2816795.2818013. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/2816795.2818013. 8.3.1, 8.3.2
- [159] Matthew Loper, Naureen Mahmood, Javier Romero, Gerard Pons-Moll, and Michael J. Black. SMPL: A skinned multi-person linear model. *ACM Trans. Graphics (Proc. SIG-*

GRAPH Asia), 34(6):248:1–248:16, October 2015. 7.4.3

- [160] Hong Lu, Wei Pan, Nicholas D. Lane, Tanzeem Choudhury, and Andrew T. Campbell. Soundsense: Scalable sound sensing for people-centric applications on mobile phones. In *Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Mobile Systems, Applications, and Services*, MobiSys '09, page 165–178, New York, NY, USA, 2009. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781605585666. doi: 10.1145/1555816.1555834. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/1555816.1555834. 2.1.2
- [161] Naureen Mahmood, Nima Ghorbani, Nikolaus F Troje, Gerard Pons-Moll, and Michael J Black. Amass: Archive of motion capture as surface shapes. In *Proceedings of the IEEE/CVF International Conference on Computer Vision*, pages 5442–5451, 2019. 8.3.2, 8.4.2
- [162] Junhua Mao, Wei Xu, Yi Yang, Jiang Wang, and Alan L Yuille. Explain images with multimodal recurrent neural networks. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1410.1090*, 2014. 2.1.4
- [163] Julieta Martinez, Rayat Hossain, Javier Romero, and James J Little. A simple yet effective baseline for 3d human pose estimation. In *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Computer Vision*, pages 2640–2649, 2017. 5.3.2
- [164] Sven Mayer, Huy Viet Le, and Niels Henze. Estimating the finger orientation on capacitive touchscreens using convolutional neural networks. In *Proceedings of the 2017 ACM International Conference on Interactive Surfaces and Spaces*, pages 220–229, 2017. 5.3.1, 5.3.2
- [165] Dushyant Mehta, Oleksandr Sotnychenko, Franziska Mueller, Weipeng Xu, Mohamed Elgharib, Pascal Fua, Hans-Peter Seidel, Helge Rhodin, Gerard Pons-Moll, and Christian Theobalt. Xnect: Real-time multi-person 3d motion capture with a single rgb camera. *ACM Transactions on Graphics (TOG)*, 39(4):82–1, 2020. 7.4.1
- [166] Meta Motion. Gypsy motion capture system, 2018. URL http://metamotion. com/gypsy/gypsy-motion-capture-system.htm. 2.2.2
- [167] Damien Michel, Ammar Qammaz, and Antonis A Argyros. Markerless 3d human pose estimation and tracking based on rgbd cameras: an experimental evaluation. In Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments, pages 115–122, 2017. 2.2.1
- [168] Microsoft Corporation. Microsoft kinect, 2010. URL https://en.wikipedia. org/wiki/Kinect. 5.2.1
- [169] Microsoft Corporation. Microsoft kinect games, 2010. URL https://en. wikipedia.org/wiki/Category:Kinect\_games. 8.1
- [170] Vimal Mollyn, Karan Ahuja, Dhruv Verma, Chris Harrison, and Mayank Goel. Samosa: Sensing activities with motion and subsampled audio. *Proceedings of the ACM on Interactive, Mobile, Wearable and Ubiquitous Technologies*, 6(3):1–19, 2022. 2.1.3

- [171] Vimal Mollyn, Riku Arakawa, Mayank Goel, Chris Harrison, and Karan Ahuja. Imuposer:
  Full-body pose estimation using imus in phones, watches, and earbuds. In *Proceedings of the 2023 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1–12, 2023.
   8.1
- [172] Kenneth Alberto Funes Mora, Florent Monay, and Jean-Marc Odobez. EYEDIAP: a database for the development and evaluation of gaze estimation algorithms from RGB and RGB-D cameras. In *Eye Tracking Research and Applications, ETRA '14, Safety Harbor, FL, USA, March 26-28, 2014*, pages 255–258, New York, 2014. ACM. doi: 10.1145/2578153.2578190. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/2578153.2578190. 5.2.1
- [173] Dan Morris, T Scott Saponas, Andrew Guillory, and Ilya Kelner. Recofit: using a wearable sensor to find, recognize, and count repetitive exercises. In *Proceedings of the 32nd annual ACM conference on Human factors in computing systems*, pages 3225–3234. ACM, 2014. 4.3.1, 4.3.2, 4.3.3
- [174] Hossein Mousavi Hondori and Maryam Khademi. A review on technical and clinical impact of microsoft kinect on physical therapy and rehabilitation. *Journal of medical engineering*, 2014, 2014. 8.1
- [175] Franziska Mueller, Florian Bernard, Oleksandr Sotnychenko, Dushyant Mehta, Srinath Sridhar, Dan Casas, and Christian Theobalt. Ganerated hands for real-time 3d hand tracking from monocular rgb. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition*, pages 49–59, 2018. 5.3.2
- [176] Rafael Munoz-Salinas. Aruco: a minimal library for augmented reality applications based on opency. *Universidad de Córdoba*, 2012. 5.5.3
- [177] Vinod Nair and Geoffrey E Hinton. Rectified linear units improve restricted boltzmann machines. In *Icml*, 2010. 8.3.1
- [178] Suranga Nanayakkara, Roy Shilkrot, Kian Peen Yeo, and Pattie Maes. Eyering: a fingerworn input device for seamless interactions with our surroundings. In *Proceedings of the* 4th Augmented Human International Conference, pages 13–20, 2013. 2.2.2
- [179] NaturalPoint Inc. Optitrack, 2020. URL http://optitrack.com. 2.2.1
- [180] Bingbing Ni, Pierre Moulin, Xiaokang Yang, and Shuicheng Yan. Motion part regularization: Improving action recognition via trajectory selection. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition*, pages 3698–3706, 2015. 7.1
- [181] David Nistér, Oleg Naroditsky, and James Bergen. Visual odometry. In Proceedings of the 2004 IEEE Computer Society Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, 2004. CVPR 2004., volume 1, pages I–I. Ieee, 2004. 5.5.2
- [182] Northern Digital Inc. trakstar, 2020. URL https://www.ndigital.com/msci/ products/drivebay-trakstar/. 2.2.1

- [183] TechCrunch Oculus. Techcrunch oculus, 2020. URL https://techcrunch.com/ 2016/10/06/facebook-social-vr/. 5.5.1
- [184] Ferda Ofli, Rizwan Chaudhry, Gregorij Kurillo, René Vidal, and Ruzena Bajcsy. Berkeley mhad: A comprehensive multimodal human action database. In 2013 IEEE Workshop on Applications of Computer Vision (WACV), pages 53–60. IEEE, 2013. 7.2.2
- [185] Iason Oikonomidis, Nikolaos Kyriazis, and Antonis A Argyros. Efficient model-based 3d tracking of hand articulations using kinect. In *BmVC*, volume 1, page 3, 2011. 5.3.2
- [186] Niamh O'Mahony, Blanca Florentino-Liano, Juan J. Carballo, Enrique Baca-García, and Antonio Artés Rodríguez. Objective diagnosis of ADHD using IMUs. *Medical Engineering & Physics*, 36(7):922–926, July 2014. doi: 10.1016/j.medengphy.2014.02.023.
   3.1.1
- [187] OpenNI. Openni, 2020. URL https://structure.io/openni. 2.2.1
- [188] George Papandreou, Tyler Zhu, Liang-Chieh Chen, Spyros Gidaris, Jonathan Tompson, and Kevin Murphy. Personlab: Person pose estimation and instance segmentation with a bottom-up, part-based, geometric embedding model. In *Proceedings of the European Conference on Computer Vision*, ECCV '18, pages 269–286, 2018. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-01264-9\_17. 2.2.1, 5.4.5, 5.5.3, 5.5.4, 5.5.8
- [189] Mathias Parger, Joerg H. Mueller, Dieter Schmalstieg, and Markus Steinberger. Human upper-body inverse kinematics for increased embodiment in consumer-grade virtual reality. VRST '18, New York, NY, USA, 2018. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781450360869. doi: 10.1145/3281505.3281529. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/3281505.3281529. 2.2.1
- [190] Joseph Phelps, Glen Nowak, and Elizabeth Ferrell. Privacy concerns and consumer willingness to provide personal information. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, 19(1): 27–41, 2000. 7.1
- [191] Thammathip Piumsomboon, Gun A. Lee, Jonathon D. Hart, Barrett Ens, Robert W. Lindeman, Bruce H. Thomas, and Mark Billinghurst. Mini-me: An adaptive avatar for mixed reality remote collaboration. In *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '18, page 1–13, New York, NY, USA, 2018. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781450356206. doi: 10.1145/3173574.3173620. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/3173574.3173620. 5.4.4
- [192] Benjamin Planche, Ziyan Wu, Kai Ma, Shanhui Sun, Stefan Kluckner, Oliver Lehmann, Terrence Chen, Andreas Hutter, Sergey Zakharov, Harald Kosch, et al. Depthsynth: Realtime realistic synthetic data generation from cad models for 2.5 d recognition. In 2017 International Conference on 3D Vision (3DV), pages 1–10. IEEE, 2017. 7.2.2
- [193] Polhemus. Polhemus, 2020. URL https://polhemus.com/case-study/ detail/polhemus-motion-capture-system-is-used-to-measure-real-time-r

2.2.1

- [194] Qifan Pu, Sidhant Gupta, Shyamnath Gollakota, and Shwetak Patel. Whole-home gesture recognition using wireless signals. In *Proceedings of the 19th annual international conference on Mobile computing & networking*, pages 27–38, 2013. 7.2.1
- [195] Valentin Radu, Catherine Tong, Sourav Bhattacharya, Nicholas D. Lane, Cecilia Mascolo, Mahesh K. Marina, and Fahim Kawsar. Multimodal deep learning for activity and context recognition. *Proc. ACM Interact. Mob. Wearable Ubiquitous Technol.*, 1(4), January 2018. doi: 10.1145/3161174. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/3161174. 2.1, 2.1.4
- [196] Bhiksha Raj, Kaustubh Kalgaonkar, Chris Harrison, and Paul Dietz. Ultrasonic doppler sensing in hci. *IEEE Pervasive Computing*, 11(2):24–29, 2012. 7.1, 7.2.1
- [197] Helge Rhodin, Christian Richardt, Dan Casas, Eldar Insafutdinov, Mohammad Shafiei, Hans-Peter Seidel, Bernt Schiele, and Christian Theobalt. Egocap: Egocentric markerless motion capture with two fisheye cameras. *ACM Trans. Graph.*, 35(6), November 2016. ISSN 0730-0301. doi: 10.1145/2980179.2980235. URL https://doi.org/ 10.1145/2980179.2980235. 2.2.2
- [198] Rift. Oculus rift, 2006. URL https://www.oculus.com/rift/. 2.2.1
- [199] Simon Rogers, John Williamson, Craig Stewart, and Roderick Murray-Smith. Anglepose: robust, precise capacitive touch tracking via 3d orientation estimation. In *Proceedings* of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 2575–2584, 2011. 5.3.2
- [200] Grégory Rogez, Maryam Khademi, JS Supančič III, Jose Maria Martinez Montiel, and Deva Ramanan. 3d hand pose detection in egocentric rgb-d images. In *European Conference on Computer Vision*, pages 356–371. Springer, 2014. doi: 10.1007/ 978-3-319-16178-5\_25. 2.1.4
- [201] Damien Constantine Rompapas, Christian Sandor, Alexander Plopski, Daniel Saakes, Joongi Shin, Takafumi Taketomi, and Hirokazu Kato. Towards large scale high fidelity collaborative augmented reality. *Computers & Graphics*, 84:24–41, 2019. 5.5.2
- [202] Olaf Ronneberger, Philipp Fischer, and Thomas Brox. U-net: Convolutional networks for biomedical image segmentation. In *International Conference on Medical image computing and computer-assisted intervention*, pages 234–241. Springer, 2015. 7.4.6
- [203] Root Motion. Root motion, 2020. URL http://root-motion.com/. 5.4.2
- [204] Root Motion. Final ik vrik solver locomotion, 2020. URL http://www.root-motion.com/finalikdox/html/page16.html. 2.2.1
- [205] Sebastian Ruder. An overview of multi-task learning in deep neural networks. *arXiv* preprint arXiv:1706.05098, 2017. 5.3.4
- [206] Silonie Sachdeva et al. Fitzpatrick skin typing: Applications in dermatology. Indian

Journal of Dermatology, Venereology, and Leprology, 75(1):93, 2009. 5.5.5, 5.5.6

- [207] Dieter Schmalstieg, Anton Fuhrmann, Gerd Hesina, Zsolt Szalavári, L Miguel Encarnaçao, Michael Gervautz, and Werner Purgathofer. The studierstube augmented reality project. *Presence: Teleoperators & Virtual Environments*, 11(1):33–54, 2002. 5.5.1
- [208] Julia Schwarz, Robert Xiao, Jennifer Mankoff, Scott E Hudson, and Chris Harrison. Probabilistic palm rejection using spatiotemporal touch features and iterative classification. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 2009–2012, 2014. 5.3.1
- [209] Amir Shahroudy, Jun Liu, Tian-Tsong Ng, and Gang Wang. Ntu rgb+ d: A large scale dataset for 3d human activity analysis. In *Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition*, pages 1010–1019, 2016. 2.1.1, 7.2.2, 7.2, 7.3, 7.5
- [210] Shikhar Sharma, Ryan Kiros, and Ruslan Salakhutdinov. Action recognition using visual attention. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1511.04119*, 2015. 2.1.1
- [211] Xingjian Shi, Zhourong Chen, Hao Wang, Dit-Yan Yeung, Wai-Kin Wong, and Wangchun Woo. Convolutional lstm network: A machine learning approach for precipitation nowcasting. Advances in neural information processing systems, 28:802–810, 2015. 7.7
- [212] Takaaki Shiratori, Hyun Soo Park, Leonid Sigal, Yaser Sheikh, and Jessica K. Hodgins. Motion capture from body-mounted cameras. In ACM SIGGRAPH 2011 Papers, SIG-GRAPH '11. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2011. ISBN 9781450309431. doi: 10.1145/1964921.1964926. URL https://doi.org/10. 1145/1964921.1964926. 2.2.2
- [213] Muhammad Shoaib, Stephan Bosch, Hans Scholten, Paul J. M. Havinga, and Ozlem Durmaz Incel. Towards detection of bad habits by fusing smartphone and smartwatch sensors. In 2015 IEEE International Conference on Pervasive Computing and Communication Workshops (PerCom Workshops), pages 591–596, 2015. doi: 10.1109/PERCOMW. 2015.7134104. 2.1.3
- [214] Craig Shultz, Daehwa Kim, Karan Ahuja, and Chris Harrison. Tribotouch: Micropatterned surfaces for low latency touchscreens. In *Proceedings of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1–13, 2022. 2.2.1
- [215] Karen Simonyan and Andrew Zisserman. Very deep convolutional networks for largescale image recognition. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1409.1556*, 2014. 7.4.8
- [216] Akash Deep Singh, Sandeep Singh Sandha, Luis Garcia, and Mani Srivastava. Radhar: Human activity recognition from point clouds generated through a millimeter-wave radar. In Proceedings of the 3rd ACM Workshop on Millimeter-wave Networks and Sensing Systems, pages 51–56, 2019. 7.1, 7.2.1, 7.2.2, 7.3
- [217] Jan Smisek, Michal Jancosek, and Tomas Pajdla. 3d with kinect. In *Consumer depth cameras for computer vision*, pages 3–25. Springer, 2013. 5.5.1

- [218] Brian A. Smith, Qi Yin, Steven K. Feiner, and Shree K. Nayar. Gaze locking: passive eye contact detection for human-object interaction. In *The 26th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, UIST'13, St. Andrews, United Kingdom, October 8-11, 2013*, pages 271–280, New York, 2013. ACM. doi: 10.1145/2501988.2501994. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/2501988.2501994. 5.2.1
- [219] Snap Inc. Snapchat lenses, 2020. URL https://lensstudio.snapchat.com/ lenses/. 5.4.4, 5.4.5
- [220] Peige Song, Mingming Zha, Qingwen Yang, Yan Zhang, Xue Li, and Igor Rudan. The prevalence of adult attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: A global systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of global health*, 11, 2021. 3.1.1
- [221] Sijie Song, Cuiling Lan, Junliang Xing, Wenjun Zeng, and Jiaying Liu. An end-to-end spatio-temporal attention model for human action recognition from skeleton data. arXiv preprint arXiv:1611.06067, 2016. 2.1.1
- [222] SONY LLC. Playstationvr, 2020. URL https://www.playstation.com/ en-us/ps-vr/. 2.2.1
- [223] Khurram Soomro, Amir Roshan Zamir, and Mubarak Shah. Ucf101: A dataset of 101 human actions classes from videos in the wild. arXiv preprint arXiv:1212.0402, 2012. 7.2.2, 7.2, 7.3, 7.5
- [224] Wesllen Sousa Lima, Eduardo Souto, Khalil El-Khatib, Roozbeh Jalali, and Joao Gama. Human activity recognition using inertial sensors in a smartphone: An overview. Sensors, 19(14):3213, 2019. 2.1.3
- [225] Adrian Spurr, Jie Song, Seonwook Park, and Otmar Hilliges. Cross-modal deep variational hand pose estimation. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision* and Pattern Recognition, pages 89–98, 2018. 5.3.2
- [226] Thad Starner, Jake Auxier, Daniel Ashbrook, and Maribeth Gandy. The gesture pendant: A self-illuminating, wearable, infrared computer vision system for home automation control and medical monitoring. In *Digest of Papers. Fourth International Symposium on Wearable Computers*, pages 87–94. IEEE, 2000. 2.2.2
- [227] Johannes A. Stork, Luciano Spinello, Jens Silva, and Kai O. Arras. Audio-based human activity recognition using non-markovian ensemble voting. In 2012 IEEE RO-MAN: The 21st IEEE International Symposium on Robot and Human Interactive Communication, pages 509–514, 2012. doi: 10.1109/ROMAN.2012.6343802. 2.1.2
- [228] T Subetha and S Chitrakala. A survey on human activity recognition from videos. In 2016 international conference on information communication and embedded systems (ICICES), pages 1–7. IEEE, 2016. 2.1
- [229] Yusuke Sugano, Yasuyuki Matsushita, and Yoichi Sato. Learning-by-synthesis for appearance-based 3d gaze estimation. In 2014 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and

Pattern Recognition, CVPR 2014, Columbus, OH, USA, June 23-28, 2014, pages 1821–1828, New York, 2014. IEEE Computer Society. doi: 10.1109/CVPR.2014.235. URL https://doi.org/10.1109/CVPR.2014.235. 5.2.1

- [230] Ivan E. Sutherland. A head-mounted three dimensional display. In *Proceedings of the December 9-11, 1968, Fall Joint Computer Conference, Part I*, AFIPS '68 (Fall, part I), page 757–764, New York, NY, USA, 1968. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781450378994. doi: 10.1145/1476589.1476686. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/1476589.1476686. 2.2.1
- [231] Bo Tan, Karl Woodbridge, and Kevin Chetty. Awireless passive radar system for realtime through-wall movement detection. *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, 52(5):2596–2603, 2016. 7.2.1
- [232] Danhang Tang, Jonathan Taylor, Pushmeet Kohli, Cem Keskin, Tae-Kyun Kim, and Jamie Shotton. Opening the black box: Hierarchical sampling optimization for estimating human hand pose. In *Proceedings of the IEEE international conference on computer vision*, pages 3325–3333, 2015. 5.3.2
- [233] Emmanuel Munguia Tapia, Stephen S Intille, and Kent Larson. Activity recognition in the home using simple and ubiquitous sensors. In *International conference on pervasive computing*, pages 158–175. Springer, 2004. 7.1
- [234] Emmanuel Munguia Tapia, Stephen S Intille, and Kent Larson. Portable wireless sensors for object usage sensing in the home: Challenges and practicalities. In *European Conference on Ambient Intelligence*, pages 19–37. Springer, 2007. 7.1
- [235] Jochen Tautges, Arno Zinke, Björn Krüger, Jan Baumann, Andreas Weber, Thomas Helten, Meinard Müller, Hans-Peter Seidel, and Bernd Eberhardt. Motion reconstruction using sparse accelerometer data. ACM Trans. Graph., 30(3), May 2011. ISSN 0730-0301. doi: 10.1145/1966394.1966397. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/1966394. 1966397. 8.1
- [236] Justus Thies, Michael Zollhöfer, Marc Stamminger, Christian Theobalt, and Matthias Nießner. Facevr: Real-time gaze-aware facial reenactment in virtual reality. ACM Transactions on Graphics (TOG), 37(2):1–15, 2018. 2.2.2
- [237] Edison Thomaz, Cheng Zhang, Irfan Essa, and Gregory D. Abowd. Inferring meal eating activities in real world settings from ambient sounds: A feasibility study. In *Proceedings* of ACM Conference on Intelligence User Interfaces (IUI), May 2015. 2.1.2
- [238] Tobii Pro AB. Tobii pro lab. Computer software, 2014. URL http://www.tobiipro.com/. 5.2.1
- [239] Denis Tome, Patrick Peluse, Lourdes Agapito, and Hernan Badino. xr-egopose: Egocentric 3d human pose from an hmd camera. In *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Computer Vision*, ICCV '19, pages 7728–7738. IEEE, 2019. doi:

10.1109/ICCV.2019.00782. 2.2.2

- [240] Unity Technologies. Unity, 2020. URL https://unity.com/. 5.4.2
- [241] Gül Varol, Ivan Laptev, and Cordelia Schmid. Long-term temporal convolutions for action recognition. *IEEE transactions on pattern analysis and machine intelligence*, 40(6):1510– 1517, 2017. 7.1
- [242] Gul Varol, Javier Romero, Xavier Martin, Naureen Mahmood, Michael J Black, Ivan Laptev, and Cordelia Schmid. Learning from synthetic humans. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition*, pages 109–117, 2017. 7.2.2
- [243] Manuela M. Veloso and Subbarao Kambhampati, editors. Proceedings, The Twentieth National Conference on Artificial Intelligence and the Seventeenth Innovative Applications of Artificial Intelligence Conference, July 9-13, 2005, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA, 2005. AAAI Press / The MIT Press. ISBN 1-57735-236-X. 2.1, 2.1.3
- [244] Vicon. Vicon, 2020. URL https://vicon.com/. 2.2.1, 5.4.3, 8.4.2
- [245] Nicolas Villar, Daniel Cletheroe, Greg Saul, Christian Holz, Tim Regan, Oscar Salandin, Misha Sra, Hui-Shyong Yeo, William Field, and Haiyan Zhang. Project zanzibar: A portable and flexible tangible interaction platform. In *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1–13, 2018. 5.3.2
- [246] VIVE. Vive, discover virtual reality beyond imagination, 2016. URL https://www. vive.com/us/. 2.2.1, 5.4.1
- [247] Daniel Vlasic, Rolf Adelsberger, Giovanni Vannucci, John Barnwell, Markus Gross, Wojciech Matusik, and Jovan Popović. Practical motion capture in everyday surroundings. *ACM Trans. Graph.*, 26(3):35–es, July 2007. ISSN 0730-0301. doi: 10.1145/1276377. 1276421. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/1276377.1276421. 2.2.2
- [248] Christian Vogler and Dimitris Metaxas. Asl recognition based on a coupling between hmms and 3d motion analysis. 01 1998. doi: 10.1109/ICCV.1998.710744. 2.1
- [249] Timo Von Marcard, Bodo Rosenhahn, Michael J Black, and Gerard Pons-Moll. Sparse inertial poser: Automatic 3d human pose estimation from sparse imus. In *Computer Graphics Forum*, volume 36, pages 349–360. Wiley Online Library, 2017. 8.1
- [250] Chunyu Wang, Yizhou Wang, and Alan L Yuille. An approach to pose-based action recognition. In *Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition*, pages 915–922, 2013. 2.1.1
- [251] Heng Wang, Alexander Kläser, Cordelia Schmid, and Cheng-Lin Liu. Dense trajectories and motion boundary descriptors for action recognition. *International journal of computer vision*, 103(1):60–79, 2013. 4.3.3
- [252] Limin Wang, Yu Qiao, and Xiaoou Tang. Action recognition with trajectory-pooled deep-

convolutional descriptors. In *Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition*, pages 4305–4314, 2015. 7.1

- [253] Limin Wang, Yuanjun Xiong, Zhe Wang, Yu Qiao, Dahua Lin, Xiaoou Tang, and Luc Van Gool. Temporal segment networks: Towards good practices for deep action recognition. In *European conference on computer vision*, pages 20–36. Springer, 2016. 7.1
- [254] Saiwen Wang, Jie Song, Jaime Lien, Ivan Poupyrev, and Otmar Hilliges. Interacting with soli: Exploring fine-grained dynamic gesture recognition in the radio-frequency spectrum. In Proceedings of the 29th Annual Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, pages 851–860, 2016. 7.2.1
- [255] Xiaolong Wang and Abhinav Gupta. Videos as space-time region graphs. In *Proceedings* of the European conference on computer vision (ECCV), pages 399–417, 2018. 2.1.1
- [256] Erik G Willcutt. The prevalence of dsm-iv attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a metaanalytic review. *Neurotherapeutics*, 9(3):490–499, 2012. 3.1.1
- [257] Karl DD Willis, Ivan Poupyrev, Scott E Hudson, and Moshe Mahler. Sidebyside: ad-hoc multi-user interaction with handheld projectors. In *Proceedings of the 24th annual ACM* symposium on User interface software and technology, pages 431–440, 2011. 5.5.2
- [258] Mark L Wolraich, E Warren Lambert, Leonard Bickman, Tonya Simmons, Melissa A Doffing, and Kim A Worley. Assessing the impact of parent and teacher agreement on diagnosing attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 25(1):41–47, 2004. 3.1.1
- [259] Erroll Wood and Andreas Bulling. Eyetab: model-based gaze estimation on unmodified tablet computers. In Eye Tracking Research and Applications, ETRA '14, Safety Harbor, FL, USA, March 26-28, 2014, pages 207–210, New York, 2014. ACM. doi: 10.1145/2578153.2578185. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/2578153.2578185. 5.1, 5.2.4
- [260] Erwin Wu, Ye Yuan, Hui-Shyong Yeo, Aaron Quigley, Hideki Koike, and Kris M Kitani. Back-hand-pose: 3d hand pose estimation for a wrist-worn camera via dorsum deformation network. In *Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, pages 1147–1160, 2020. 2.2.2
- [261] Jason Wu, Chris Harrison, Jeffrey P Bigham, and Gierad Laput. Automated class discovery and one-shot interactions for acoustic activity recognition. In *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1–14, 2020. 2.1.2
- [262] Robert Xiao, Julia Schwarz, and Chris Harrison. Estimating 3d finger angle on commodity touchscreens. In *Proceedings of the 2015 International Conference on Interactive Tabletops & Surfaces*, pages 47–50, 2015. 5.3.1, 5.3.2
- [263] Bruce Xiaohan Nie, Caiming Xiong, and Song-Chun Zhu. Joint action recognition and pose estimation from video. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision*

and Pattern Recognition, pages 1293–1301, 2015. 2.1.1

- [264] Xsens. Motion capture, 2020. URL https://www.xsens.com/ motion-capture. 2.2.2, 8.1, 8.4.1
- [265] Chi Xu, Lakshmi Narasimhan Govindarajan, Yu Zhang, and Li Cheng. Lie-x: Depth image based articulated object pose estimation, tracking, and action recognition on lie groups. *International Journal of Computer Vision*, 123(3):454–478, 2017. 5.3.2
- [266] Lan Xu, Weipeng Xu, Vladislav Golyanik, Marc Habermann, Lu Fang, and Christian Theobalt. Eventcap: Monocular 3d capture of high-speed human motions using an event camera. In *Proceedings of the IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition*, pages 4968–4978, 2020. 7.4.1
- [267] Pingmei Xu, Krista A. Ehinger, Yinda Zhang, Adam Finkelstein, Sanjeev R. Kulkarni, and Jianxiong Xiao. Turkergaze: Crowdsourcing saliency with webcam based eye tracking. *CoRR*, abs/1504.06755, 2015. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/1504.06755.5.2.2, 5.2.5
- [268] Weipeng Xu, Avishek Chatterjee, Michael Zollhoefer, Helge Rhodin, Pascal Fua, Hans-Peter Seidel, and Christian Theobalt. Mo2cap2: Real-time mobile 3d motion capture with a cap-mounted fisheye camera. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 25(5):2093–2101, 2019. doi: 10.1109/TVCG.2019.2898650. 2.2.2
- [269] Xing-Dong Yang, Tovi Grossman, Daniel Wigdor, and George Fitzmaurice. Magic finger: always-available input through finger instrumentation. In *Proceedings of the 25th annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology*, pages 147–156, 2012. 2.2.2
- [270] Koji Yatani and Khai N. Truong. Bodyscope: A wearable acoustic sensor for activity recognition. In *Proceedings of the 2012 ACM Conference on Ubiquitous Computing*, UbiComp '12, page 341–350, New York, NY, USA, 2012. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781450312240. doi: 10.1145/2370216.2370269. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/2370216.2370269. 2.1.2
- [271] Xinyu Yi, Yuxiao Zhou, and Feng Xu. Transpose: real-time 3d human translation and pose estimation with six inertial sensors. ACM Transactions on Graphics (TOG), 40(4): 1–13, 2021. 8.1, 8.3.1, 8.3.2, 8.4.1, 8.4.2, 8.4.3, 4, 8.5.3, 8.9
- [272] Xinyu Yi, Yuxiao Zhou, Marc Habermann, Soshi Shimada, Vladislav Golyanik, Christian Theobalt, and Feng Xu. Physical inertial poser (pip): Physics-aware real-time human motion tracking from sparse inertial sensors. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2203.08528*, 2022. 8.1, 8.3.2, 8.4.1, 8.4.3, 8.9
- [273] Yuya Yoshikawa, Jiaqing Lin, and Akikazu Takeuchi. Stair actions: A video dataset of everyday home actions. arXiv preprint arXiv:1804.04326, 2018. URL http://arxiv. org/abs/1804.04326. 7.2.2
- [274] Joe Yue-Hei Ng, Matthew Hausknecht, Sudheendra Vijayanarasimhan, Oriol Vinyals, Ra-

jat Monga, and George Toderici. Beyond short snippets: Deep networks for video classification. In *Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition*, pages 4694–4702, 2015. 2.1.1

- [275] Wojciech Zaremba, Ilya Sutskever, and Oriol Vinyals. Recurrent neural network regularization. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1409.2329*, 2014. 7.7
- [276] Hansong Zhang and Kenneth E Hoff III. Fast backface culling using normal masks. In *Proceedings of the 1997 symposium on Interactive 3D graphics*, pages 103–ff, 1997. 7.4.4
- [277] Xucong Zhang, Yusuke Sugano, Mario Fritz, and Andreas Bulling. Appearance-based gaze estimation in the wild. In *IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, CVPR 2015, Boston, MA, USA, June 7-12, 2015*, pages 4511–4520, New York, 2015. IEEE Computer Society. doi: 10.1109/CVPR.2015.7299081. URL https://doi.org/10.1109/CVPR.2015.7299081. 5.1
- [278] Xucong Zhang, Yusuke Sugano, Mario Fritz, and Andreas Bulling. It's written all over your face: Full-face appearance-based gaze estimation. In 2017 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition Workshops, CVPR Workshops 2017, Honolulu, HI, USA, July 21-26, 2017, pages 2299–2308, New York, 2017. IEEE Computer Society. doi: 10.1109/CVPRW.2017.284. URL https://doi.org/10.1109/CVPRW. 2017.284. 5.2.3
- [279] Yang Zhang and Chris Harrison. Tomo: Wearable, low-cost electrical impedance tomography for hand gesture recognition. In *Proceedings of the 28th Annual ACM Symposium* on User Interface Software & Technology, pages 167–173, 2015. 2.2.2
- [280] Yang Zhang, Chouchang Yang, Scott E Hudson, Chris Harrison, and Alanson Sample. Wall++ room-scale interactive and context-aware sensing. In *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1–15, 2018. 2.2.1
- [281] Yang Zhang, Michel Pahud, Christian Holz, Haijun Xia, Gierad Laput, Michael McGuffin, Xiao Tu, Andrew Mittereder, Fei Su, William Buxton, et al. Sensing posture-aware pen+ touch interaction on tablets. In *Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1–14, 2019. 5.3.2
- [282] Zhilu Zhang and Mert Sabuncu. Generalized cross entropy loss for training deep neural networks with noisy labels. In Advances in neural information processing systems, pages 8778–8788, 2018. 7.4.8
- [283] Mingmin Zhao, Tianhong Li, Mohammad Abu Alsheikh, Yonglong Tian, Hang Zhao, Antonio Torralba, and Dina Katabi. Through-wall human pose estimation using radio signals. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition*, CVPR '18, pages 7356–7365. IEEE, 2018. doi: 10.1109/CVPR.2018.00768. 2.2.1
- [284] Yang Zhao, Zicheng Liu, Lu Yang, and Hong Cheng. Combing rgb and depth map features for human activity recognition. In *Proceedings of The 2012 Asia Pacific Signal and*

Information Processing Association Annual Summit and Conference, pages 1–4. IEEE, 2012. 7.1

- [285] Liang Zheng, Yujia Huang, Huchuan Lu, and Yi Yang. Pose-invariant embedding for deep person re-identification. *IEEE Transactions on Image Processing*, 28(9):4500–4509, 2019. 5.5.8
- [286] Xiaolong Zhou, Haibin Cai, Youfu Li, and Honghai Liu. Two-eye model-based gaze estimation from a kinect sensor. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation, ICRA 2017, Singapore, Singapore, May 29 - June 3, 2017, pages 1646–1653, New York, 2017. IEEE. doi: 10.1109/ICRA.2017.7989194. URL https://doi.org/ 10.1109/ICRA.2017.7989194. 5.2.1
- [287] Yi Zhou, Connelly Barnes, Jingwan Lu, Jimei Yang, and Hao Li. On the continuity of rotation representations in neural networks, 2018. URL https://arxiv.org/abs/ 1812.07035. 8.3.1
- [288] Yipin Zhou, Zhaowen Wang, Chen Fang, Trung Bui, and Tamara L Berg. Visual to sound: Generating natural sound for videos in the wild. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference* on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, pages 3550–3558, 2018. 7.2.2
- [289] Yuxiao Zhou, Marc Habermann, Weipeng Xu, Ikhsanul Habibie, Christian Theobalt, and Feng Xu. Monocular real-time hand shape and motion capture using multi-modal data. In Proceedings of the IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, pages 5346–5355, 2020. 5.3.2
- [290] Wangjiang Zhu, Jie Hu, Gang Sun, Xudong Cao, and Yu Qiao. A key volume mining deep framework for action recognition. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition*, pages 1991–1999, 2016. 7.1
- [291] Christian Zimmermann, Tim Welschehold, Christian Dornhege, Wolfram Burgard, and Thomas Brox. 3d human pose estimation in rgbd images for robotic task learning. In 2018 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pages 1986– 1992. IEEE, 2018. 2.2.1
- [292] Mohammadreza Zolfaghari, Gabriel L Oliveira, Nima Sedaghat, and Thomas Brox. Chained multi-stream networks exploiting pose, motion, and appearance for action classification and detection. In *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Computer Vision*, pages 2904–2913, 2017. 2.1.1